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Foreword

Years from now, when historians write the history of the Roberts Court, perhaps
they will be able to explain why, in the second half of the first dozen years of the 21st
Century, the Supreme Court suddenly became so interested in taking up cases under the
federal securities laws. But whatever the reason, in recent years the Court has agreed to
consider a cluster of securities cases, and the Court’s decisions have had and will have a
far-reaching impact on securities litigation—particularly securities class action litigation.

Among all of the litigation risks a company faces, the risk of a securities class
action lawsuit may be among the most serious. These cases are complex, time-consuming
and expensive to defend. As if that were not enough, the applicable law is constantly
evolving, especially now with the Supreme Court’s new-found interest in securities cases.
These factors also make litigation arising under the securities laws, particularly under
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, so interesting—which of course is
cold consolation for the companies involved, but it does mean that securities cases reliably
provide particularly rich blog fodder.

Because the securities litigation landscape is so complex and rapidly changing, it is
critically important—for in-house counsel, prognosticators, and historians alike—to have a
reliable reference source. In their readable, interesting, and concise book, The 10b-5
Guide, Messrs. Carangelo, Ferrillo, Schwartz and Altemeier of Weil, Gotshal & Manges
have again done a terrific job erecting useful structure around this complex topic, and
identifying and explicating the most recent developments in this area of the law. Their
book provides just the comprehensive guide that the topic requires. We can all be grateful
for their work.

\ 0\ J -- / ". X i
\ \}( \ &_,K.-U \ﬁ_ 1‘\ - Hgbu#

Kevin M. LaCroix
Author, The D&O Diary






Introduction:

Perhaps there is something in the water on First Street. A review of the trends in
private Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 cases reveals that during the last two years, the
United States Supreme Court has issued more precedential opinions than were decided in
the previous eighteen.? The question remains whether Supreme Court jurisprudence over
the last two years will significantly alter the 10b-5 landscape at the district and circuit court
levels.

In Merck & Co. v. Reynolds, 130 S. Ct. 1784, 1790 (2010), plaintiff investors
brought a 10b-5 action against Merck & Co., alleging that it had “knowingly
misrepresented the risks of heart attacks accompanying the use of Merck’s pain-killing
drug, Vioxx (leading to economic losses when the risks later became apparent).” The
applicable statute of limitations, 28 U.S.C. § 1658(b), states that a cause of action may be
brought no later than the earlier of two years after discovery of the facts constituting the
violation or five years after the violation itself. Merck argued that the plaintiffs knew or
should have known of facts constituting the violation more than two years prior to filing
their complaint.®> The district court agreed and dismissed the complaint, and the Third
Circuit reversed.*

Merck argued before the Supreme Court that the statute of limitations began to run
when the plaintiffs were on “inquiry notice,” which it defined as the point when a plaintiff
possesses information “sufficiently suggestive of wrongdoing that he should conduct a
further inquiry.”™ Merck contended that a number of public disclosures concerning the

! The authors would like to thank Michael Horowitz, Amanda Burns, Daniel Martin, Alana Montas, Joanne
Pedone, Heather Shea, CIliff Silverman, and Amy Suehnholz, associates in the Securities Litigation practice
group of Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP, as well as summer associates Lenny Sandler and Caroline Toole for
their invaluable assistance in the preparation of The 10b-5 Guide. We also appreciate the diligent paralegal
assistance of Gina Casoria, Daniel Decker, Shelley Fortune, Jeff Hausman, Crystal McCray, Angela Oliva,
Toby Saviano, and Sandra Wong.

2 Compare Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 131 S. Ct. 2541 (2011) (although Wal-Mart does not specifically
mention Section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5, it is relevant to the class certification stage of securities litigation);
Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. First Deriv. Traders, 131 S. Ct. 2296 (2011); Erica P. John Fund, Inc. v.
Halliburton Co., 131 S. Ct. 2179 (2011); Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 131 S. Ct. 1309 (2011);
Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltd., 130 S. Ct. 2869 (2010); and Merck & Co. v. Reynolds, 130 S. Ct. 1784
(2010); with Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148 (2008); Tellabs, Inc. v.
Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308 (2007); Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc. v. Dabit, 547
U.S. 71 (2006); Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336 (2005); and Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First
Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164 (1994).

% Merck, 130 S. Ct. at 1792.
*1d. at 1792-93.

> Id. at 1797 (internal quotation marks omitted).



risks associated with Vioxx put the plaintiffs on inquiry notice more than two years before
they filed suit, making their claim untimely.

In a unanimous opinion, the Supreme Court rejected Merck’s proposed inquiry
notice standard, holding that the limitations period for a 10b-5 claim “begins to run once
the plaintiff did discover or a reasonably diligent plaintiff would have ‘discover[ed] the
facts constituting the violation’—whichever comes first.”” Among the facts a reasonably
diligent plaintiff must discover to trigger the statute of limitations, the Court continued, are
facts showing scienter—"an important and necessary element” of the claim.?

Applying these standards, the Court reasoned that an FDA warning letter and
products-liability complaints filed against Merck did not contain enough specific
information concerning the defendants’ states of mind to trigger the limitations period.’
Because no facts in evidence suggested scienter on the part of Merck more than two years
prior to the filing of the complaint, the Court affirmed the Third Circuit’s judgment and
held the complaint timely.*

In Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltd., 130 S. Ct. 2869 (2010), the plaintiffs sought
to represent a class of foreign stock purchasers against National Australia Bank Limited
(“National”), HomeSide Lending, Inc. (“HomeSide), and HomeSide executives for
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. In February
1998, National, an Australian bank with ordinary shares listed on a foreign securities
exchange, purchased HomeSide, a Florida-based mortgage services company.*! Plaintiffs
alleged that HomeSide manipulated financial models in its public disclosures by
underestimating refinancing rates, which inflated the value of their mortgage business.*?
The district court granted the defendants” motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction because the alleged fraudulent scheme occurred abroad.** The Second Circuit
affirmed.*

®1d.

" 1d. at 1798 (emphasis added).
®1d.

°1d. at 1798-99.

101d. at 1799.

I Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2875.
12 |d. at 2876.

13 Id,

4 1d. at 2876.
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To determine whether Section 10(b) should apply extraterritorially, the Supreme
Court began with the presumption against extraterritorial effect requiring Congress to give
clear indication of extraterritorial application.”> After acknowledging that the Second
Circuit had given extraterritorial effect to Section 10(b) for nearly fifty years through
“judge-made rules,” Justice Antonin Scalia proclaimed them judicial fantasy.'® Using
textual analysis, Justice Scalia determined that there was no affirmative indication of
extraterritorial application in Section 10(b)."’

The Court then proceeded to create its own “*transactional test,”” which applies
Section 10(b) to “the purchase or sale of a security listed on an American stock exchange”
or the “purchase or sale of any other security in the United States.”*® Unfortunately, this
test has raised more questions than answers. While interpretation of the first prong of the
transactional test—"a security listed on an American stock exchange”—is clear, lower
courts continue to struggle with application of the second prong.*®

In Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 131 S. Ct. 1309 (2011), the Supreme
Court, in the tradition of Basic and Tellabs, refused to adopt a bright-line rule as to
materiality and scienter. The plaintiffs alleged that Matrixx and three executive officers
failed to disclose reports that one of its core products, Zicam, a nasal spray which
accounted for 70 percent of Matrixx’s sales, was linked to anosmia (loss of smell) in
users.?’ The district court granted Matrixx’s motion to dismiss, holding that the plaintiffs
had not alleged any reports showing a “statistically significant correlation between the use
of Zicam and anosmia . . . .”?* The Ninth Circuit reversed, finding that an allegation of
“statistical significance” was not required to establish materiality.

In a unanimous decision, the Supreme Court affirmed the Ninth Circuit. Relying
on Basic, Justice Sonia Sotomayor rejected a bright-line rule to determine materiality,
noting that any approach that ““designates a single fact or occurrence as always
determinative of an inherently fact-specific finding such as materiality, must necessarily be

15 1d. at 2877-78.
16 1d. at 2881.
17 1d. at 2881-83.
18 1d. at 2888.

19 See, e.g., Absolute Activist VValue Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60 (2d Cir. 2012).

2 Matrixx, 131 S. Ct. at 1314.
2! |d. at 1317 (citation omitted).

2,

vii



overinclusive or underinclusive.””?®* The Court stated that there were several facts alleged
in the complaint (including product-related complaints and the institution of four products
liability lawsuits) that raised ““a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal
evidence’ satisfying the materiality requirement.”** The Court also concluded that the
plaintiffs did not need to allege knowledge of a statistically significant relationship
between Zicam and anosmia to successfully plead scienter because the complaint
contained numerous other allegations from which recklessness could be inferred.?

The questions remain whether Matrixx’s review of materiality and scienter will
significantly alter how pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies report information to
investors and the public at large, and whether this decision will spill over into business
sectors beyond the drug and health industry.

In Erica P. John Fund, Inc. v. Halliburton Co., 131 S. Ct. 2179 (2011), the Erica P.
John Fund (“EPJ Fund”) alleged that Halliburton Co. made various misrepresentations
designed to inflate its stock price in violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. The
alleged false statements concerned the scope of potential liability in asbestos litigation,
expected revenue from construction contracts, and the benefits of a merger.”® The district
court denied class certification, stating that the EPJ Fund failed to prove loss causation.?’
The Fifth Circuit affirmed, following the precedent set in Oscar Private Equity Invs. v.
Allegiance Telecom, Inc., 487 F.3d 261, 269 (5th Cir. 2007) (requiring proof of loss
causation at the class certification stage).

The Supreme Court reversed the Fifth Circuit’s decision, holding that the plaintiffs
did not have to prove loss causation at the class certification stage to invoke the classwide
presumption of reliance promulgated in Basic.”® In a unanimous decision for the Court,
Chief Justice Roberts held that the elements of reliance and loss causation are wholly
independent elements of a Section 10(b) claim.* Relying on Basic, Chief Justice Roberts
noted that the fraud-on-the-market theory underpinning the presumption of reliance
focuses on material misrepresentations that permeate an efficient market and thereby affect
all purchasers and sellers.®® “Loss causation, by contrast, requires a plaintiff to show that a

% |d. at 1318 (citation omitted).
24 |d. at 1322 (citation omitted).
% 1d. at 1324.

% Halliburton, 131 S. Ct. at 2183.
27 1d. at 2183-84.

% 1d. at 2183.

2 1d. at 2185-86.

04,
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misrepresentation that affected the integrity of the market price also caused a subsequent
economic loss.”™! Thus, the Court reasoned, to invoke the Basic presumption a plaintiff
need only demonstrate that “the alleged misrepresentations were publicly known . . . that
the stock traded in an efficient market,” and that the transaction took place “*between the
time the misrepresentations were made and the time the truth was revealed.”””*

Though Halliburton has removed loss causation as a viable merits inquiry at class
certification, expect the fraud-on-the-market presumption to remain a fervent battleground
until the Supreme Court readdresses the issue in Amgen later this year.®

In Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. First Deriv. Traders, 131 S. Ct. 2296 (2011), lead
plaintiff First Derivative Traders, representing a class of purchasers of Janus Capital
Group, Inc. (*JCG”) stock, asserted claims against JCG and Janus Capital Management
LLC (“JCM”), an investment adviser and wholly owned subsidiary of JCG, for violations
of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.3* JCG ran a family of mutual funds organized as a
Massachusetts business trust, the Janus Investment Fund (“JIF”).%* Although JIF was
started by JCG, JIF is a separate legal entity and retained JCM as its investment adviser.*
Through its business, JIF issued prospectuses stating that Janus funds were not suitable for
market timing.>” First Derivative alleged that JCM and JCG mislead the investing public
concerning implementation of measures to curb market timing in response to a September
2003 complaint filed by New York’s Attorney General.*®

Despite allegations that JCM was “significantly involved in preparing the
prospectuses [of JIF],” and that all of the officers of JIF were also officers of JCM, the
Supreme Court ultimately determined that JCM could not be liable because “[a]lthough
JCM, like a speechwriter, may have assisted [JIF] with crafting what [JIF] said in the
prospectuses, JCM itself did not ‘make’ those statements for purposes of Rule 10b-5.”%°
The Court ultimately held that “[f]or purposes of Rule 10b-5, the maker of a statement is

% 1d. at 2186.
%2 |d. at 2185 (citation omitted).

% See Conn. Ret. Plans & Trust Funds v. Amgen Inc., 660 F.3d 1170 (9th Cir. 2011), cert. granted, 132 S. Ct.
2742 (U.S. 2012), discussed further below.

% Janus, 131 S. Ct. at 2299.
35 Id,

36 Id,

%7 1d. at 2300.

38 Id,

% 1d. at 2305.



the person or entity with ultimate authority over the statement, including its content and
whether and how to communicate it. Without control, a person or entity can merely
suggest what to say, not ‘make’ a statement in its own right.”*® Because JIF and JCM are
separate legal entities and there was nothing on the face of the prospectuses to indicate
attribution to JCM, the Court reversed the Fourth Circuit.** The judicial distinction
between one who “assists” in preparation of public statements and one who “controls” the
ultimate outcome of a public statement could have profound implications for secondary
and related actors in 10b-5 actions, as will be discussed herein.

Although Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 131 S. Ct. 2541 (2011), does not
mention Rule 10b-5, it has the potential to impact future 10b-5 cases. In Wal-Mart, three
named plaintiffs representing 1.5 million class members, each a current or former female
employee of the company, asserted sexual discrimination in violation of Title VII of the
1964 Civil Rights Act.** Specifically, the plaintiffs alleged that local managers’ discretion
over pay and promotions was exercised disproportionately in favor of men, leading to an
unlawful disparate impact on female employees.** The district court and Ninth Circuit
each approved certification of the class.**

Reversing the Ninth Circuit, Justice Scalia, in a 5-4 decision, determined that the
central issue in the case was Rule 23(a)(2)’s commonality requirement.”® Justice Scalia
determined that plaintiffs could not satisfy Rule 23(a)(2) because they failed to allege any
uniform employment practice and the allegations centered on local managers enacting
local decisions.* The Court emphasized that commonality does not merely require ““the
raising of common “questions”—even in droves—nbut, rather the capacity of a classwide
proceeding to generate common answers apt to drive the resolution of the litigation’” and
the ability to “resolve an issue that is central to the validity of each one of the claims in one
stroke.”’ The Court ruled that the evidence presented could not generate such common
answers because the plaintiffs could not demonstrate a common method of exercising

“01d. at 2302.

“L1d. at 2304-05.

“2\Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2547.
% |d. at 2548.

% 1d. at 2549-50.

% |d. at 2550-51.

% |d. at 2554.

*7 |d. at 2551 (citation omitted).



discretion that permeated the company.*® Following Wal-Mart, circuit and district courts
have struggled with several questions—namely, does this language generally set a stricter
commonality standard under Rule 23(a) and, if so, is that standard applicable to 10b-5
securities class actions?

Though primarily concerned with Rule 23 class certification requirements, Justice
Scalia’s opinion in Wal-Mart also touched upon whether class certification expert
witnesses should be subjected to Daubert scrutiny—a frequently-litigated issue.”® In Wal-
Mart, the district court determined that courts need not “apply the full Daubert ‘gatekeeper
standard” to expert testimony at class certification, holding instead that “a lower Daubert
standard should be employed . .. .”*® The Ninth Circuit, sitting en banc, affirmed this
determination.”® The Supreme Court, however, characterized the district court’s decision
as finding that “Daubert did not apply to expert testimony at the certification stage . . . .”
After stating that “[w]e doubt that is so,” the Supreme Court went on to explain that
“even if properly considered, [the expert] testimony does nothing to advance [the
plaintiffs’] case” because it failed to address the dispositive question at issue.”® Thus,
while the Court’s expressed “doubt” is dicta, it nonetheless signals a preference for full
Daubert scrutiny at the class certification stage.>

Looking ahead, in the fall of 2012, in addition to Comcast, the Supreme Court will
hear arguments in Amgen, addressing a circuit split regarding whether plaintiffs must
prove materiality to invoke the fraud-on-the-market theory’s classwide presumption of
reliance at the class certification stage.>

8 1d. at 2554-55.

*° See generally Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

% Dukes v. Wal-Mart, Inc., 222 F.R.D. 189, 191 (N.D. Cal. 2004) (citations omitted).

*! Dukes v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 603 F.3d 571, 602-03 (9th Cir. 2010) (en banc).
°2 Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2553-54.

%3 1d. at 2554.

> Indeed, the admissibility of expert evidence at the class certification phase will be addressed by the
Supreme Court this fall. The Court recently granted certiorari in Comcast Corp. v. Behrend to answer the
question of “[w]hether a district court may certify a class action without resolving whether the plaintiff class
has introduced admissible evidence, including expert testimony, to show that the case is susceptible to
awarding damages on a classwide basis.” 2012 WL 113090 (U.S. June 25, 2012) (emphasis added).
Resolution of this question implicates not only the admissibility of expert testimony specifically, but also the
extent to which courts consider merits issues at class certification generally—topics highly relevant to any
securities fraud class action.

*® See Conn. Ret. Plans & Trust Funds v. Amgen Inc., 660 F.3d 1170 (9th Cir. 2011), cert. granted, 132 S. Ct.
2742 (U.S. 2012).
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In Amgen, the plaintiffs brought a putative class action under Rule 10b-5, alleging
that Amgen and several of its directors and officers misstated and failed to disclose safety
information about two of Amgen’s pharmaceutical products.”®

In determining whether the plaintiffs must prove materiality to gain the benefit of
the fraud-on-the-market presumption, the Ninth Circuit identified a circuit split on the
issue originating from divergent interpretations of a footnote in Basic.”” Ultimately, the
Ninth Circuit agreed with the Seventh Circuit®® that Basic only envisioned materiality as an
essential element of the fraud-on-the-market presumption on the merits, and therefore ruled
that plaintiffs “must plausibly allege—but need not prove at this juncture—that the
claimed misrepresentations were material.”® For the same reason, the Ninth Circuit also
did not allow the defendants to rebut the plaintiffs’ materiality showing.®® This approach,
however, differs from the Second and Fifth Circuits, which require plaintiffs to prove
materiality at the class certification stage to utilize the Basic presumption, and which also
allows defendants an opportunity to rebut that showing.”* The Third Circuit takes a
middle-of-the-road approach, which does not require evidence of materiality to invoke the
fraud-on-the-market presumption, but does permit defendants an opportunity to rebut the
presumption once established.®* Given the significance of class certification to 10b-5
cases, the outcome of this case could have enormous ramifications for future securities
class actions.

Securities Litigation Trends

Federal securities class action filings spiked in 2008, rising over 25% from the
previous year to 223 filings.® In 2011, 188 securities class actions were filed, up from 176
in 2010.%* The cases filed in the past two years have moved beyond the financial crisis. In

5% Amgen, 660 F.3d at 1172.

> See Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 248 n.27 (1988).

%8 See Schleicher v. Wendt, 618 F.3d 679 (7th Cir. 2010).

5 Amgen, 660 F.3d at 1172,
5 1d. at 1177.
%1 See In re Salomon Analyst Metromedia Litig., 544 F.3d 474 (2d Cir. 2008); Oscar Private Equity Invs. v.

Allegiance Telecom, Inc., 401 F.3d 316 (5th Cir. 2005), abrogated on other grounds by Erica P. John Fund,
Inc. v. Halliburton Co., 131 S. Ct. 2179 (2011).

62 See In re DVI, Inc. Sec. Litig., 639 F.3d 623 (3d Cir. 2011).

8% See Cornerstone Research, Securities Class Action Filings: 2012 Mid-Year Assessment, at 3 (2012).

4 d.
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particular, four years ago dockets were plagued with 100 subprime filings in the aftermath
of the credit crisis, but only thirteen financial crisis-related cases were filed in 2010, and
just three were filed in 2011.%

On the settlement front, there were only sixty-five court-approved securities class
action settlements in 2011 involving $1.4 billion in total settlement funds—the lowest
number of approved settlements and corresponding total settlement dollars in more than
ten years.®® The number of settlements approved in 2011 decreased by almost 25 percent
compaeged with 2010 and was more than 35 percent below the average for the preceding ten
years.

The Purpose of The 10b-5 Guide

The 10b-5 Guide summarizes noteworthy cases decided in 2010 and 2011
involving private causes of action based on violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.®®
These cases address key issues including pleading standards, the elements of a 10b-5
claim, and class certification. Chapter 1 provides an overview of Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5, as well as summaries of recent opinions relating to their
extraterritorial application under Morrison. Chapter 2 discusses pleading standards and
scienter. Chapter 3 addresses pleading materiality, the PSLRA’s Safe Harbor for forward-
looking statements, and loss causation. Chapter 4 focuses on liability issues, particularly
relating to secondary actors. Chapter 5 sets forth recent case law concerning the PSLRA’s
lead plaintiff provision, as well as developments in class certification jurisprudence.
Finally, Chapter 6 covers additional procedural developments relating to statutes of
limitations, expert testimony and Daubert motions, damages, standing, stays of discovery,
Rule 11 sanctions, and motions to compel disclosure of confidential witnesses.

% See Cornerstone Research, Securities Class Action Filings: 2011 Year in Review, at 1 (2011).

% See Cornerstone Research, Securities Class Action Settlements: 2011 Review and Analysis, at 1 (2011).

7 1d.

% For background and other informational purposes, cases outside the time period of 2010 through 2011 are
occasionally cited.
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Securities

— Litigation

Basics

General Principles of Securities Law

Rule 10b-5, promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(*SEC”) under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, prohibits fraudulent conduct in
connection with the purchase or sale of securities. See 15 U.S.C. § 78j. Rule 10b-5
provides that it is unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly:

1.
2.

to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,

to make any untrue statement of material fact or to omit to state a material
fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or

to engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with the
purchase or sale of any security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

In order to plead a claim for securities fraud under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, a
plaintiff must plead:

a misrepresentation or omission of;

a material fact;

reliance thereon;

causation;

damages; and

fraudulent conduct (scienter);

in connection with the purchase or sale of a security.




Erica P. John Fund, Inc. v. Halliburton Co., 131 S. Ct. 2179, 2184 (2011); Matrixx
Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 131 S. Ct. 1309, 1317 (2011); In re DVI, Inc. Sec. Litig.,
639 F.3d 623, 630 (3d Cir. 2011); FindWhat Investor Grp. v. FindWhat.com, 658 F.3d
1282, 1295 (11th Cir. 2011); Ashland, Inc. v. Oppenheimer & Co., 648 F.3d 461, 468 (6th
Cir. 2011); Katyle v. Penn Nat’l Gaming, Inc., 637 F.3d 462, 480 (4th Cir.) cert. denied,
132 S. Ct. 115 (2011); Desai v. Deutsche Bank Sec. Ltd., 573 F.3d 931, 939 (9th Cir.
2009); Cent. Laborers’ Pension Fund v. Integrated Elec. Servs. Inc., 497 F.3d 546, 550
(5th Cir. 2007); Miss. Pub. Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. Bos. Scientific Corp., 649 F.3d 5, 20 (1st
Cir. 2011); Cardon v. TestOut! Corp., 244 F. App’x 908, 914-15 (10th Cir. 2007).

Extraterritoriality under Morrison

In Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltd., 130 S. Ct. 2869 (2010), the Supreme Court
held that Section 10(b) applies to “the purchase or sale of a security listed on an American
stock exchange” or the “purchase or sale of any other security in the United States.” 1d. at
2888. Under subsequent case law, prong one of the Morrison test is satisfied if the
transaction occurs on a domestic exchange—it is insufficient for the security to merely be
listed on a domestic exchange. See In re Alstom SA Sec. Litig., 741 F. Supp. 2d 469, 473
(S.D.N.Y. 2010) (“That the transactions themselves must occur on a domestic exchange to
trigger the application of § 10(b) reflects the most natural and elementary reading of
Morrison.”) (emphasis added); In re UBS Sec. Litig., 2011 WL 4059356, at *5 (S.D.N.Y.
Sept. 13, 2011) (“[The Supreme] Court makes clear that § 10(b) applies only to ‘purchase-
and-sale transactions’ that are executed “in the United States’ and not to all securities that
happen to be cross-listed on an American exchange.”) (emphasis added).

With regard to prong two, however, the Supreme Court provided “little guidance as
to what constitutes a domestic purchase or sale.” Absolute Activist Value Master Fund
Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2012). To compensate for this lack of guidance,
courts have examined the facts of individual cases to determine where a transaction took
place—the kind of fact-based analysis that the transactional test purported to do away with.
See Cascade Fund, LLP v. Absolute Capital Mgmt. Holdings Ltd., 2011 WL 1211511 (D.
Colo. Mar. 31, 2011) (examining facts of the transaction to determine where the
transaction was completed). Post Morrison, courts in the Second Circuit have decided a
number of prong two cases, yet no cohesive rule has developed. See Absolute Activist,
677 F.3d at 62 (“there has been significant ambiguity as to what constitutes a ‘domestic
transaction in other securities’”).

In an attempt to provide some much needed clarity, the Second Circuit held that to
properly allege a domestic securities transaction under Morrison, plaintiffs must allege
facts suggesting that either (1) “irrevocable liability was incurred” or (2) “that title was
transferred within the United States.” Id. The second part of the Second Circuit test—
transfer of title—was adopted from the Eleventh Circuit’s decision in Quail Cruises Ship
Mgmt. Ltd. v. Agencia de Viagens CVC Tur Limitada, 645 F.3d 1307 (11th Cir. 2011).
Although the courts of appeals have begun to clarify the second prong, various tests are
likely to emerge in light of this uncertainty.

© WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP



The Supreme Court

In Morrison, plaintiffs sought to represent a class of foreign stock purchasers
against National Australia Bank Limited (“National”), HomeSide Lending, Inc.
(“HomeSide), and HomeSide executives for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and
Rule 10b-5. In February 1998, National, an Australian bank with its ordinary shares listed
on a foreign securities exchange, purchased HomeSide, a Florida based mortgage services
company. 130 S. Ct. at 2875. Plaintiffs alleged that HomeSide manipulated financial
models in its public disclosures by underestimating refinancing rates, which over-inflated
the value of its mortgage business. Id. at 2876. The district court granted defendants’
motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, because the alleged fraudulent
scheme occurred abroad. Id. The Second Circuit affirmed. 1d.

Morrison has been described as a “foreign-cubed” or “f-cubed” case, because (1)
foreign plaintiffs were suing (2) a foreign issuer regarding (3) securities purchased on a
foreign exchange.®® To determine whether Section 10(b) should apply extraterritorially,
the Court began with the presumption against extraterritorial effect, stating that the U.S.
Congress had to give clear indication of such intent. Id. at 2877-78. Although the Second
Circuit applied extraterritorial effect to Section 10(b) for nearly 50 years through “judge-
made rules,” Justice Scalia proclaimed them judicial fantasy. Id. at 2881. Using textual
analysis, Justice Scalia determined that there was no affirmative indication of
extraterritorial application in Section 10(b). 1d. at 2881-83.

The Court then proceeded to create its own “‘transactional test’” holding that
Section 10(b) applies to “the purchase or sale of a security listed on an American stock
exchange” or the “purchase or sale of any other security in the United States.” 1d. at 2888.
Yet Morrison’s transactional test has raised more questions than answers. Although
interpretation of the first prong of the transactional test—"a security listed on an American
stock exchange”—is clear, lower courts continue to struggle with the second prong of the
transactional test. Id.

The Second Circuit

In Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60 (2d Cir. 2012),
the plaintiffs, a group of Cayman Island-registered hedge funds (the “Funds”), sued
various corporations and individuals for securities fraud, alleging that the defendants
participated in a pump-and-dump scheme that caused the plaintiffs to purchase billions of
shares of worthless U.S.-incorporated penny stock companies (the “Penny Stock
Companies”) pursuant to private placements at artificially inflated prices. 1d. at 62-63.
The plaintiffs further alleged that the defendants, who owned shares or warrants of the
Penny Stock Companies for which they paid “nothing or almost nothing,” manipulated and
artificially inflated the price of the shares by actively trading the shares between and
among the Funds to “generate substantial commissions” for themselves and “to artificially
inflate the stock price” so that the defendants could sell their previously untradeable shares

69 See generally Irwin H. Warren and Matthew E.K. Howatt, Transnational Securities Litigation In The U.S.
Courts After Morrison v. National Australia Bank: An “F-Cubed” Regression Analysis, The Canadian
Institute’s 9th Annual Advanced Forum on Securities Litigation & Enforcement (October 2010).
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at a profit. 1d. at 64. The plaintiffs alleged total losses in excess of $195 million. Id.
Certain defendants moved to dismiss the plaintiffs’ complaint. Id. at 65. Following the
Supreme Court’s decision in Morrison, the district court sua sponte dismissed the
complaint with prejudice for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Id. The Second Circuit
affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded.

On appeal, the Second Circuit held that the district court erred in dismissing the
case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because Morrison “makes clear that whether
[Section] 10(b) applies to certain conduct is a ‘merits’ question.” Id. at 67 (citing
Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2876-77). The Second Circuit then enunciated a new test for
determining whether a transaction constitutes a “domestic transaction in other securities”
under the second prong of Morrison’s “transactional’” test, holding that “to sufficiently
allege a domestic securities transaction in securities not listed on a domestic exchange . . .
a plaintiff must allege facts suggesting that irrevocable liability was incurred or title was
transferred within the United States.” Id. at 66, 68. The Second Circuit rejected the
parties’ invitations to adopt tests based on the location of the broker-dealer, the location of
the securities’ issuance and registration, the identity of a buyer or seller, or the location of
the defendants’ conduct. 1d. at 68-69. Applying its new “domestic transaction” test, the
Second Circuit held that the plaintiffs’ complaint lacked sufficient allegations to support
the claim that the offerings described in the complaint were “direct sales by U.S.
companies to the Funds.” Id. at 68. Given that the plaintiffs drafted their complaint prior
to the Supreme Court’s decision in Morrison and because amendment would not be futile,
the Second Circuit directed the district court to grant the plaintiffs leave to amend their
complaint to include additional factual allegations supporting the plaintiffs’ claim that the
transactions occurred in the United States. Id. at 71.

In Valentini v. Citigroup, Inc., 837 F. Supp. 2d 304 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), the plaintiffs,
a businessman and family trust, brought a claim under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against the defendants, Citigroup Financial Services and Citi
Private Bank. 1d. at 312. The plaintiffs purchased structured notes from the defendants,
which included securities linked to the value of American Depository Receipts or common
stock of U.S. or Brazilian companies traded on the NYSE. Id. at 311. If the value of the
assets to which the note was linked fell below a certain percentage of their initial value, the
note would then convert to a certain number of shares of the lowest valued asset linked to
the note. 1d.

The defendants moved to dismiss, arguing that the district court lacked jurisdiction
under Morrison because the plaintiffs did not purchase the structured notes in the U.S. and
the notes were not listed on a domestic exchange. 1d. at 323. The district court adopted
the “economic reality” approach suggested by the Supreme Court for determining Section
10(b)’s reach, and held that the transaction did involve a security listed on a domestic
exchange as required under Morrison. Id. at 323-24. The district court reasoned that
although the notes were not listed on a domestic exchange, they were (1) linked to
securities listed on the NYSE and (2) contained a feature that converted the notes into
securities listed on the NYSE if the value of the assets to which the note was linked fell
below a certain percentage of their initial value. 1d. at 323. As such, the district court
determined that the plaintiffs purchased not only convertible notes, but also effectively a
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“put option” in the NYSE-listed securities to which the notes were linked. Id. at 324.
Finally, pursuant to its prior holdings that the purchase of an option is equivalent to the
purchase of a security for Section 10(b) liability, the Second Circuit ruled that the
plaintiffs’ transactions involved securities traded on domestic exchanges under Morrison.
1d. (citing Caiola v. Citibank, N.A., 295 F.3d 312, 327 (2d Cir. 2002)). Accordingly, the
district court denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss the claim on jurisdictional grounds.
Id.

In Inre UBS Sec. Litig., 2011 WL 4059356 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 13, 2011), the
plaintiffs claimed that the defendants violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange
Act and Rule 10b-5 by making fraudulent statements related to the defendants’: (1)
positions and losses in the U.S.; (2) positions and losses in auction-rate securities; and (3)
compliance with the U.S. tax and securities laws. Id. at *1. The plaintiffs included both
foreign and domestic investors who purchased UBS’ stock listed on the NYSE, the Swiss
Exchange, and the Tokyo Stock Exchange. Id. The defendants moved to dismiss arguing
that the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. Id.

The district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss, holding that in light of
the Supreme Court’s decision in Morrison, the district court lacked subject matter
jurisdiction. 1d. at *3. The plaintiffs argued that Morrison did not foreclose their claims
asserted by foreign investors because although they purchased their securities on a foreign
exchange these securities were cross-listed on the NYSE. 1d. at *4. The district court
struck down plaintiffs’ “strained interpretation of Morrison” as ignoring the broader
holding that Section 10(b) applies only to transactions executed in the U.S. Id. at *5
(citing Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2886). The district court further explained that Morrison
“makes clear that its concern was with respect to the location of the securities transaction
and not the location of an exchange where the security may be dually listed.” Id. at *5.

The plaintiffs next argued that claims asserted by U.S. investors who purchased
UBS stock on a foreign exchange satisfied Morrison’s transactional test because the U.S.
investor placed the buy order (and therefore effectuated the purchase) in the U.S. Id. The
district court rejected this argument as well, stating that “there is nothing in the text of
Morrison to suggest that the Court intended the location of an investor placing a buy order
to be determinative of whether such a transaction is *‘domestic’ for purposes of [Section]
10(b). To the contrary, the Morrison Court “clearly sought to bar claims based on
purchases and sales on foreign exchanges, even though the purchasers were American.””
Id. at *7 (quoting In re Vivendi Universal, S.A. Sec. Litig., 765 F. Supp. 2d 512, 532
(S.D.N.Y. 2011)).

In In re Royal Bank of Scot. Grp. PLC Sec. Litig., 765 F. Supp. 2d 327, 329-30
(S.D.N.Y. 2011), purchasers of both ordinary and preferred shares initiated a consolidated
class action against a foreign bank (“RBS”), international underwriters, and various
individuals alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The
plaintiffs’ basic allegations asserted that, as a result of certain behavior undertaken by RBS
management and underwriters, they suffered losses in shareholder value due to write-
downs that affected RBS’s subprime portfolio. Id. at 330.
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The defendants argued that Exchange Act claims asserted by the plaintiffs must be
dismissed on account of the Supreme Court’s holding in Morrison that ““10(b) reaches the
use of a manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance only in connection with the
purchase or sale of a security listed on an American stock exchange, and the purchase or
sale of any other security in the United States.”” Id. at 335 (quoting Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at
2888). While the plaintiffs argued that Morrison is satisfied since RBS shares were
“listed” on an American stock exchange, this argument failed since “[t]he idea that a
foreign company is subject to U.S. Securities laws everywhere it conducts foreign
transactions merely because it has ‘listed” some securities in the United States is simply
contrary to the spirit of Morrison.” 1d. at 336. Recognizing that no evidence existed that
Congress believed it has the power to regulate foreign securities exchanges under
established principles of international law, the district court found that the plaintiff’s
approach, which merely asserted their status as U.S. residents who were in the country
during their purchase of RBS shares, did not fulfill the requirements set by Morrison, and
plaintiffs’ claims with respect to ordinary shares purchased on foreign transactions were
dismissed. Id. at 336-38.

In In re Vivendi Universal, S.A. Sec. Litig., 765 F. Supp. 2d 512 (S.D.N.Y. 2011),
foreign and domestic shareholders filed a class action asserting derivative claims based on
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against a foreign global media
corporation and various affiliated individuals. The action was initially brought in 2002
alleging that ordinary shares traded primarily on the Paris Bourse exchange and American
Depository Receipts (“ADRs”) listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”) were purchased at artificially inflated prices as a result of material
misrepresentations and omissions. 1d. at 521. In January 2010, a jury determined that no
liability existed with respect to Vivendi’s CEO and CFO, but that Vivendi itself had
committed securities fraud under Section 10(b). 1d. at 524. Thereafter, Vivendi moved for
judgment as a matter of law or, in the alternative, a new trial, while plaintiffs moved for
entry of judgment and for approval of their proposed class notice and claims administration
procedures. 1d. at 525. In the wake of the Supreme Court’s holding in Morrison that
Section 10(b) does not apply extraterritorially, the district court asked the parties to submit
supplemental briefs addressing Morrison’s impact on their pending motions.

The plaintiffs first argued that the first prong of Morrison’s bright-line test that
“limits Section 10(b) claims to “securities listed on domestic exchanges’” was satisfied
because ADRs representing ordinary shares traded on the NYSE. 1d. at 525 (quoting
Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2884). Specifically, the plaintiffs noted that, in order to sell ADRs
in the U.S. through a public offering, Vivendi was required to register a corresponding
number of ordinary shares with the SEC—"albeit not for trading purposes.” 1d. at 528.
However, the district court determined that Morrison adopted a test that turns on the
territorial location of the transaction in question, holding that “[t]here is no indication that
the Morrison majority read Section 10(b) as applying to securities that may be cross-listed
on domestic and foreign exchanges, but where the purchase and sale does not arise from
the domestic listing, particularly where (as here) the domestic listing is not even for trading
purposes.” 1d. at 531.
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In the alternative, the plaintiffs argued that the claims of Americans who purchased
ordinary shares traded on foreign exchanges should be allowed to go forward under the
“domestic transactions in other securities” prong of Morrison’s transactional test. Id. at
525. Although the Supreme Court did not specifically define the term “domestic
transaction,” the district court determined that “there can be little doubt that the phrase was
intended to be a reference to the location of the transaction, not to the location of the
purchaser and that the Supreme Court clearly sought to bar claims based on purchases and
sales of foreign securities on foreign exchanges, even though the purchasers were
American.” 1d. at 532. As such, the district court determined that, after Morrison,
American purchasers of shares sold on foreign exchanges may not bring Section 10(b)
claims. 1d.

In Plumbers’ Union Local No. 12 Pension Fund v. Swiss Reinsurance Co., 753 F.
Supp. 2d 166, 170 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the putative class action plaintiffs brought claims
under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against Swiss
Reinsurance Company (“Swiss Re”) and two of its senior officers. The plaintiffs alleged
that the defendants made false and misleading statements regarding Swiss Re’s risk
management and exposure to mortgage-related securities. 1d. The defendants moved to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ claims, contending that they were barred by Morrison because the
plaintiffs had purchased Swiss Re common shares on the “virt-x” trading platform (a
subsidiary of the SWX Swiss Exchange based in London) and that the complaint failed to
satisfy the pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA. Id. at 170-72. The district
court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss on both grounds.

The district court first considered whether the plaintiffs’ Exchange Act claims were
precluded by Morrison. Id. at 175-79. The lead plaintiff argued that, because it placed its
orders to purchase Swiss Re shares with traders in Chicago and those orders were entered
electronically in Chicago, they had “purchased” Swiss Re common shares in the United
States. Id. at 177. Interpreting “what it means for a purchase or sale to be *‘made in the
United States’” in light of Morrison, the district court reasoned that the term “purchase”
“c[ould not] bear the expansive construction plaintiffs propose[d]” because the “plaintiffs’
construction would require a fact-bound, case-by-case inquiry into when exactly an
investor’s purchase order became irrevocable.” 1d. at 176-78 (citation omitted). Although
the lead plaintiff was a U.S. investor who had placed a buy order in the U.S., the district
court determined that the plaintiff had “purchased its shares on a foreign exchange,” since
the transactions were “executed, cleared, and settled” on a Swiss Exchange. Id. at 178.

In Cornwell v. Credit Suisse Grp., 729 F. Supp. 2d 620, 621 (S.D.N.Y.), mot. to
certify denied, 270 F.R.D. 145 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), investors brought a putative class action
against Credit Suisse Global (“CSG”) and four of its officers, alleging that the defendants
violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs
sought to represent all investors who purchased CSG securities either on the Swiss Stock
Exchange (“SWX?”) or as American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) on the NYSE during a
specific time period. 1d. Following Morrison, the defendants moved to dismiss those
plaintiffs who had purchased CSG shares on the SWX. 1d. at 622-624.
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The plaintiffs argued that Morrison did not foreclose their claims because, unlike
the ““foreign cubed’” plaintiffs in Morrison, they were United States residents who made
an investment decision in the United States to purchase CSG stock and took the CSG stock
into their United States-based accounts. Id. at 622. The district court roundly rejected this
argument as ignoring “the multiple concerns that moved the Supreme Court to prescribe a
new test clarifying the application of [Section] 10(b) in transnational securities trading. In
that restructuring of United States securities law, the Second Circuit’s conduct and effect
doctrine took a great fall. And neither the Plaintiffs’ law horses nor this Court’s pen can
put the pieces together again.” 1d. at 627. Accordingly, the district court dismissed the
claims of those plaintiffs and potential class members who purchased CSG stock on the
SWX. Id.

In In re Alstom SA Sec. Litig., 741 F. Supp. 2d 469 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), investors
who had purchased Alstom SA (“Alstom”) securities on the Euronext, directly from
Alstom, or in the form of American Depository Receipts (“ADRs”) on the NYSE, brought
a securities fraud class action against Alstom, its subsidiaries and some of its officers for
violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The district court directed the
plaintiffs to show cause why the claims of those plaintiffs who purchased securities on the
Euronext should not be dismissed. Id. at 471. The plaintiffs argued, inter alia, that
because Alstom’s “common shares were registered and listed on the NYSE, though not
actually purchased there, these Euronext transactions fulfill[ed] the letter of Morrison’s
rule that the federal securities fraud laws apply to transactions in securities ‘listed on a
domestic exchange.’” 1d. at 471-72 (citing Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2886). The district
court disagreed, finding plaintiffs’ argument “a selective and overly-technical reading of
Morrison that ignores the larger point of the decision.” 1d. at 472. “That the transactions
themselves must occur on a domestic exchange to trigger application of § 10(b) reflects the
most natural and elementary reading of Morrison.” Id. at 473. The district court therefore
dismissed the claims of those plaintiffs who had purchased Alstom securities on the
Euronext. 1d.

In Elliott Assocs. v. Porsche Auto. Holding SE, 759 F. Supp. 2d 469, 471
(S.D.N.Y. 2010), plaintiffs were hedge fund investors who entered into security-based
swap agreements that would generate gains for plaintiffs as the price of Volkswagen
(“VW™) shares decreased (and corresponding losses as those shares increased in price).
Defendant Porsche was a public company with shares that traded in Germany and an
American Depositary Receipt (“ADR”) that traded in the U.S. 1d. at 471-72. Porsche,
VW’s largest shareholder, allegedly made false and misleading statements in which it
denied its desire to take over VW. Id. at 472. However, in October 2008, Porsche
announced its acquisition of a roughly 75% stake in VW, driving the price of VW shares
up and forcing plaintiffs to cover their short positions. Id. at 472-73. Porsche moved to
dismiss plaintiffs’ allegations that it had violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act.

Pursuant to Morrison’s holding that Section 10(b) applies only to “*‘transactions in
securities listed on domestic exchanges, and domestic transactions in other securities,”” Id.
at 473 (quoting Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2884), the district court determined that Morrison’s
second prong was not satisfied because the “economic reality” was that the swaps,

8

© WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP



although executed in the U.S., were transactions in foreign securities. Id. at 475-76. Since
the value of swap agreements were intrinsically tied to the value of a reference security
which traded on a foreign exchange, the district court reasoned that Plaintiffs’ swap
agreements were essentially ““transactions conducted upon foreign exchanges and
markets,” and not ‘domestic transactions’ that merit the protection of Section 10(b).” 1d. at
476. As such, defendants’ motions to dismiss with respect to plaintiffs Section 10(b)
allegations were granted. 1d. at 477.

The Ninth Circuit

In re Toyota Motor Corp. Sec. Litig., 2011 WL 2675395 (C.D. Cal. July 7, 2011),
the district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss because it did not have original
jurisdiction over the claim. Id. at *7.

The plaintiffs, investors in the defendant’s company, brought a class action
complaint alleging a Rule 10b-5 violation and claims based on Japanese securities law
against Toyota Motor Corporation (“Toyota”), arguing that the district court had original
jurisdiction over the Japanese law claims under the Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”)
as well as supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c). Id. at *1, *6. The vast
majority of the investors purchased their stock on foreign exchanges. Id. at *6. The
district court found that the claims related to ““covered securities’” because they were
listed on the NYSE and were therefore exempted from the CAFA. 1d. at *6 (citation
omitted). The district court recognized that it also had supplemental jurisdiction over the
Japanese law claims, but declined to exercise that jurisdiction because it found the
Japanese law claims substantially predominated over the American law claims. Id. The
district court stated that the “clear underlying rationale of the Supreme Court’s decision in
[Morrison] is that foreign governments have the right to decide how to regulate their own
securities markets,” and that “[t]his respect for foreign law would be completely subverted
if foreign claims were allowed to be piggybacked into virtually every American securities
fraud case, imposing American procedures, requirements, and interpretations likely never
contemplated by the drafters of the foreign law.” Id. at *7. The district court did not
foreclose the possibility of exercising supplemental jurisdiction over foreign securities law
claims in the future, but stated that “any reasonable reading of Morrison suggests that those
instances will be rare.” 1d.

The Tenth Circuit

In Cascade Fund, LLP v. Absolute Capital Mgmt. Holdings Ltd., 2011 WL
1211511 (D. Colo. Mar. 31, 2011), the Cascade Fund, LLP (*Cascade”), an investment
fund based in the U.S., brought a 10b-5 claim against Absolute Capital Management
Holdings, Ltd (“ACM”), a company that managed and sold shares in investment funds
organized under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Id. at *1. None of the funds were listed
on any U.S. stock exchange. Id. Cascade alleged that ACM’s failure to disclose material
facts made its offering memoranda materially misleading. Id. at *1-2. ACM moved to
dismiss, arguing that the transactions at issue were not covered by the Exchange Act based
on the Supreme Court’s decision in Morrison. 1d. at *3-4.

© WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP



Cascade argued that application of Morrison should be limited to “*F-cubed
transactions’” and that its suit should be allowed to proceed because it was a U.S.-based
entity. Id. at *5-6. The district court disagreed, stating that, under Morrison, 10b-5 claims
““are cognizable only when they involve ‘a security listed on a domestic exchange’ or
where ‘th[e] purchase or sale [of the security] is made in the United States.”” Id. at *7
(quoting Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2886). Cascade also argued that its investment was a
domestic transaction because:

(i) the [o]ffering [m]emoranda and other investment materials were
disseminated to Cascade in the United States; (ii) [one of ACM’s directors]
and other ACM executives traveled to the United States to solicit American
investors; (iii) Cascade made its decision to invest while in the United
States; and (iv) the money for the purchase was wired to a bank in New
York.

Id. at *7. The district court rejected Cascade’s argument, noting that the first three facts
concerned the location of the solicitation of the transaction rather than the transaction
itself, and that the fourth fact was merely “one step by Cascade to comply with ACM’s
designated process for applying to invest in the funds . . . [that] was not sufficient to
complete the transaction.” 1d. The district court found that the transaction was not
completed until ACM accepted an application (which it presumed occurred at ACM’s
Cayman Islands offices), thus it was not a domestic transaction covered by the Exchange
Act. 1d.

The Eleventh Circuit

In Quail Cruises Ship Magmt. Ltd. v. Agencia de Viagens CVC Tur Limitada, 645
F.3d 1307, 1310-11 (11th Cir. 2011), the Eleventh Circuit vacated and remanded the
district court’s dismissal of a suit brought under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act
because the plaintiffs had alleged sufficient facts to establish subject matter jurisdiction
under Morrison. The Eleventh Circuit reiterated that, after Morrison, Section 10(b) applies
only where the security at issue is: (1) listed on a domestic stock exchange; or (2) where
its purchase or sale was made in the United States. 1d. at 1310. Although the stock at
issue was not listed on a domestic stock exchange, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that the
plaintiff properly alleged that the relevant transactions “closed” in Miami, Florida—clearly
within the United States. 1d. The Eleventh Circuit reasoned that the closing constituted a
“sale” because it entailed a transfer of property or title for a price. Id.
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7 Pleading
— Standards and
Scienter

Pleading Standards

Special pleading standards set forth in the PSLRA govern complaints brought
pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. These standards are
unique to securities cases and were adopted in an attempt to curb abuses in securities fraud
litigation. See, e.g., Elam v. Neidorff, 544 F.3d 921, 927 (8th Cir. 2008); Winer Family
Trust v. Queen, 503 F.3d 319, 326 (3d Cir. 2007). To survive a motion to dismiss, a
plaintiff must plead sufficient facts “to raise a right to relief above the speculative level,”
Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citation omitted); see also ACA
Fin. Guarantee Corp. v. Advest, Inc., 512 F.3d 46, 58 (1st Cir. 2008) (“The Supreme Court
[in Bell Atlantic] has recently altered the Rule 12(b)(6) standard in a manner which gives it
more heft. In order to survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must allege a ‘plausible
entitlement to relief.””) (citations omitted).

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b)

Prior to the enactment of the PSLRA in 1995, courts evaluated securities fraud
pleadings under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) (“Rule 9(b)”). Rule 9(b) requires
that “[i]n alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity” the circumstances
constituting that fraud or mistake. However, “[m]alice, intent, knowledge, and other
conditions of a person’s mind may be alleged generally.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Pleading
circumstances constituting fraud with particularity requires that a plaintiff identify the
speaker, state where and when the statements were made, specify the statements alleged to
be fraudulent, and explain why the statements were fraudulent. See generally, e.g., Reese
v. BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc., 643 F.3d 681, 690 (9th Cir. 2011). This “who, what,
when, where and how” test is a well-settled and widely accepted standard. See, e.q.,
Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 874 (8th Cir. 2010) (citation omitted); In re 2007
Novastar Fin. Inc., Sec. Litig., 579 F.3d 878, 882 (8th Cir. 2009) (citation omitted). The
Rule 9(b) standard does not tolerate mere boilerplate and conclusory allegations; rather, a
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plaintiff must allege facts that plausibly support the asserted legal theories within the
complaint. See Chemtech Int’l, Inc. v. Chem. Injection Techs., Inc., 247 F. App’x 403,
405 (3d Cir. 2007) (citation omitted); In re Cybershop.com Sec. L.itig., 189 F. Supp. 2d
214, 226 (D.N.J. 2002) (citation omitted). The purpose of Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading
requirement is to give defendants notice of the claims against them and to reduce the
number of frivolous suits brought solely to extract settlements. See, e.g., In re Burlington
Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1418 (3d Cir. 1997) (citation omitted).

Many courts now recognize that the PSLRA supersedes, but essentially
incorporates, the particularity requirements of Rule 9(b). See, e.g., Rolin v. Spartan
Mullen Et Cie, S.A., 2011 WL 5920931, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 23, 2011) (noting that the
PSLRA has “essentially codified 9(b)”).

The PSLRA'’s Statutory Pleading Requirements

The PSLRA contains two heightened pleading requirements in securities fraud
cases. A securities fraud complaint must:

1. specify each statement alleged to have been misleading, and the reason
or reasons why the statement is misleading; and

2. state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the
defendant acted with the required state of mind.

15 U.S.C. 78u-4(b). The PSLRA requires a court to dismiss the complaint if these
requirements are not met. See 15 U.S.C. 78u-4(b)(3). Importantly, however, the PSLRA
does not require courts to dismiss complaints failing these requirements with prejudice.
See Belizan v. Hershon, 434 F.3d 579, 583-84 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (vacating district court’s
dismissal of a Rule 10b-5 claim with prejudice for failure to allege scienter with
particularity, because the PSLRA did not mandate dismissal with prejudice and because
fact issues remained concerning whether the plaintiffs could cure the complaint).

The First Circuit

In Ambert v. Caribe Equity Grp., Inc., 2011 WL 4626012 (D.P.R. Sept. 30, 2011),
investors in a public offering of Caribe, a Puerto Rico holding company, brought suit under
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5, alleging that the defendants omitted
material facts and made false representations to investors, causing the total loss of their
investments with Caribe. 1d. at *1. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants solicited
meetings with them, encouraging them to invest with the defendants, who would use the
investment to create and operate a new health maintenance organization (“HMQO”). Id.
However, instead of creating a new HMO, the defendants bought an existing HMO with
troubled finances, and the plaintiffs lost their investment. The defendants moved to
dismiss.

The district court denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss, finding that the
plaintiffs successfully pleaded material misrepresentation, scienter, reliance, and loss
causation under Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA. The district court began by noting that,
“because their complaint sounds in fraud, [the p]laintiffs must . . . plead with particularity
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the circumstances constituting [the] fraud.” Id. at *4 (internal quotation marks and
citations omitted) (second alteration in original). Explaining that “Rule 9(b) seeks to
provide a defendant with fair notice of a plaintiff’s claim, to safeguard defendants’
reputations, and to protect defendants from the institution of a strike suit,” the district court
found that the plaintiffs alleged the time, place, and content of the misrepresentations with
specificity, and detailed the “context in which the misrepresentations and omissions were
made.” 1d.

The Second Circuit

In Footbridge Ltd. v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 2010 WL 3790810
(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 28, 2010), two investment funds that had purchased over $43 million of
residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”) in two public offerings sued
Countrywide-related entities, directors and officers for federal securities fraud and for
common law fraud in connection with those securities. 1d. at *1-2. The plaintiffs alleged
that the defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 because the
defendants made material misrepresentations and omissions in the offering documents for
the RMBS and in other public statements regarding “the quality of the underlying loans
and . . . the underwriting guidelines used in the origination process,” which caused the
plaintiffs to lose their investments. Id. at *4. The district court noted at the outset that the
plaintiffs did not dispute knowing that the RMBS were made up of “credit-blemished,
closed-end, fixed-rate loans” secured by second liens on residential properties. Instead, the
plaintiffs claimed to be misled because the RMBS were riskier than they perceived. Id.
The district court granted the defendants” motion to dismiss, holding, inter alia, that the
plaintiffs failed to allege material misrepresentations with particularity and failed to raise a
strong inference of scienter.

The district court found that the plaintiffs had not met the particularity
requirements of Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA in the first instance because they had failed to
identify material misstatements or omissions to support a plausible claim of fraud. For
example, the plaintiffs alleged that term sheets for the RMBS contained false statements
regarding owner occupancy levels of the underlying mortgaged properties. The plaintiffs
alleged reliance on sections of the term sheets stating that over 99% of mortgaged
properties were owner-occupied when, in fact, the number of owner-occupied properties
was known to be lower. 1d. at *9. The district court found these pleadings insufficient to
meet Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA’s heightened pleading requirements. The district court
noted that the plaintiffs had “omit[ted] critical language from their citation of the
statements in the offering documents,” which explained that Countrywide was relying on
the representations made by mortgagors in their loan applications. 1d. In addition, the
district court pointed to the plaintiffs’ failure to plead facts suggesting that the percentages
reported in the defendants’ term sheets were “inaccurate representations of the data
received from borrowers,” and to “identify any loans that the defendants represented as
being related to owner-occupied properties that were not actually occupied by the owners.”
Id. at *9-10.

Similarly, the district court determined that the plaintiffs’ allegation that the
defendants omitted material facts regarding Countrywide’s Reduced-Documentation
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Programs did not meet pleading standards under Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA. The plaintiffs
alleged that Countrywide represented in the RMBS prospectuses that it verified borrowers’
employment and income in “most cases,” when in fact, Countrywide failed to verify this
information “at a far greater rate than it represented.” Id. at *14. The plaintiffs, however,
had not alleged necessary facts to support this allegation, “such as the ‘rate’ Countrywide
represented exceptions [to income or employment verification procedures] would be
granted or the ‘rate’ at which exceptions were actually granted.” 1d. Under the PSLRA,
the district court reasoned, the “plaintiffs must ‘do more’ than allege that, on information
and belief that exceptions were granted ‘at a greater rate than it represented.”” Id. (citation
omitted). The plaintiffs also claimed that Countrywide failed to disclose the results of
studies showing that low documentation loans were more likely to default. The district
court determined that this was not an actionable “omission” under the PSLRA because the
plaintiffs had not identified any fiduciary duty obligating the defendants to disclose such
information. Furthermore, the RMBS offering documents contained a general disclosure
that the underlying mortgages would “experience higher rates of delinquency and loss.”
Id. at *15.

In Plumbers’ Union Local No. 12 Pension Fund v. Swiss Reinsurance Co., 753 F.
Supp. 2d 166 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), putative class action plaintiffs brought claims under
Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against Swiss Reinsurance
Company (“Swiss Re”) and two of its senior officers. The plaintiffs alleged that the
defendants made false and misleading statements regarding Swiss Re’s risk management
and exposure to mortgage-related securities. Id. at 170. The defendants moved to dismiss
the plaintiffs’ claims, contending that the claims were barred by Morrison because the
plaintiffs had purchased Swiss Re common shares on the “virt-x” trading platform (a
subsidiary of the SWX Swiss Exchange based in London) and that the complaint failed to
satisfy the pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA. Id. at 170-71. The district
court granted the defendants” motion to dismiss on both grounds.

The district court held that the plaintiffs failed to plead material misstatements or
scienter with particularity. According to the court, the “gist” of plaintiffs’ claim regarding
Swiss Re’s exposure to risky mortgage-related securities was that Swiss Re failed to
adequately disclose that it had issued credit default swaps (“CDSs”) to insure billions of
Swiss Francs (“CHF”) worth of assets, including subprime mortgage securities and
collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”). 1d. at 180-81. In support of this claim, the
plaintiffs pointed to two statements: (1) Swiss Re’s August 7, 2007 statement that “CHF
190 billion of invested assets was ‘exposed to sub-prime of less than CHF 500 [million],””
and (2) Swiss Re’s subsequent announcement that, “[f]or the sake of completeness . . .
there are sub-prime risks elsewhere in the balance sheet,” including “in the portfolio of
CDS business and the Financial Guarantee Re . . . [and] also in swaps . ...” Id. at 181.
The district court found that this second statement sufficiently disclosed the existence of
risks related to the subprime mortgage market, reasoning that “[t]here is no obligation for
an issuer to identify specifically every type of asset or liability it possesses, so long as its
disclosures are ‘broad enough to cover’ all instruments that are in fact relevant to the value
of the issuer’s securities.” Id. (citing Hunt v. Alliance N. Am. Gov’t Income Trust, Inc.,
159 F.3d 723, 730 (2d Cir. 1998)). The defendants had made an appropriate disclosure
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about subprime risks and were not required to make more detailed disclosures. Therefore,
the district court held, the plaintiffs had failed to plead material misstatements or
omissions. 1d.

In In re Citigroup Inc. Sec. Litig., 753 F. Supp. 2d 206 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the
putative class action plaintiffs brought claims against Citigroup Inc. (“Citigroup”) and
fourteen of its directors and officers, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act. The plaintiffs claimed that, at various times from 2006 to 2008, the
defendants materially misled investors about the company’s financial health by knowingly
understating the risks it faced, namely in various financial instruments related to the
subprime mortgage industry, and overstating the value of its assets. The plaintiffs alleged
that the defendants’ misstatements and omissions caused investors to suffer damages when
the truth about Citigroup’s assets was revealed. Id. at 212.

A number of the plaintiffs’ allegations concerned Citigroup’s exposure to
collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”). For instance, the plaintiffs alleged that “the
defendants failed to give a full and truthful account of the extent of Citigroup’s CDO
exposure,” by revealing only the size of Citigroup’s underwriting activities and not the size
of Citigroup’s CDO holdings. 1d. at 217-18. The plaintiffs further claimed that
Citigroup’s SEC filings “failed to convey the subprime-related risks inherent in its CDO
portfolio,” because the filings did not distinguish which Citigroup CDOs were backed by
subprime mortgages and which were backed by other assets. 1d. at 217, 220. The
plaintiffs also contended that Citigroup violated accounting rules when valuing Citigroup’s
CDO holdings in its SEC filings because it failed to “take[] writedowns on its CDO
holdings in reaction to precipitous drops in the “TABX,” a widely used index that tracked
the price of mezzanine CDOs.” Id. at 217, 223. The defendants moved to dismiss the
plaintiffs’ claims, arguing that the plaintiffs failed to meet the heightened pleading
standards for securities fraud. The district court granted the defendants’ motion in part but
allowed the plaintiffs to proceed against Citigroup and seven of the individual defendants
on the plaintiffs’ claims that, between February 2007 and August 2008, the defendants
misrepresented the extent of Citigroup’s CDO exposure. 1d.

With regard to the individual defendants, the district court found that the plaintiffs
had not set forth sufficient particularized allegations establishing that seven of the
defendants had knowledge of Citigroup’s CDO obligations. But, as for the remaining
seven, the district court found the plaintiffs’ allegation that they attended meetings
addressing Citigroup’s CDO exposure was sufficient to establish a strong inference of
scienter. The district court reasoned that “[a]lthough plaintiffs do not allege with
specificity the matters discussed at these meetings, their mere existence is indicative of
scienter: That defendants engaged in meetings concerning Citigroup’s CDO risks is
inconsistent with the company’s public statements downplaying or concealing that risk.”
Id. at 238-39.

The Third Circuit

In Barnard v. Verizon Commc’ns, Inc., 2011 WL 5517326 (3d Cir. Nov. 14, 2011),
cert. denied, 132 S. Ct. 2107 (2012), former investors appealed the district court’s
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dismissal of their complaint, which alleged violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange
Act and Rule 10b-5, among others, against Verizon and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank
(“JPMC™). Id. at *1. The corporation that the plaintiffs invested in was formed in a spin-
off transaction by Verizon and filed for bankruptcy less than three years after its formation.
Id. The plaintiffs alleged Exchange Act violations in connection with the spin-off, as they
claimed Verizon failed to disclose its true purpose for effecting the spin-off (i.e., to off-
load the debt and transfer ownership of the debt to the banks) and misrepresented the
corporation’s solvency. 1d. at *2.

The Third Circuit affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the securities fraud
claim, as the complaint did not comply with the heightened pleading requirements of the
PSLRA. 1d. at *3. The Third Circuit found that the pleading did “not provide any facts
from which one could ascertain whether either JPMC or Verizon, or both, made any
actionable misrepresentations or omissions at all.” Id. The complaint referenced both
Verizon’s 2007 annual statement and the prospectus from the spin-off; however, the Third
Circuit noted that the plaintiffs’ reference to statements in those documents failed to
indicate “how, if at all, the statements could be interpreted as material misrepresentations
or omissions.” Id.

The Third Circuit also found that the complaint contained no allegations that could
establish reliance or economic loss. Id. The complaint did not indicate “how, when, or
why” the plaintiffs purchased or sold stock, and as a result, there was “no way to ascertain
how any misrepresentation or omission impacted Appellants’ decisions to purchase or sell
securities.” 1d.

In Solomon-Shrawder v. CardioNet, Inc., 2010 WL 3168366 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 10,
2010), the plaintiffs brought claims under, inter alia, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 against CardioNet and two of its executives. 1d. at *1. The plaintiffs
contended “that the defendants made overly optimistic statements during the proposed
class period regarding the company’s general prospects and, more specifically, the
reimbursement rate that Medicare and Medicaid would pay for CardioNet’s main product,
which is a wireless heart monitor.” 1d. Medicare and Medicaid eventually reduced the rate
during the class period, and CardioNet’s stock price fell. 1d. The defendants moved to
dismiss the complaint.

The district court applied the standard of review announced by the Third Circuit in
Inst’l Investors Grp. v. Avaya, Inc., 564 F.3d 242 (3d Cir. 2009). In order to state a claim
under Rule 10b-5, the Avaya court noted, the plaintiffs “must ‘allege defendants made a
misstatement or an omission of material fact with scienter in connection with the purchase
or sale of a security upon which plaintiffs reasonably relied and plaintiff[s’] reliance was
the proximate cause of their injury.”” Id. at 251. The Avaya court also stated that
plaintiffs must plead facts “with particularity,” which means the complaint must allege
“who, what, when, where, and how”—and when the complaint includes allegations made
on information and belief, it “must not only state the allegations with factual particularity,
but must also describe the sources of information with particularity . . . .” Id. at 253.
Avaya further observed that, to adequately plead scienter, the plaintiffs must state “with
particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the
required state of mind . .. .” Id. at 280. However, Avaya also advised that a defendant
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“might be culpable as long as what he knew made obvious the risk” of misleading
investors. Id. at 270. Finally, Avaya instructed that when plaintiffs attribute information
to confidential witnesses, but do not provide details about the sources, information, or
corroborating facts, a court must “discount” the allegations from those witnesses “steeply.”
Id. at 263.

Relying on Avaya, the district court found that the plaintiffs failed to plead both
falsity and scienter “with the particularity that the PSLRA demands.” Solomon-Shrawder,
2010 WL 3168366, at *20. The district court considered each statement that the plaintiffs
alleged to be false and found the allegations failed to show falsity, because: (1) the
plaintiffs did not give sufficient information to support why or how confidential witnesses
knew the information they provided to the plaintiffs; (2) the plaintiffs failed to connect the
reasons they gave for statements being false with the actual statements themselves; (3) the
defendants’ statements could not be deemed false as a result of information that the
defendants did not know and were not privy to; (4) a reasonable mistake by the defendants
does not rise to the level of scienter; and (5) there were no facts alleged to show that the
defendants had knowledge of the impending rate reduction or that they should have known
about it. Id. at *11-17. The district court therefore dismissed the plaintiffs’ claims under
10b-5.

The Eleventh Circuit

In Thompson v. RelationServe Media, Inc., 610 F.3d 628 (11th Cir. 2010), the
Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the plaintiffs’ putative class
action claims brought under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act against an
internet marketing firm and eleven of its directors and employees. L. Allen Jacoby led a
putative class of all purchasers who bought stock in RelationServe Media, Inc.
(“RelationServe™) on the open market prior to the company’s public disclosure of a
pending lawsuit alleging that RelationServe sold securities through unregistered brokers.
Id. at 630, 632. Before RelationServe became a publicly-traded company, it hired an
independent consulting agency to sell shares through a private offering to investors. 1d. at
631. Jacoby claimed that RelationServe did not disclose that a broker was involved in the
company’s earlier securities sales to hide the fact that RelationServe sold securities through
unregistered brokers and to mislead the public regarding the company’s worth. 1d. at 634.

The Eleventh Circuit held that under the PSLRA’s heightened pleading standard for
scienter, Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 required Jacoby to plead “‘with particularity facts
giving rise to a strong inference’ that the defendants either intended to defraud investors or
were severely reckless when they made the allegedly materially false or incomplete
statements.” Id. (quoting Mizzaro v. Home Depot, Inc., 544 F.3d 1230, 1238 (11th Cir.
2008)). The Eleventh Circuit concluded that Jacoby only made conclusory allegations and
failed to state that any of the defendants either knew they were utilizing unregistered
brokers or, if they did know, that they also knew RelationServe was required to utilize
registered brokers. Id. at 634-35. Jacoby’s proposed inference was “not as compelling as
the competing inference that the defendants did not disclose its use of unregistered brokers
because the brokers were exempt from registration.” 1d. at 635. Accordingly, the Eleventh
Circuit held that Jacoby failed to adequately plead scienter under the PSLRA.
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In City of Pontiac Gen. Emps. Ret. Sys. v. Schweitzer-Mauduit Int’l, Inc., 806 F.
Supp. 2d 1267 (N.D. Ga. 2011), the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs were shareholders in Schweitzer-
Maduit International, Inc. (“Schweitzer”), which supplied tobacco products to tobacco
companies internationally. Id. at 1270. The plaintiffs alleged that the company and two of
its directors and officers engaged in a fraudulent scheme to artificially inflate the
company’s stock price by misleading the market about (1) Schweitzer’s relationship with
one of its largest customers, (2) the strength of Schweitzer’s intellectual property
protections, and (3) pressures Schweitzer faced from European competitors. Id.

The district court held that the plaintiffs failed to sufficiently plead a false
statement or omission of a material fact. Id. at 1293-94. The plaintiffs’ complaint
“compiled a series of statements—almost all of which contain multiple passages presented
in the form of lengthy block quotes—and then paired each series of statements to the same
conclusory list of deficiencies.” 1d. at 1293. The district court derided this type of “puzzle
pleading” as placing “the burden on the Court to sort out the alleged misrepresentations
and then match them with the corresponding adverse facts.” 1d. (quoting In re Alcatel
Sec. Litig., 382 F. Supp. 2d 513, 534-35 (S.D.N.Y. 2005)) (internal quotation marks
omitted). The district court concluded that this pleading method was deficient under the
PSLRA, but granted the plaintiffs leave to re-file. Id. at 1293-94.

In Prager v. FMS Bonds, Inc., 2010 WL 2950065 (S.D. Fla. July 26, 2010), the
district court denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss because the plaintiff pleaded his
Rule 10b-5 claim with sufficient particularity under Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA. The
defendants brokered a sale of bonds to the plaintiff, a retiree who explained that he wanted
to invest in conservative income-producing products for his portfolio. Id. at *5. The
defendants allegedly misrepresented that the bonds were guaranteed by the State of
Georgia, when they were actually guaranteed by Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc.
(“Lehman Brothers”). Id. at *1. When Lehman Brothers filed for bankruptcy, it failed to
honor its guaranty, resulting in the plaintiff suffering a net loss of $112,000 in principal as
well as accrued interest. 1d.

The defendants moved to dismiss, alleging that the plaintiff failed to satisfy Rule
9(b) and the PSLRA requirements that the plaintiff allege the time and place of the
fraudulent statements or omissions. Id. at *3. The district court held that the allegations in
the aggregate can obviate the need for such details. Id. at *3-4. Since the plaintiff alleged
the identity of the person who made the fraudulent statement, what the statement
contained, provided a timeframe of a few weeks during which the defendants solicited the
plaintiff, and the plaintiff attached documentation further specifying the transaction from
which the fraud originated, the district court held that these allegations collectively put the
defendants on notice and satisfied Rule 9(b). Id.

The district court additionally held that the plaintiff satisfied Rule 9(b)’s
requirement that the plaintiff provide a description of what was “‘obtained as a
consequence of the fraud.”” Id. at *5 (quoting Mizzaro v. Home Depot, Inc., 554 F.3d
1230, 1237 (11th Cir. 2008)). However, the district court held that the plaintiff’s bare

18

© WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP



allegations that the defendants were motivated to induce him to purchase the bonds to
serve their “*financial interests’” did not satisfy Rule 9(b) because it failed to specify what
the defendants actually obtained from the fraud. Id. at *5. Nonetheless, based on
allegations that the defendants obtained a broker’s fee in connection with the sale, the
district court held that the plaintiff sufficiently alleged a claim under Rule 10b-5. Id.

Scienter

The Supreme Court has defined scienter as “a mental state embracing intent to
deceive, manipulate, or defraud.” Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 n.12
(1976). Note that this statement leaves open the possibility of whether scienter also
includes recklessness. See Matrixx, 131 S. Ct. at 1323 (“We have not decided whether
recklessness suffices to fulfill the scienter requirement.”). As discussed above, the PSLRA
and Rule 9(b) require plaintiffs to plead scienter with particularity. 15 U.S.C. 78u-4(b)(2);
Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).

In Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 309-10 (2007), the
Supreme Court clarified that the “strong inference” of scienter under the PSLRA must be
more than merely permissible or even reasonable—it must be *“cogent and compelling”
when compared to all non-fraudulent inferences. Yet as discussed below, the Supreme
Court’s decision only laid out the rationale for its standard without providing much
guidance on how to apply it.

The Supreme Court

In Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 313-17, shareholders of Tellabs, Inc. filed a class action
against the company and its former CEO, alleging that they had engaged in securities fraud
in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs asserted,
inter alia, that defendants made material and misleading statements about the market
demand for new products. Id. at 315. The complaint alleged that the company’s CEO
knew that the market for the company’s product was drying up, but that he continued to
make positive statements to financial analysts regarding an increase in customer demand.
Id. The district court dismissed the claim, holding that the plaintiffs failed to adequately
plead scienter. Id. at 316. The Seventh Circuit reversed the district court in part, holding
that the plaintiffs pleaded facts that gave rise to a strong inference of scienter with respect
to statements made by the CEO because the plaintiffs provided enough for a reasonable
person to infer that the CEO knew his statements were false. Id. at 308-09.

The Supreme Court reversed the Seventh Circuit’s decision and held that to qualify
as “strong” within the meaning of the PSLRA, the inference of scienter must be more than
merely permissible or even reasonable—it must be “cogent and compelling” as compared
to all explanations of non-fraudulent intent. Id. at 310. The Court further advised that
scienter allegations cannot be evaluated “in a vacuum”—that is, courts cannot simply look
at isolated portions of the pleadings to see if, standing alone, they give rise to a strong
inference of scienter. 1d. at 323-24. Rather, even accepting the pleaded facts as true, a
court must “assess all of the allegations” to see if there are “plausible, nonculpable
explanations” for the defendant’s conduct—and then weigh the competing inferences. 1d.
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at 310. The Supreme Court held that a securities fraud complaint can only survive a
dismissal motion “if a reasonable person would deem the inference of scienter cogent and
at least as compelling as any plausible opposing inference one could draw from the facts
alleged.” 1d. at 324.

The Supreme Court set forth the “process” for evaluating a “strong inference” in
three parts:

1. Onamotion to dismiss a securities fraud complaint under Rule 12(b)(6), lower courts
must, “as with any motion to dismiss for failure to plead a claim on which relief can
be granted, accept all factual allegations in the complaint as true.” 1d. at 309.

2. When considering a motion to dismiss, courts can, as they traditionally do, consider
documents incorporated by reference into the complaint, and matters of which they
can take judicial notice. Courts, however, must evaluate the entire complaint to
determine whether “all of the facts alleged, taken collectively, give rise to a strong
inference of scienter, not whether any individual allegation, scrutinized in isolation,
meets that standard.” Id. at 310.

3. The Court then outlined a balancing test requiring lower courts to “take into account
plausible opposing inferences” arising from a review of all of the allegations of the
complaint:

The inquiry is inherently comparative: How likely is it that one
conclusion, as compared to others, follows from the underlying
facts? To determine whether the plaintiff has alleged facts that give
rise to the requisite ‘strong inference’ of scienter, a court must
consider plausible, nonculpable explanations for the defendant’s
conduct, as well as inferences favoring the plaintiff. . .. [T]he
inference of scienter [drawn from this inquiry] must be more than
merely ‘reasonable’ or ‘permissible’—it must be cogent and
compelling, thus strong in light of other explanations. A complaint
will survive, we hold, only if a reasonable person would deem the
inference of scienter cogent and at least as compelling as any
opposing inference one could draw from the facts alleged.

Id. at 323-24.

The Supreme Court vacated the judgment of Seventh Circuit and remanded the case
for further proceedings consistent with its opinion. On remand, the Seventh Circuit again
concluded that the plaintiffs had adequately pleaded scienter in conformity with the
PSLRA, and adhered to its prior decision reversing the district court’s dismissal. Makor
Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs Inc., 513 F.3d 702, 712 (7th Cir. 2008).

The Supreme Court’s decision in Tellabs laid out the rationale behind its standard,
but stopped short of providing guidance to lower courts on how to apply it. Though
Matrixx is best known for its comprehensive review of materiality, see infra at 87-88, it
also provided helpful guidance in its review of scienter, applying Tellabs’ strong inference
standard to the operative facts of a pharmaceutical case.

20

© WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP



In Matrixx, the plaintiffs alleged that Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. (“Matrixx) and three
of its executive officers failed to disclose reports that one of its core products, Zicam, a
nasal spray which accounted for 70 percent of Matrixx’s sales, was causing anosmia (loss
of smell) in users. See Matrixx, 131 S. Ct. at 1314. The district court granted Matrixx’s
motion to dismiss, holding that the plaintiffs had not alleged any reports showing a
“statistically significant correlation between the use of Zicam and anosmia . ...” 1d. at
1317 (citation omitted). The Ninth Circuit reversed, finding that an allegation of
“statistical significance” was not required to establish materiality. Id.

In a unanimous decision addressing the elements of scienter and materiality, the
Supreme Court in Matrixx affirmed the Ninth Circuit. Acknowledging the precedent set by
Tellabs, the Court reiterated its reading of the PSLRA, i.e., that a complaint adequately
pleads scienter “*only if a reasonable person would deem the inference of scienter cogent
and at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw from the facts
alleged.”” Id. at 1324 (citing Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324). “In making this determination, the
court must review ‘all the allegations holistically.”” Id. (citation omitted). Despite
Matrixx’s arguments that plaintiffs failed to point to statistically significant evidence, the
Supreme Court noted that plaintiffs did not need to allege knowledge of statistically
significant evidence to successfully plead scienter because the defendant had engaged in
numerous activities leading to an inference of recklessness, including hiring a consultant to
review Zicam, convening a panel of physicians, and issuing a press release suggesting that
studies showed no link between Zicam and anosmia. Id. Rather than adopting a bright-
line rule for scienter, the Supreme Court determined that these allegations *““taken
collectively’” gave rise to inference of scienter. Id.

The Second Circuit

In Russo v. Bruce, 777 F. Supp. 2d 505, 510 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), shareholder
plaintiffs filed a complaint alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act against
defendant, a gold-mining company and its individual officers. Plaintiffs contended that,
despite defendants’ “dwindling or nonexistent prospects for success” in securing the
environmental permit required to mine for gold, the alleged fraud induced plaintiffs to
purchase stock at artificially inflated prices. Id. at 511. When the permit was eventually
denied, the defendant company’s share price declined by 45%. 1d. The district court
considered defendants’ motion to dismiss.

In support of its decision to grant defendants’ motion, the district court pointed out
that “allegations that defendants behaved recklessly [are] weakened by their voluntary
disclosure of certain financial problems prior to the deadline to file financial statements.”
Id. at 526-27 (citing Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 164, 176 (2d Cir. 2009)). The district
court noted that the defendants publically disclosed many of the potential difficulties in the
permit application process upon which the plaintiffs’ complaint rested—a candidness that
“undermines an inference of fraudulent intent.” Id. at 526 (citation omitted). The district
court also distinguished itself from Matrixx, observing that a blatantly false representation
did not exist in Russo and that “the most compelling inference is that defendants’ optimism
about the receipt of the Final Permit was not reckless given the progress they made and the
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assurances they received throughout . . . .” Id. at 527. As such, defendants’ motion to
dismiss was granted. Id.

The Third Circuit

In Inst’l Investors Grp. v. Avaya, Inc., 564 F.3d 242 (3d Cir. 2009), the Third
Circuit provided a framework for examining securities fraud claims post-Tellabs, and
emphasized that courts must look to the complaint as a whole, not just particular
allegations, when assessing claims for securities fraud. In Institutional Investors,
shareholders brought a securities fraud class action against Avaya, a company that sold
communications products and services, “alleging defendants made false or misleading
statements about earnings growth potential and pricing pressure . ...” 1d. at 245. The
district court granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss. Id.

On appeal, the Third Circuit considered whether the plaintiffs had adequately
pleaded scienter. The Third Circuit found that “the totality of the facts alleged by
Shareholders here establishes a strong inference of scienter with respect to [defendant’s]
... denials of unusual pricing pressure.” Id. at 269. The plaintiffs “proffer[ed] an array of
circumstantial evidence giving rise to a strong inference that . . . [the] statements were at
least reckless, which is enough to survive a motion to dismiss under the PSLRA.” 1d.
Shareholders also “attempted to support their scienter pleadings with allegations of
defendants’ motive and opportunity to commit fraud.” 1d. at 276. The Third Circuit noted
its pre-Tellabs holdings that “a showing of motive and opportunity” is “an independent
means of establishing scienter.” 1d. However, the Institutional Investors court held that, in
light of Tellabs, allegations of motive and opportunity alone are no longer sufficient to
plead scienter. Id. Quoting Tellabs’ admonition that such allegations “must be considered
collectively,” 551 U.S. at 325, the Third Circuit adduced that because “the significance of
... motive allegations can be ascertained only by reference to the complete complaint, then
a general rule that motive allegations are sufficient—or necessary—is unsound.”
Institutional Investors, 564 F.3d at 277. In that light, the Third Circuit explained, motive
allegations “are not entitled to a special, independent status.” 1d. However, the Third
Circuit also noted that the Second Circuit has continued to treat motive and opportunity
allegations of scienter as a separate category despite Tellabs. Id. at 277 n.51.

The Sixth Circuit

In Ashland, Inc. v. Oppenheimer & Co., 648 F.3d 461 (6th Cir. 2011), the plaintiff
claimed violations of Section 10(b), alleging that the defendant, a securities broker-dealer,
engaged in fraud when it recommended that the plaintiff purchase Auction Rate Securities
(“ARS”). Id. at 465, 468. The plaintiff alleged that the defendant continued to market
ARS as “safe” and “liquid” knowing that the underwriters would not place proprietary bids
on the investment instruments, which would harm the plaintiff’s ability to sell their
position. Id. at 465, 468-69. The district court dismissed the plaintiff’s case with
prejudice, finding that the plaintiff failed to allege scienter with the requisite particularity
under the PSLRA. 1d. at 467. The plaintiff appealed. Id.
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The Sixth Circuit affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the plaintiff’s Section
10(b) claim because the plaintiff’s factual allegations, when considered together, did not
give rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with scienter. 1d. at 470, 472. The
Sixth Circuit noted that under Tellabs’ “entirely collective assessment” the plaintiff must
put forth facts explaining why or how the defendant possessed advanced, non-public
knowledge that the underwriters would jointly exit the market. Id. at 469 (citing Tellabs,
551 U.S. at 326 (2007)); accord Matrixx, 131 S. Ct. at 1324-25 (specifically endorsing,
then engaging in, Tellabs’ holistic scienter examination). In this case, the alleged facts
merely suggested that the defendant knew what might happen if the underwriters left the
market—a seemingly remote possibility. Ashland, 648 F.3d at 470. As such, the Sixth
Circuit held the plaintiff failed to state sufficient facts on which this belief was formed. Id.

In Frank v. Dana Corp., 646 F.3d 954 (6th Cir. 2011), the plaintiffs claimed
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5, alleging that two chief corporate
officers of Dana Corporation (“Dana”) intentionally or recklessly engaged in
misstatements and material omissions which were calculated to artificially boost Dana’s
stock price. Id. at 956-67. Although the defendants continued to project positive growth
for Dana’s automotive supplier business amid rising raw material costs, Dana eventually
announced restated financial earnings and uncovered material weaknesses in internal
controls. Id. at 957.

The defendants moved to dismiss, arguing that the plaintiffs failed to meet the
heightened pleading standard of the PLSRA. 1d. The district court granted the motion,
noting that under the Sixth Circuit’s ruling in Helwig v. Vencor, Inc., 251 F.3d 540, 553
(6th Cir. 2001), it must accept a plaintiff’s inferences of scienter only if those inferences
are the most plausible among competing inferences. Frank, 646 F.3d at 957. The plaintiffs
appealed the district court’s decision. Id. The Sixth Circuit disagreed with the pleading
standard that the district court applied, stating that under Tellabs, the plaintiffs’ inferences
of scienter need not be the most plausible, but only at least as plausible as any other non-
culpable inference. 1d. On remand, the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss a second time, finding that the plaintiffs failed Tellabs’ “at least as compelling”
standard. Id. at 962. The plaintiffs appealed. 1d. at 957.

The Sixth Circuit again disagreed with the district court, noting that under Matrixx,
a court must review the plaintiffs’ allegations “holistically.” Id. at 961. In doing so, the
Sixth Circuit observed that it was “difficult to grasp the thought that [the defendants] really
had no idea that Dana was on the road to bankruptcy” considering rising commodity
prices, decreased product earnings, and a threat to the general industry. Id. at 962.
Accordingly, the Sixth Circuit concluded that “the inference that [the defendants]
recklessly disregarded the falsity of their extremely optimistic statements is at least as
compelling to us as their excuse of failed accounting systems.” Id. Consequently, the
Sixth Circuit reversed the district court’s order granting dismissal. Id. at 964.

The Ninth Circuit

In Sharenow v. Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., 385 F. App’x 714 (9th Cir. 2010),
the plaintiff alleged that Impac’s executives “committed fraud by representing that Impac’s
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underwriting guidelines were strict and that its loans were high-quality, when in fact the
executives were overriding the underwriting guidelines to originate and purchase poor-
quality loans.” Id. at 716. Plaintiffs attempted to plead scienter by using the statements of
five former employees who claimed that Impac’s officers received reports detailing the
poor-quality loans and that they overrode the underwriting guidelines by approving them.
Id.

The Ninth Circuit affirmed the district court’s dismissal, noting the following
deficiencies in the complaint: (1) the allegations of the former employees were of a
general nature, identifying no specific underwriting guidelines and providing no details of
when or how those guidelines were ignored; and (2) the alleged violations were not tied to
the class period. 1d. at 716. Further, the Ninth Circuit held that, even under the holistic
approach of Tellabs, the inference that the defendants intended to deceive investors was
not as strong as the competing inference of non-fraudulent intent. Id. at 716-17. Asa
result, the Ninth Circuit affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the case with prejudice.
Id. at 717.

In In re MRV Commc’ns, Inc. Deriv. Litig., 2010 WL 5313442, at *1 (C.D. Cal.
Dec. 27, 2010), plaintiffs brought a derivative action against MRV in connection with the
alleged secret backdating of stock options for its top directors and officers. Defendants
contended that the complaint failed to allege scienter, citing numerous cases holding that
facts such as a high executive position, committee membership, publication of a
restatement, access to inaccurate accounting figures, and the signing of public filings, do
not on their own establish scienter. Id. at *7.

The district court disagreed with the defendants’ position, holding that the
plaintiffs’ complaint—which pleaded all of the above-referenced facts together—met the
burden required to adequately plead scienter. 1d. at *9 (emphasis added). The district
court clarified that the cases relied upon by the defendants held merely that presence of one
factor alone was insufficient to adequately plead scienter, and did not perform the holistic
evaluation mandated in Tellabs. 1d. at *7-8 (citations omitted). As a result, the district
court held that scienter had been adequately alleged and denied the defendant’s motion to
dismiss the Section 10(b) claims. 1d. at 10.

The Eleventh Circuit

In Waterford Twp. Gen. Emps. Ret. Sys. v. BankUnited Fin. Corp., 2010 WL
1332574, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 30, 2010), the district court granted the defendants” motion
to dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of
the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The lead plaintiffs, purchasers of common stock of
BankUnited Financial Corporation (“BankUnited”), alleged that the defendants, three
senior executive officers of BankUnited, and its primary subsidiary BankUnited FSB,
made numerous false and misleading representations to conceal BankUnited’s unsound
lending practices. Id. at *2-4. Specifically, the plaintiffs alleged that BankUnited relied on
limited or no documentation loans, made an aggressive push to increase the volume of
risky option adjustable rate mortgage loans, failed to adequately reserve for probable loan
losses, and asserted pressure to approve overstated appraisals. 1d. at *3. The bank was
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eventually closed by the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”) and the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation was appointed as receiver. 1d. at *5.

The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants fraudulently understated probable loan
losses. Id. at *16. The district court held that scienter could not be inferred from the
defendants’ representations that BankUnited maintained adequate loan loss reserves
because BankUnited continually increased loan loss provisions in the face of mounting
defaults and delinquencies. Id. Rather than concealing the risky nature of the mortgages it
carried, the “more cogent and compelling” inference was that the defendants were
disclosing the perceived riskiness of the loans to the market. Id. Likewise, the district
court held that the defendants’ allegedly false assertions that BankUnited was “well
capitalized” did not create an inference of scienter because the plaintiffs failed to allege
any facts that the defendants knew or should have known that BankUnited was
undercapitalized prior to the OTS’s demand that it raise more capital. 1d.

Methods of Pleading Scienter: Motive and Opportunity, Conscious
Misbehavior, and Recklessness

As shown above, Tellabs settled the question of how to determine whether a
complaint establishes a “strong inference” of scienter under the PSLRA. Unfortunately,
the Supreme Court declined to resolve whether recklessness is sufficient to meet that
standard. Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 319 n.3 (“The question whether and when recklessness
satisfies the scienter requirement is not presented in this case.”). As a result of this
lingering ambiguity, district and circuit courts have continued to develop their
own standards on pleading scienter. In general, the Second Circuit continues to accept
allegations of motive and opportunity as sufficient to establish scienter in their own right,
while the Ninth, Eleventh, and recently Third Circuits hold that motive and opportunity
allegations without more are incapable of establishing a “strong inference” of scienter.
The remaining circuits to address this issue have been hesitant to draw such bright-lines.

The Second Circuit

Passage of the PSLRA had little effect on scienter pleading in the Second Circuit.
See Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 310 (2d Cir. 2000) (holding that the PSLRA *“did not
change the basic pleading standard for scienter in this circuit”). In the Second Circuit, a
plaintiff can still establish scienter by alleging either:

1. facts showing that defendants had both motive and opportunity to commit fraud; or

2. facts that constitute strong circumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or
recklessness.

Id. at 307; see also, e.g., Ganino v. Citizens Utils. Co., 228 F.3d 154, 168-69 (2d Cir.
2000); Acito v. IMCERA Grp., Inc., 47 F.3d 47, 52 (2d Cir. 1995).

In Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300 (2d Cir. 2000), the Second Circuit held that
allegations of “motives possessed by virtually all corporate insiders” do not suffice to
establish scienter; instead, plaintiffs must “allege that defendants benefited in some
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concrete and personal way from the purported fraud.” 1d. at 307-08. The Second Circuit
also noted other motives it had previously held inadequate to establish motive, including
the desire to maintain a high corporate credit rating and the desire to keep stock prices high
to increase officer compensation. 1d.; accord Shields v. Citytrust Bancorp, Inc., 25 F.3d
1124, 1130 (2d Cir. 1994) (“To allege a motive sufficient to support the inference [of
fraudulent intent], a plaintiff must do more than merely charge that executives aim to
prolong the benefits of the positions they hold.”).

Where motive is not apparent, a plaintiff may still plead scienter by alleging facts
showing conscious misbehavior or recklessness, “‘though the strength of the circumstantial
allegations must be correspondingly greater.”” ECA, Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Trust
of Chi. v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187, 198-99 (2d Cir. 2009) (quoting Kalnit v.
Eichler, 264 F.3d 131, 142 (2d Cir. 2001)). To survive dismissal under this theory, a
plaintiff must show that the defendants acted recklessly—a standard requiring, “at the
least, conduct which is highly unreasonable and which represents an extreme departure
from the standards of ordinary care to the extent that the danger was either known to the
defendant or so obvious that the defendant must have been aware of it.” In re Carter-
Wallace, Inc. Sec. Litig., 220 F.3d 36, 39 (2d Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted).

In Plumbers & Steamfitters Local 773 Pension Fund v. Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce, 694 F. Supp. 2d 287 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the lead plaintiff in a putative class
action alleged that the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (“CIBC”) and four of its
officers violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act by misleading investors
about CIBC’s exposure to subprime residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”) and
collateralized debt obligations (“CDOQOs”). 1d. at 290-91. The plaintiff further alleged that
CIBC failed to disclose that ACA Financial, a “financially unstable” institution, hedged a
substantial portion of CIBC’s fixed income portfolio backed by subprime mortgages. 1d. at
293, 303. In support of its claim, the plaintiff relied on approximately fourteen public
statements made by the defendants between May and December 2007, in which the
defendants generally discussed CIBC’s unhedged exposure to RMBS and CDO losses. 1d.
at 292-95. The district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss the complaint,
finding that the plaintiff had not adequately pleaded scienter. Id. at 290-91.

The district court held that the plaintiff failed to adequately plead scienter under the
four-prong standard articulated by the Second Circuit in Novak. The district court
explained that there are four kinds of deceitful behavior that, if well-pleaded, support a
strong inference that defendants acted with scienter: (1) benefiting in a concrete and
personal way from the purported fraud; (2) engaging in deliberately illegal behavior; (3)
knowing facts or having access to information suggesting that their public statements were
not accurate; or (4) failing to check information they had a duty to monitor. Id. at 298
(citing Novak, 216 F.3d at 311). The district court first determined that the plaintiff failed
to plead any facts suggesting deliberately illegal behavior or that any defendant “benefited
in a concrete and personal way” from misleading investors, noting the complaint’s
incorporation of news releases indicating that CIBC purchased approximately $300 million
of its own stock and three of the four individuals increased their holdings during the class
period. 1d. at 298-99. It would be “nonsensical,” the district court reasoned, “to impute
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dishonest motives to the Individual Defendants when each of them suffered significant
losses in their stock holdings and executive compensation.” Id. at 299.

The plaintiff likewise failed to plead an inference of scienter under the third and
fourth prongs of Novak. To plead that the defendants recklessly disregarded the truth
when making their public statements about CIBC’s exposure to fixed income securities
backed by subprime mortgages, the complaint had to ““specifically identify the reports or
statements’ that [we]re contradictory to the statements made.” Id. (citing Novak, 216 F.3d
at 309). Yet, the complaint “[made] no reference to internal CIBC documents or
confidential sources discrediting Defendants’ [public] assertions,” and the plaintiffs
identified no “specific instances” (using either dates or time frames) in which the
defendants received information contrary to their public statements. Id. at 299-300. The
district court dismissed the plaintiff’s contentions that CIBC’s CEO received contradictory
information because he was “in charge of all CIBC’s activities related to subprime
exposure,” and that the defendants would have been “on notice of the subprime credit
crisis as early as May 2007,” as too general to support an inference of scienter. 1d. at 300.
“[K]nowledge of a general economic trend does not equate to harboring a mental state to
deceive, manipulate, or defraud.” 1d. (citing In re PXRE Grp., Ltd., Sec. Litig., 600 F.
Supp. 2d 510, 540 (S.D.N.Y. 2009)). The district court concluded that the pleadings
illustrated a classic case of inactionable fraud by hindsight: “CIBC, like so many other
institutions, could not have been expected to anticipate the [credit] crisis with the accuracy
Plaintiff enjoys in hindsight.” Id. at 301.

In Gissin v. Endres, 739 F. Supp. 2d 488 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), putative class action
plaintiffs brought claims against senior executives and directors of VeraSun Energy Corp.
(“VeraSun”), a bankrupt ethanol producer, alleging that the defendants made false and
misleading statements about VeraSun’s pricing and hedging practices from March 12,
2008 to September 16, 2008 in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs specifically contended that during the class period the
defendants were aware VeraSun was suffering massive liquidity problems but nonetheless
publicly stated that VeraSun had sufficient cash to meet its financial obligations. 1d. at
499. The district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss, finding that the
plaintiffs failed to adequately plead scienter.

The district court held that the plaintiffs had not adequately pleaded scienter under
either the “motive and opportunity” or the *“conscious misbehavior or recklessness”
standard. First, while the plaintiffs argued that the defendants were motivated in the
aggregate to misrepresent VeraSun’s liquidity in order to maintain a high stock price, they
could not meet the Second Circuit’s standard of individualized pleading for motive and
opportunity requiring allegations of a specific benefit to each individual defendant
stemming from the alleged fraud. Id. at 513. Second, the district court found that the
plaintiffs failed to allege facts supporting a strong inference of conscious misbehavior or
recklessness under Tellabs. Although the plaintiffs” asserted that the defendants were
aware of VeraSun’s liquidity problems when they made public statements to the contrary,
the district court found the pleadings offered a more compelling plausible, non-culpable
explanation for the defendants’ conduct—that “VeraSun attempted to realize its expansion
plans in a declining and volatile market, and then exacerbated its imprudence by locking
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itself into accumulator contracts on a faulty presumption that corn prices would remain
high.” Gissin, 739 F. Supp. 2d at 514. Such claims that were ““essentially grounded on
corporate mismanagement do not adequately plead recklessness.”” 1d. (quoting Inst’l
Investors Grp. v. Avaya, Inc., 564 F.3d 242, 267 n.42 (3d Cir. 2009)). The district court
therefore dismissed the plaintiffs’ claims.

The Ninth Circuit

In contrast to the Second Circuit, the Ninth Circuit has held that “Congress
intended to elevate the pleading requirement above the Second Circuit standard requiring
plaintiffs merely to provide facts showing simple recklessness or a motive to commit fraud
and opportunity to do so.” In re Silicon Graphics, Inc. Sec. Litig., 183 F.3d 970, 974 (9th
Cir. 1999)). Put simply, in a securities class action, “the plaintiffs must show that
defendants engaged in ‘knowing’ or ‘intentional’ conduct . . . . [R]eckless conduct can also
meet this standard ‘to the extent that it reflects some degree of intentional or conscious
misconduct,” or what we have called ‘deliberate recklessness.”” S. Ferry LP, No. 2 v.
Killinger, 542 F.3d 776, 782-83 (9th Cir. 2008) (citing Silicon Graphics, 183 F.3d at 983
(9th Cir. 1999)); see also Glazer Capital Mgmt., LP v. Magistri, 549 F.3d 736, 743 (9th
Cir. 2008) (quoting In re Silicon Graphics, 183 F.3d at 974); In re Read-Rite Corp., Sec.
Litig., 335 F.3d 843, 846 (9th Cir. 2003); Gompper v. VISX, Inc., 298 F.3d 893, 895 (9th
Cir. 2002), abrogated on other grounds by Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 323; DSAM Global Value
Fund v. Altris Software, Inc., 288 F.3d 385, 388-89 (9th Cir. 2002).

The Eleventh Circuit

In the Eleventh Circuit, scienter consists of either the “intent to defraud” or “severe
recklessness.” Edward J. Goodman Life Income Trust v. Jabil Circuit, Inc., 594 F.3d 783,
790 (11th Cir. 2010)). Severe recklessness is “limited to those highly unreasonable
omissions or misrepresentations that involve . . . an extreme departure from the standards
of ordinary care, and that present a danger of misleading buyers or sellers which is either
known to the defendant or is so obvious that the defendant must have been aware of it.”
Mizzaro v. Home Depot, Inc., 544 F.3d 1230, 1238 (11th Cir. 2008)).

The Eleventh Circuit follows the Ninth in rejecting the notion that “allegations of
motive and opportunity to commit fraud, standing alone, are sufficient to establish scienter
in this Circuit.” Bryant v. Avado Brands, Inc., 187 F.3d 1271, 1285 (11th Cir. 1999). This
sentiment was recently reaffirmed in FindWhat Investor Grp. v. FindWhat.com, 658 F.3d
1282 (11th Cir. 2011). There, the plaintiffs brought a class action for violation of Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against an internet commerce company that
offered “pay-per-click” online advertising services. Advertisers paid for such services only
when a user clicked on an online advertisement, and the revenue was split between the
company and the websites on which the advertisement was displayed, or the “distribution
partners.” 1d. at 1291. The plaintiffs alleged that they were damaged when the company’s
stock price dropped after the defendants revealed that the company’s revenue was based in
part on the “click fraud” of its distributors, i.e., clicking on an online advertisement for the
sole purpose of forcing the advertiser to pay for the click. Id. at 1291.
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The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district court’s dismissal because the plaintiffs
failed to adequately plead scienter. Id. at 1299. The court agreed that the defendants’
representations were materially misleading, id. at 1298, but concluded that the plaintiffs’
scienter allegations—i.e., that the defendants “must have known” about the alleged click
fraud of its distribution partners, or that the fraud was “commonly known”—were too
speculative and conclusory to establish scienter. Id. at 1302-03. The Eleventh Circuit also
noted that key omissions and ambiguities in the plaintiffs’ allegations (including the dates
many alleged events transpired) that further undermined an inference of scienter. Id. at
1304.

Significantly, the Eleventh Circuit found the defendants’ alleged motives to meet
revenue expectations insufficient to raise an inference of scienter, reiterating that it had
previously “rejected the notion that ‘allegations of motive and opportunity to commit
fraud, standing alone, are sufficient to establish scienter in this Circuit.”” Id. at 1303
(quoting Bryant v. Avado Brands, Inc., 187 F.3d 1271, 1285 (11th Cir. 1999)).

In Local 703, I.B. of T. Grocery & Food Emps. Welfare Fund v. Regions Fin.
Corp., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 60761 (N.D. Ala. June 7, 2011), the district court denied the
defendants’ motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ Section 10(b) claim under the Exchange Act.
The defendant corporation, a provider of consumer and commercial financial products and
services, and three of its directors and officers allegedly made false and misleading
statements about the internal risk-ratings on loans for real estate and on calculations of
goodwill. Id. at *2. When the defendants reported a net loss “largely driven by a large
charge for impairment of goodwill” that contradicted the defendants’ prior statements, the
stock price declined. 1d. at *15.

Although the statements were made in the context of an unfolding global financial
crisis, the district court held that the plaintiffs had adequately pleaded scienter. 1d. at *25.
When viewing the allegations in the aggregate, the district court found the inference that
the defendants knowingly or recklessly ignored the falsity of their statements in public
filings, calls with analysts, and financial statements was at least as plausible as the
inference that the global financial crisis was the actual cause of the inaccuracies in the
defendants’ statements. Id.

Specifically, the district court found that defendants had a possible motive to inflate
the company’s income because their compensation was tied to company performance. Id.
at *27. The district court also noted that defendants had access to reports showing the true
state of affairs regarding the company’s loans and deteriorating markets. 1d. at *27-29.
The district court also pointed to the company’s sudden and significant increase in loan
loss reserves and goodwill write-down. Id. at *29-30. Finally, the district court
emphasized that defendants signed allegedly false SOX certifications, and that the
company was subject to a Federal Reserve investigation regarding goodwill. 1d. at *30-31.
The district court found these allegations sufficient to create an inference of scienter. 1d. at
*25.

The Third Circuit

Third Circuit scienter jurisprudence largely mirrored that of the Second Circuit
through the passage of the PSLRA. See, e.g., In re Advanta Corp. Sec. Litig., 180 F.3d
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525, 534 (3d Cir. 1999) (noting that the language of the PSLRA closely paralleled the
Second Circuit scienter standard and concluding that “Congress’s use of the Second
Circuit’s language compels the conclusion that the Reform Act establishes a pleading
standard approximately equal in stringency to that of the Second Circuit.”). However, in
the wake of Tellabs, the Third Circuit appears to have joined the Ninth and Eleventh
Circuits in concluding that motive and opportunity is no longer sufficient to establish
scienter on its own:

Our conclusion that “motive and opportunity” may no longer serve as an
independent route to scienter follows also from Tellabs’s [sic] general
instruction to weigh culpable and nonculpable inferences. Individuals not
infrequently have both strong motive and ample opportunity to commit bad
acts—and yet they often forbear, whether from fear of sanction, the dictates
of conscience, or some other influence.

Inst’l Investors Grp. v. Avaya, Inc., 564 F.3d 242, 276-78 (3d Cir. 2009). District courts in
the Third Circuit have followed this holding. E.g., In re Merck & Co. Sec., Deriv. &
“ERISA” Litig., 2011 WL 3444199, at *20 (D.N.J. Aug. 8, 2011).

Remaining Circuits

Generally, the First, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, and Tenth Circuits have
taken a more middle-of-the-road approach with regard to scienter, reasoning that
“Congress chose neither to adopt nor reject particular methods of pleading scienter . . . but
instead only required plaintiffs to plead facts that together establish a strong inference of
scienter.” Ottmann v. Hanger Orthopedic Grp., Inc., 353 F.3d 338, 345 (4th Cir. 2003);
accord Fla. State Bd. of Admin. v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 270 F.3d 645, 659-60 (8th Cir.
2001); Nathenson v. Zonagen, Inc., 267 F.3d 400, 411-12 (5th Cir. 2001); City of Phila. v.
Fleming Cos., 264 F.3d 1245, 1261-63 (10th Cir. 2001); Helwig v. Vencor, Inc., 251 F.3d
540, 550-52 (6th Cir. 2001) (en banc); Greebel v. FTP Software, Inc., 194 F.3d 185, 195-
97 (1st Cir. 1999). However, each of these Circuits do vary somewhat in their approach to
examining a securities fraud complaint. Recent representative cases from these
jurisdictions are below.

The First Circuit

In City of Dearborn Heights Act 345 Police & Fire Ret. Sys. v. Waters Corp., 632
F.3d 751 (1st Cir. 2011), investors brought a securities fraud class action under Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against Waters Corp. (“Waters”) and two of its
senior executives. 1d. at 753. The complaint alleged that “defendants intentionally or
recklessly failed to disclose a . . . change in Japanese regulations that predictably reduced
demand for Waters’ products and services in Japan, a significant market for the company.”
Id. The plaintiffs claimed there was a strong inference of scienter based on the company’s
omissions and the fact that the defendants sold considerable shares of stock during the
class period. Id. The district court dismissed the action, and the plaintiffs appealed.
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The First Circuit noted that the scienter element of a 10b-5 action may be satisfied
“by showing that the defendant engaged in ‘intentional or willful conduct designed to
deceive or defraud investors by controlling or artificially affecting the price of securities.””
Id. at 757 (quoting Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 199 (1976)). However, the
First Circuit also recognized that the PSLRA mandates a special pleading standard for
scienter and requires that a complaint give rise to a “strong inference” of scienter for each
alleged act or omission. Id. at 757. The court found that the key question was not whether
defendants had knowledge of undisclosed facts, but whether defendants knew or should
have known that failure to disclose would likely mislead investors. Id. at 758.

The First Circuit applied an objective test and found that “the inference of a
nonculpable explanation for the lack of disclosure is much stronger than the inference of
scienter, even viewing scienter as involving either intentionality or extreme recklessness.”
1d. The court found that defendants reasonably did not expect the change in Japanese
regulations to significantly impact their worldwide sales, as this was a regulation change in
only one of the company’s many worldwide markets. Id. at 759. The First Circuit also
noted that securities fraud cannot be based on a company’s failure to disclose all non-
public information. Id. at 760.

The Sixth Circuit

In Local 295/Local 851 IBT Emp’r Grp. Pension Trust & Welfare Fund v. Fifth
Third Bancorp., 731 F. Supp. 2d 689 (S.D. Ohio 2010), the plaintiffs claimed violations of
Sections 10(b) and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as well as Rule 10b-5, alleging that
Fifth Third Bancorp. (“Bancorp.”) issued material misrepresentations and omissions by
stating that it followed conservative lending policies and had adequate capital reserves
when in reality the defendants aggressively began originating risky sub-prime loans. Id. at
694. The defendants were engaged in originating sub-prime loans, for which the plaintiffs
alleged that Bancorp. did not set aside adequate loan loss reserves. 1d. After the
defendants announced that Bancorp. would have to raise capital through new securities
offerings, cutting its dividends, and selling off non-core business assets, the price of the
company’s stock declined. Id. at 710.

The defendants moved to dismiss for failure to raise a sufficient inference of
scienter under the PSLRA.. 1d. at 716. The district court granted the motion for several
reasons. First, the district court found the plaintiffs’ failure to establish any of the factors
listed in Helwig v. Vencor, Inc., 251 F.3d 540, 552 (6th Cir. 2001), while not dispositive, a
serious omission. Id. at 727. Second, the district court held that plaintiffs failed to
demonstrate motive or opportunity to commit securities fraud, noting that the plaintiffs’
confidential witnesses failed to connect the defendants with the alleged misconduct. 1d.
Third, the district court noted that the allegedly concealed information was actually
reported, which cut strongly against a finding of scienter. 1d. Hence, the district court
found that the allegations raised a more compelling inference that the decrease in the value
of the company’s shares was caused by a decline in the larger credit market and not fraud.
Id.
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The Seventh Circuit

In Plumbers & Pipefitters Local Union No. 630 Pension-Annuity Trust Fund v.
Allscripts-Misys Healthcare Solutions, Inc., 778 F. Supp. 2d 858 (N.D. Ill. 2011), investors
brought a class action alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) against the defendant
Allscripts and its executive officers for alleged misstatements in connection with delayed
release of a software product. Id. at 863. The district court held that to survive a motion to
dismiss, plaintiffs did not need to plead facts related to defendant’s motive for making
alleged misstatements. Id. at 885. The defendants argued that the plaintiffs could not meet
the PSLRA’s pleading requirements without some allegation as to motive, but the district
court responded that Seventh Circuit decisions “have not assigned a special significance to
the absence of motive allegations” and that this absence was not fatal. Id.

Pleading Scienter Through Motive and Opportunity

Executive Compensation
The Second Circuit

In Coyne v. Gen. Elec. Co., 2010 WL 2836730 (D. Conn. July 15, 2010), aff’d sub
nom. Inter-Local Pension Fund GCC/IBT v. Gen. Elec. Co., 445 F. App’x 368 (2d Cir.
2011), the lead plaintiffs in a purported class action sued General Electric Company
(“GE”), as well as GE’s CEO and CFO for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants made false and
misleading statements between December 2007 and March 2008 when projecting, among
other things, a 10% increase in earnings for 2008. Id. at *3. Following these positive
earnings projections, GE announced in April 2008 that it had “failed to meet expectations”
in the first quarter of 2008. 1d. at *2. GE’s stock price dropped immediately following the
announcement. 1d. at *3.

The district court dismissed the plaintiffs’ complaint for failure to identify any
actionable statement or omission by the defendants and for failure to allege that the
defendants acted with scienter. 1d. at *5, *10. Reviewing the district court’s dismissal de
novo, the Second circuit affirmed, agreeing that the plaintiffs adequately pleaded a strong
inference of scienter. Inter-Local Pension Fund GCC/IBT, 445 F. App’x at 370.

In support of their scienter allegations, the plaintiffs alleged that the defendant
officers received performance-based compensation tied to GE’s stock price and that
Immelt, who had underperformed his predecessor, “may have felt pressure to generate
greater returns for shareholders.” 1d. The Second Circuit found these allegations
insufficient to establish scienter via motive and opportunity because such motives are
common to most corporate officers. 1d. Moreover, the absence of motive to commit fraud
was “underscored by the fact that [the defendants’] misstatements concerning [GE’s]
quarterly earnings prospects were made no more than a few weeks before GE would
inevitably be required to report its quarterly earnings to the market.” 1d. Thus, the
plaintiffs’ pleadings failed to suggest how the defendants could “*benefit[] in a concrete
and personal way’” from withholding earnings information that would be revealed shortly.
1d. (quoting Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 311 (2d Cir. 2000)).
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In Newman v. Family Mgmt. Corp., 748 F. Supp. 2d 299 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the
plaintiffs, limited partner investors in the FM Low Volatility Fund (“FM Fund”), a fund
investing in “Feeder Funds” which in turn invested with Bernard L. Madoff Securities
LLC (“Madoff”), brought claims against Family Management Corporation (“FMC”), an
investment adviser for FM Fund, and various other defendants associated with the FM
Fund and the Feeder Funds. Id. at 302-03, 305. The plaintiffs brought claims against the
defendants under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and under New York State
law. The district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss, holding, inter alia, that
the plaintiffs had not adequately pleaded scienter. Id. at 311. The plaintiffs alleged that
the FMC defendants were “willfully blind to the numerous red flags” indicating that
Madoff was a fraud and “maotivated by their own self-interest in obtaining exorbitant and
unique fees and commissions.” Id. at 309 (internal quotation marks omitted). The district
court rejected this argument as “misguided” because the plaintiffs failed to allege that the
defendants “benefited in some concrete and personal way from the purported fraud.” 1d.
(quoting ECA, Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Trust of Chi. v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553
F.3d 187, 198 (2d. Cir. 2009)). The district court held that the plaintiffs could not raise a
strong inference of scienter by alleging that the defendants benefited from “fees of 1.4%”
because plaintiffs had not demonstrated that those fees were exorbitant or in excess of
industry standards and “[t]he desire to maintain high compensation in such circumstances
does not constitute motive for the purposes of [the scienter] inquiry.” Id. at 309 (citing
ECA, 553 F.3d at 197).

In Inre SLM Corp. Sec. Litig., 740 F. Supp. 2d 542 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the lead
plaintiff in the putative class action lawsuit sued the student loan provider SLM
Corporation (“Sallie Mae”) and two of its senior officers, Albert Lord and Charles
Andrews, under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, alleging that between
January 18, 2007 and January 23, 2008, the defendants made misleading statements in
SEC filings, press releases and conference calls about Sallie Mae’s financial performance
to inflate the company’s share price. Specifically, the plaintiff averred that Sallie Mae
“lowered its borrowing criteria to increase its portfolio of private [education] loans, hid
defaults by changing its forbearance policy, and inflated profits through inadequate loan
loss reserves.” 1d. at 549.

The district court held that the plaintiff had adequately pleaded scienter as to Sallie
Mae and Lord by pleading motive and opportunity under the Second Circuit’s two-prong
standard. First, because Lord and Andrews were in the highest positions of authority at
Sallie Mae, the district court found they had the opportunity to commit fraud. Id. at 557
(citing San Leandro Emergency Med. Grp. Profit Sharing Plan v. Philip Morris Cos., 75
F.3d 801, 813 (2d Cir. 1996)). But on the pleadings, only Lord possessed a corresponding
motive. The plaintiff alleged that Lord was motivated by a “concrete and personal benefit”
to inflate Sallie Mae’s share price because under a merger with J.C. Flower & Co., Lord
would receive an approximately $225 million cash payment and Lord made “unusual”
stock sales, liquidating 97% of his Sallie Mae holdings during the class period. 1d. 557-58.
The district court found these allegations, coupled with the allegation that the defendants
sought to inflate Sallie Mae’s share price to avoid financial risk under its equity forward
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contracts, “sufficiently concrete to give rise to an inference that Lord possessed the intent
to defraud shareholders.” Id. at 557. The district court further held that this motive and
opportunity applied to Sallie Mae because the scienter of management-level employees can
be attributed to corporate defendants. Id. (citing In re Marsh & McLennan Cos. Sec. L.itig.,
501 F. Supp. 2d 452, 481 (S.D.N.Y. 2006)).

The Seventh Circuit

In Greer v. Advanced Equities, Inc., 683 F. Supp. 2d 761 (N.D. Ill. 2010), the
plaintiffs alleged that two officers of defendant Advanced Equities, Inc. (“AEI”") advised
them to invest through a private placement with Pixelon, Inc. (“Pixelon”), a company run
by a convicted embezzler and fugitive. 1d. at 764-65. The plaintiffs relied on statements
by an AEI officer that AEI had worked with Pixelon for several months, that AEI would
have members on the Pixelon board, and that AEI had access to Pixelon’s books and
records. Id. at 764.

The district court dismissed the plaintiffs’ first amended complaint for failure to
allege scienter with particularity, and the defendants moved to dismiss plaintiffs’ second
amended complaint (“SAC”). Id. at 764. The district court found that the changes in the
SAC were “simply cosmetic and fail[ed] to properly address the substantive requirement
that the complaint must create a strong inference of scienter with respect to each individual
defendant.” Id. at 774 (emphasis added). For example, the plaintiffs changed references to
“the defendants” in the first complaint to state the individuals named in the SAC. Id. The
plaintiffs’ allegations that the defendants personally benefited from inducing investments
through commissions and through increases in the value in their stock shares were
similarly insufficient to state a claim. Id. at 774. The district court made clear that “simple
allegations of financial motive do not necessarily establish scienter.” Id. at 775. If the
court were to find such allegations sufficient, “disgruntled investor suits would multiply
exponentially and Congress’ intent in passing the stringent pleading requirements of the
PSLRA would be significantly undermined.” Id. The plaintiff’s allegations of motive
were therefore insufficient, and the defendants’ motion to dismiss was granted. 1d. at 777.

The Ninth Circuit

In In re XenoPort, Inc. Sec. Litig., 2011 WL 6153134 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 12, 2011),
investors brought suit under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) alleging misstatements on calls with
analysts in connection with development of a drug. Id. at *1. The plaintiffs alleged that
the defendants were motivated to inflate the company’s stock price to ensure that a
secondary offering of stock would be successful and to increase their compensation under
the company’s corporate bonus plan. 1d. at *5. The district court stated that “corporate
bonuses, even those explicitly tied to financial performance or stock price, have only
limited probative value as to scienter.” 1d. To create a strong inference of scienter, the
court continued, plaintiffs must show a “strong correlation” between the company’s
financials and compensation, which requires plaintiffs to plead facts demonstrating how
closely the company’s financials effected compensation. Id. The facts pleaded, on the
other hand, showed that the defendants received their bonuses months before the secondary
offering occurred, that their bonuses were mostly based on internal performance measures,
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and that the defendants received their bonuses in the form of stock. Id. Finding that
“plaintiff ha[d] not articulated a reason defendants would knowingly hold on to allegedly
inflated shares,” the district court held that the alleged facts, taken together, failed to
adequately plead scienter. 1d.

The Eleventh Circuit

In Phila. Fin. Mgmt. of San Francisco, LLC v. DJSP Enter., Inc., 2011 WL
4591541 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 30, 2011), the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The defendants included DJSP Enterprises, Inc. (“DJSP”),
a publicly-traded company that provided processing services for residential mortgage
foreclosures and related matters, David J. Stern, its President, CEO, and Chairman, and
Kumar Gursahaney, its Executive Vice President and CFO. Id. at *1. The plaintiffs,
investors in DJSP, alleged that the defendants made numerous material misrepresentations
regarding their business operations and financial prospects, which harmed them when
DJSP’s stock value dramatically declined. 1d. at *8.

The plaintiffs alleged that Stern intentionally concealed the downturn in DJSP’s
foreclosure processing business because he had a particular financial motive to portray
DJSP’s business prospects in a positive light. Id. at *17. Pursuant to conditions on
warrants held by DJSP, the company needed a sustained increase in the value of DJSP’s
shares in order to exercise these options, which would provide Stern with substantial
financial gains. Id. Although Stern had a financial incentive to conceal DJSP’s downturn,
the district court rejected the plaintiffs’ allegations that this incentive established motive
and opportunity to commit fraud. 1d. The district court pointed to additional factual
allegations undermining the plaintiffs’ motive argument, including the allegations that
Stern had limited knowledge of the cause for the slowdown in DJSP’s core business and
did not attempt to sell his equity interest in DJSP’s processing business. 1d. Accordingly,
these facts did not create an inference that Stern had a motive to fraudulently conceal the
downturn in foreclosures. 1d.

Appearance of Stability/Profitability
The Second Circuit

In In re Sanofi-Aventis Sec. Litig., 774 F. Supp. 2d 549 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), the
district court addressed the defendants’ motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ claims for
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The investor
plaintiffs alleged that the defendants, pharmaceutical company Sanofi-Aventis SA
(*Sanofi”) and seven of its executives, made materially misleading statements regarding
the commercial viability of rimonabant, an obesity drug. Id. at 556. The United States
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) directed the defendants to assess the link between
rimonabant and suicidality, and the information obtained eventually led to the FDA
Advisory Committee’s recommendation that the FDA deny Sanofi’s New Drug
Application, which Sanofi withdrew before it was denied. Id. at 558-59.
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The district court held that the defendants’ alleged motivation to conceal the link
between rimonabant and suicidality—to increase sales and obtain approval for the drug
outside of the United States before the truth about the drug emerged—did not create an
inference of scienter because the desire to have a drug application approved can be
ascribed to any pharmaceutical company and the desire to maximize revenue can be
ascribed to any for-profit company. Id. 570. To the district court, neither motive was
“*sufficiently concrete’” to allege scienter. Id. (quoting Chill v. Gen. Elec. Co., 101 F.3d
263, 268 (2d Cir. 1996)).

Insider Stock Sales
The First Circuit

In City of Dearborn Heights Act 345 Police & Fire Ret. Sys. v. Waters Corp., 632
F.3d 751 (1st Cir. 2011), investors brought a securities fraud class action under Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against Waters Corp. (“Waters”) and two of its
senior executives. 1d. at 753. The complaint alleged that the “defendants intentionally or
recklessly failed to disclose a . . . change in Japanese regulations that predictably reduced
demand for Waters’ products and services in Japan, a significant market for the company.”
Id. The plaintiffs claimed there was a strong inference of scienter based on the company’s
omissions and the fact that the defendants sold considerable shares of stock during the
class period. Id. The district court dismissed the action, and the plaintiffs appealed.

The First Circuit was not swayed by plaintiffs’ insider trading allegations. While
noting that “allegations of insider trading may offer some support for inferences of
scienter,” the First Circuit still held that the complaint did not properly allege scienter. Id.
at 760. The First Circuit found that the trading by one defendant was much less than he
was allowed during the class period (only 4.82% of the shares he could have sold), and
found with respect to another defendant that plaintiffs failed to allege “unusual” trading
activity during the period where the defendant sold 7% and 22% of his available shares in
the third and fourth quarters, respectively. Since the plaintiffs failed to allege that these
sales were not normal trading patterns for this defendant, the First Circuit held that the
action was properly dismissed. 1d. at 761.

The Second Circuit

In Plumbers & Pipefitters Local Union No. 630 Pension-Annuity Trust Fund v.
Arbitron Inc., 741 F. Supp. 2d 474 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), investors asserted securities fraud
allegations against Arbitron, Inc. (“Arbitron), a firm engaged in audience measurement
services for radio stations, as well as Arbitron’s CEO Stephen Morris and CFO Sean
Creamer. The complaint alleged that between July 19, 2007 and November 26, 2007, the
defendants made false and materially misleading statements or omissions about Arbitron’s
planned rollout of its Portable People Meter (“PPM”) (an electronic device that identifies
the radio broadcasts one is listening to) in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. 1d. at 477. The defendants moved to dismiss the complaint
for failure to state a securities fraud claim. The district court granted dismissal of the
claims against Creamer with prejudice, holding that the plaintiffs had not established
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scienter under either the “motive and opportunity” or the “recklessness” standard. The
district court denied dismissal of claims against Morris and Arbitron, however, holding
that the plaintiffs had adequately pleaded recklessness as to Morris and corporate scienter
as to Arbitron. Id. at 490-91.

The plaintiffs attempted to plead scienter via motive and opportunity, alleging that
seven high-level Arbitron insiders, including Creamer and Morris, engaged in insider
trading during the class period. Id. at 482, 488. The plaintiffs claimed that these trades
amounted to over $8.9 million worth of Arbitron common stock during the class period,
that some insiders sold as much as 40% of their Arbitron holdings, and that the majority of
insider sales occurred within a month of Arbitron’s announcement that it would delay
commercialization of PPM. Id. at 482. The district court observed that “a complaint that
seeks to base scienter on a corporate insider’s sale of his or her own stock must show . . .
‘unusual’ insider sales,” which could be measured by the following factors: (1) the amount
of profit from the sales; (2) the portion of stockholdings sold; (3) the change in volume of
insider sales; and (4) the number of insiders selling. Id. at 488 (citing In re Scholastic
Corp. Sec. Litig., 252 F.3d 63, 74-75 (2d Cir. 2001)).

The district court concluded that the plaintiffs’ “minimal” allegations that Creamer
made one sale a month before the allegedly suspicious trading began, “selling a slight
0.7% of his shares for $16,904 . . . lack[ed] any indicia of unusual insider trading . . ..” Id.
The district court also found the plaintiffs’ unusual insider trading allegations against
Morris “insubstantial” because, although Morris had sold over $1.3 million in Arbitron
common stock, those shares represented just 6.6% of Morris’ holdings and “were made in
such a regular pattern—6,724 or 6,725 shares once a month at the beginning of each
month—that they [could not] be called “unusual.”” Id. at 490-91. Thus, the district court
held that the plaintiff failed to plead scienter via insider trading during the class period.
See id. at 488, 490-91.

The Third Circuit

In In re Radian Sec. Litig., 2010 WL 1767195 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 30, 2010), plaintiff
shareholders brought suit under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5,
alleging that the defendants (Radian Group, Inc. and its officers) made materially false and
misleading statements regarding Radian’s investment in Credit Based Asset Servicing and
Securitization L.L.C. (“C-BASS”), a mortgage investment and servicing company
specializing in subprime residential mortgage assets and securities, and that “this deception
caused Radian’s shares to decline in value . ...” 1d. at *1. The defendants moved to
dismiss the complaint, and the district court granted the motion.

The district court held that the plaintiff’s allegations of insider trading were
insufficient to establish scienter on the part of the defendants. Id. at *12. The court found
that the plaintiff’s allegations in this respect failed to: (1) refute the court’s findings of a
more compelling, nonculpable explanation; (2) include information about the defendants’
trading history; and (3) refute that trading was consistent with the defendants’ prior trading
history. Id. at *11. The district court also found that the plaintiffs failed to adequately
plead scienter with respect to the defendants’ aggregate stock sales, noting that the
defendants collectively retained over 88% of their Radian securities during the class period
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and that the complaint failed “to allege with particularity how and when the defendants
knew that their investment . . . was impaired.” Id. at *12.

The Fourth Circuit

In In re Coventry Healthcare, Inc. Sec. Litig., 2011 WL 1230998 (D. Md. Mar. 30,
2011), the defendants moved to dismiss the plaintiffs’ 10b-5 class action for failure to
adequately plead scienter. 1d. at *8. The district court recognized that Fourth Circuit case
law allowed evidence of insider trading to plead scienter if the trading is “unusual or
suspicious.” 1d. at *9 (quoting Teachers’ Ret. Sys. of La. v. Hunter, 477 F.3d 162, 184
(4th Cir. 2007)). In this vein, the plaintiffs alleged that the individual defendants sold
“more than 314,000 shares of Coventry stock for proceeds of nearly $18 million [during a
five-week period] . . . the most active trading period in the Individual Defendants’ history.
Id. However, the district court found that such allegations of heavy trading or profit alone
would not satisfy the element of scienter. 1d. The court also thought it “important to
highlight” that “insider trading supports a strong inference of scienter, but does not
necessarily equate to a finding that scienter has adequately been pled.” Id. The district
court thus granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss in relevant part. 1d. at *10.

The Seventh Circuit

In Garden City Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. Anixter Int’l, Inc., 2011 WL 1303387 (N.D. III.
Mar. 31, 2011), investors brought a class action against Anixter International, Inc.
(“Anixter”) and its executives alleging misstatements and omissions that artificially
inflated Anixter’s stock price in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
Id. at *1. The defendants moved to dismiss on several grounds, including failure to plead
scienter. Id. Considering the motion to dismiss, the district court rejected the notion that
the defendants’ trades from outside the class period were irrelevant to scienter, finding
instead that “the opposite is true.” 1d. at *13. Under Pugh v. Tribune Co., 521 F.3d 686,
695 (7th Cir. 2008), a plaintiff may establish scienter by alleging facts that show unusual
or suspicious trading within the class period. Id. at *13. Therefore, forms showing trades
made outside the class period are relevant to determining whether the trades are unusual in
context. Id. at *14. The plaintiffs only provided information from within the class period,
alleging that the trades were suspicious in timing and in amount, but the district court
stated that it could not evaluate those claims without comparative information from outside
the class period. 1d. at *30. The defendants, on the other hand, provided public filings
from outside the class period showing that the defendants sold no more shares during the
period than in each of the two prior years. 1d. at *31. In light of this, the district court
dismissed plaintiffs’ claims. Id.

The Ninth Circuit

In In re MannKind Sec. Actions, 2011 WL 6327089 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 16, 2011),
investors brought a class action alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) stemming
from alleged misstatements indicating that the FDA had pre-approved MannKind
Corporation’s drug testing protocol for a new product. Id. at *1. Later, the FDA sent a
Complete Response Letter (“CRL”) to the company refusing to approve the product, which
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the company failed to disclose to investors. Id. at *2. The company continued testing the
products and making positive statements to the public, but eventually received a second
CRL that it later disclosed to the public, after which the stock dropped in price. Id. at *4-6.
The defendant moved to dismiss contending, inter alia, that the plaintiffs’ allegations of
motive failed to sufficiently plead scienter. 1d. at *1, *13. The plaintiffs alleged that one
of the individual defendants sold 10.5% of his stock holdings after receiving the second
CRL, but before that information was released to the public. Id. at *14.

The district court noted the three factors that the Ninth Circuit had identified as
relevant to the suspiciousness of a stock sale: *“(1) the amount and percentage of shares
sold by insiders; (2) the timing of the sales; and (3) whether the sales were consistent with
the insider’s prior trading history.” Id. (citing Ronconi v. Larkin, 253 F.3d 423, 435 (9th
Cir. 2001)). Considering these factors, the district court found that the plaintiffs’
allegations failed to create a strong inference of scienter, emphasizing that the sales were
made pursuant to a pre-determined 10b5-1 trading plan—a fact the plaintiffs failed to
rebut. Id. at *14. Nonetheless, the scienter element was ultimately established on other
grounds and the defendants’ motion to dismiss was denied. Id. at *18.

The Tenth Circuit

In In re Thornburg Mortg., Inc. Sec. Litig., 695 F. Supp. 2d 1165 (D.N.M. 2010),
investor plaintiffs brought a putative class action for violations of Rule 10b-5 against
Thornburg Mortgage, Inc. (“TMI”), a mortgage company, and its officers. Id. at 1173.
The plaintiffs alleged, inter alia, that Larry Goldstone, TMI’s COO (and after December
18, 2007, its CEO), had made false and materially misleading statements regarding the
types of loans TMI had originated and that the other officers were liable as control persons
under Section 20(a). Id. at 1176-78. The defendants moved to dismiss, arguing that their
purchase of more than $25 million dollars’ worth of TMI stock (most of which at its peak
price), showed a lack of motive to fraudulently inflate the stock price of the company. Id.
at 1194-95. They further argued that because the plaintiffs did not allege that the
defendants gained anything from the alleged fraud, the strong inference of scienter
necessary to support a 10b-5 action was negated. Id.

The district court recognized that motive is an element to consider in the scienter
analysis, but stated that “lack of insider trading [does not] always negate[] or weaken[] an
inference of scienter” and that a lack of motive “is not fatal to an allegation of scienter
under the PSLRA.” Id. at 1194. The court continued that, regardless of the fact that a lack
of motive is not dispositive in a scienter analysis, in this case there was a motive: survival
of the company. 1d. The district court stated that because many of the defendants already
held a substantial amount of interest in TMI, it was plausible to infer that they bought the
stock when they did to inject capital into the company and increase public confidence. 1d.

The Eleventh Circuit

In City of Pontiac Gen. Emp. Ret. Sys. v. Schweitzer-Mauduit Int’l, Inc., 806 F.
Supp. 2d 1267 (N.D. Ga. 2011), the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action, which alleged violations of Sections 10(b) and
20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs were shareholders in
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Schweitzer-Maduit International, Inc. (“Schweitzer), which supplied tobacco products to
tobacco companies internationally. Id. at 1270. The plaintiffs alleged that the company
and two of its directors and officers engaged in a fraudulent scheme to artificially inflate
the company’s stock price by misleading the market about: (1) Schweitzer’s relationship
with one of its largest customers; (2) the strength of Schweitzer’s intellectual property
protections; and (3) pressures Schweitzer faced from European competitors. 1d.

The plaintiffs alleged that scienter could be inferred from the substantial stock sales
by one of the individual defendants during the class period. Id. at 1295. The district court
explained that in order to create an inference of scienter, the plaintiffs must provide a
meaningful trading history for the purposes of comparison to the stock sales alleged. Id. at
1296. Since the plaintiffs failed to provide information on the defendant’s trading history,
the district court could not determine whether the sales during the class period were
unusual or suspicious. Id. In addition, the district court found the plaintiffs’ allegation that
only one of the two individual defendants engaged in suspicious stock sales (although both
were allegedly knowledgeable about the company’s impending business problems) to
further undercut an inference of scienter. 1d.

In Waterford Twp. Gen. Emps. Ret. Sys. v. BankUnited Fin. Corp., 2010 WL
1332574 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 30, 2010), the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The lead plaintiffs, purchasers of common stock of
BankUnited Financial Corporation (“BankUnited”), alleged that the defendants, three
senior executive officers of BankUnited, and its primary subsidiary, BankUnited FSB,
made numerous false and misleading representations to conceal BankUnited’s unsound
lending practices. Id. at *1. Specifically, the plaintiffs alleged that BankUnited relied on
limited or no documentation loans, made an aggressive push to increase the volume of
risky option adjustable rate mortgage loans, failed to adequately reserve for probable loan
losses, and asserted pressure to approve overstated appraisals. 1d. The bank was
eventually closed by the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”) and the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation was appointed as receiver. 1d. at *5.

The plaintiffs alleged that scienter could be inferred from the individual
defendant’s insider stock sales during the class period. 1d. at *14. The plaintiffs
contended that the gross proceeds from the defendant’s pre-class period stock sales were
about 60% less than each of the sales during the class period. Id. The district court held
that the plaintiffs failed to allege how the sales were suspiciously timed because the sales
occurred prior to the OTS investigation, which allegedly first alerted the defendants to
unreported risks in their lending practices. Id. Further, the plaintiffs failed to specify the
proportion of the defendant’s stock sold, compared to the proportion that was held during
the relevant time period. Id. Accordingly, the district court held that these allegations
lacked the necessary particularity to create an inference of scienter. Id.
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Desire to Complete Acquisitions
The Second Circuit

In Engstrom v. Elan Corp., 2011 WL 4946434 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 18, 2011), the
plaintiff brought claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-
5 against the defendants, alleging that they intentionally failed to inform the public about a
“secret” provision in a relevant contract. 1d. at *4. The plaintiff represented purchasers of
American Depository Shares (“ADSs”) of defendant Elan Corporation (“Elan”). Id. at *1.
The defendant, a biotechnology company, entered into an agreement with Biogen to
develop and finance a drug. Id.

After the defendant was faced with liquidity issues the defendant entered into a
separate agreement with Johnson & Johnson (“J&J”). Id. at *2. The J&J Agreement
contained an option permitting J&J to finance the defendant’s purchase of Biogen’s rights
to the drug. 1d. at *2. Following a press release announcing J&J’s option, the price of the
defendant’s ADSs increased. 1d.

However, Biogen sent a letter to the defendant complaining that the defendant
delegated an obligation to J&J that violated the Biogen Agreement. Id. at *3. The
defendant sought a declaratory judgment that the J&J Agreement did not breach the
Biogen Agreement, which the district court denied. 1d. at *3. Consequently, the defendant
renegotiated its contract with J&J. 1d. at *4. However, because of the elimination of the
option, J&J agreed to invest only $885 million, rather than $1 billion. 1d. at *4. As such,
the price of the defendant’s ADSs declined. Id.

The plaintiff alleged that the defendant did not disclose the “secret” option to
“*coerce Biogen into acceding to the J&J Agreement.”” Id. at *2. The plaintiff further
asserted that the defendant knew that Biogen also needed a purchaser, and this agreement
“scare[d] away any potential purchasers of Biogen.” 1d. at *8.

The defendant moved to dismiss for failure to sufficiently plead a strong inference
of scienter. Id. at *1. The district court granted the motion. Id. at *1, *7. The court noted
that while the artificial inflation of stock prices in order to acquire another company may in
some circumstances be sufficient for scienter, the plaintiff in Engstrom claimed only an
intentional breach of contract, rather than an inflation of stock price. 1d. at *9. The district
court found an inference that the defendant sought to secure immediate financing more
compelling, particularly because the defendant “stood to lose nearly all of its revenue from
a breach.” 1d.

In In re Bank of Am. Corp. Sec., Deriv., & ERISA Litig., 2011 WL 3211472
(S.D.N.Y. July 29, 2011), the district court granted in part a motion to dismiss claims
brought pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiff
investors alleged that the defendants, Bank of America Corporation (“BofA”), its former
CEO Kenneth D. Lewis, and its former CFO Joe L. Price, made material misstatements
and omissions related to BofA’s acquisition of Merrill Lynch & Co. (“Merrill”). Id. at *1.

The plaintiffs contended that the defendants failed to adequately disclose Merrill’s
deteriorating financial condition in the fourth quarter of 2008 prior to obtaining
shareholder approval of the acquisition. Id. at *1-2. The district court held that the
plaintiffs failed to adequately allege scienter based on Lewis’s alleged desire to acquire
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Merrill and to retain his position as CEO, since they failed to allege that Lewis or Price
could have personally profited from either the delay or closure of the Merrill transaction.
Id. at *4. Further, despite the plaintiffs’ allegation that the United States Secretary of the
Treasury, Henry Paulson, threatened to terminate BofA’s management if Merrill was not
acquired, the district court found allegations of motive to ““prolong the benefits of holding
corporate office’” insufficient to support an inference of scienter. Id. (quoting Novak v.
Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 307 (2d Cir. 2000)).

Desire to Maintain Financial Performance
The Second Circuit

In Local No. 38 Int’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers Pension Fund v. Am. Express Co., 724
F. Supp. 2d 447 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), aff’d, 430 F. App’x 63 (2d Cir. 2011), the lead plaintiff,
a pension fund, brought a putative class action against American Express Company
(“Amex”) and two of its officers alleging that the defendants misled investors about
Amex’s underwriting guidelines and exposure to delinquent credit card holder payments in
violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Specifically, the lead plaintiff
alleged that in 2007, when the economy was deteriorating and Amex was facing losses, the
two officer defendants made a series of oral misrepresentations about Amex’s underwriting
guidelines, the credit quality of the company’s portfolio, and its level of loss reserves. Id.
at 453-55. The district court held that the plaintiff failed to plead facts establishing scienter
and dismissed the claims. 1d. at 464. The Second Circuit affirmed.

In evaluating whether the lead plaintiff pleaded facts giving rise to a “strong
inference of scienter” under Tellabs, the district court first considered whether the
defendants had “benefited in a concrete and personal way from the purported fraud,” and
determined that because the only motive identified by the plaintiff was the defendants’
desire to maintain a strong credit rating, lead plaintiff had not satisfied the “strong
inference” standard. Local No. 38, 724 F. Supp. 2d at 459 (citing Novak v. Kasaks, 216
F.3d 300, 311 (2d Cir. 2000)). The district court reasoned that “[t]he desire to maintain a
strong credit rating, possessed by nearly every corporate executive, is not within the class
of ‘benefits’ that give rise to a strong inference of scienter.” Id.

The Third Circuit

In Dow Corning Corp. v. BB & T Corp., 2010 WL 4860354 (D.N.J. Nov. 23,
2010), the district court granted in part a motion to dismiss claims brought pursuant to
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs alleged that the
defendants, BB & T Corp., a financial services firm, and its wholly owned subsidiary,
Scott & Stringfellow, LLC (“S&S”), a registered broker-dealer, induced the plaintiffs to
invest in auction rate securities by their material misrepresentations and omissions
concerning the liquidity of the market. Id. at *1. The defendants allegedly misrepresented
the dramatically increased risk of auction failures between the fall of 2007 and February
13, 2008, the date on which the auction rate securities market is alleged to have
“collapsed.” Id. at *3. The defendants allegedly concealed this risk by creating a false
impression of supply, demand, and liquidity in the auction rate securities market by
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making undisclosed support bids, and continuing to advise the plaintiffs to buy while the
market deteriorated. Id. After the collapse, the market remained illiquid, which rendered it
impossible for the plaintiffs to sell their auction rate securities except at a steep discount.
Id. at *6.

The plaintiffs alleged a strong inference of scienter against S&S because: (1) S&S
artificially propped up the auction rate securities market with its support bids in order to
earn commissions and fees and to maintain favorable business relationships; and (2) S&S
concealed its knowledge of the increasing illiquidity in the auction rate securities market
and its growing use of undisclosed support bids to “keep that market alive” to unload its
own auction rate securities. 1d. at *10. The district court held that the first allegation,
without more, was insufficient to create an inference of scienter because such motives are
common to all for-profit enterprises. 1d. at *9.

However, the district court held that the second alleged motive supported a strong
inference of scienter. 1d. at *11. Given that S&S had knowledge of the market’s
increasing illiquidity and held large inventories of auction rate securities, the district court
found it reasonable to infer that S&S had a motive to conceal the auction rate securities’
illiquidity risk from potential buyers of securities from its own portfolio. 1d. at *10. The
district court held that this culpable inference was more compelling than non-culpable
inferences, especially considering that S&S allegedly increased its auction rate securities
inventory in order to artificially sustain the market and to “buy enough time to exit.” Id. at
*11.

The Ninth Circuit

In In re MannKind Sec. Actions, 2011 WL 6327089 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 16, 2011),
investors brought a class action alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) stemming
from alleged misstatements indicating that the FDA had pre-approved MannKind Corp.’s
drug testing protocol for a new product. Id. at *1. Later, the FDA sent a Complete
Response Letter (“CRL") to the company refusing to approve the product, which the
company failed to disclose to investors. Id. at *2. The company continued testing the
products and making positive statements to the public, and eventually received a second
CRL that was later disclosed to the public, after which the stock dropped in price. 1d. at
*4-6. The defendants moved to dismiss arguing, inter alia, that the plaintiffs’ allegations
of motive were sufficient to prove scienter. 1d. at *1, *13. The plaintiffs alleged that
MannKind had entered into a financing agreement for another company to purchase over
eighteen million shares as long the shares were trading above a certain price. Id. at *13.

The district court recognized that other district courts in the Ninth Circuit were split
over whether motive allegations about a company’s need for capital are sufficient to plead
the element of scienter. 1d. Some district courts had held that motive allegations relating
to increasing company capital were not sufficient to meet the heightened pleading
standards. 1d. (citing In re PetSmart, Inc. Sec. Litig., 61 F. Supp. 2d 982 (D. Ariz. 1999)).
However, other courts had found that allegations of a need to inflate the stock price for a
short period of time to obtain much needed operating capital are sufficient to state a claim.
Id. at *14 (citing In re Portal Software, Inc. Sec. Litig., 2005 WL 1910923 (N.D. Cal. Aug
10, 2005)). The district court ultimately found that the plaintiffs’ allegations supported a
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finding of scienter because the defendants’ motive went beyond a general desire to raise
capital. Id.

In Cho v. UCBH Holdings, Inc., 2011 WL 3809903 (N.D. Cal. May 17, 2011), the
district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss because, inter alia, the plaintiffs
had not adequately pleaded a strong inference of scienter. Id. at *17-18.

The plaintiffs, shareholders in UCBH Holdings, Inc. (“UCBH”), filed a class action
complaint against several of UCBH’s directors and officers. Id. at *1. The plaintiffs
alleged that the defendants issued materially false and misleading statements concerning
the effectiveness of UCBH’s financial reporting controls as well as UCBH’s allowance and
provision for loan losses. 1d. According to the complaint:

UCBH’s auditor, KPMG, met with examiners from the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) . . . about the deterioration in asset quality
and overall financial condition of UCBH’s subsidiary, United Commercial
Bank . ... [The following week], KPMG alerted UCBH’s audit committee
that illegal acts may have occurred related to overvaluation of impaired and
real estate owned loans, prompting the audit committee to initiate an
internal investigation.

Id. As aresult of the internal investigation, UCBH was forced to restate its financial
statements and enter into a consent agreement with the FDIC concerning a cease and desist
order regarding the underlying improprieties, which the plaintiffs argued caused the value
of UCBH’s stock to decline. Id. In their complaint, the plaintiffs relied on the following
to establish an inference of scienter: (1) KPMG’s report that illegal activity may have
occurred; (2) UCBH’s internal investigation; and (3) a report by the FDIC stating that
“senior executives” at United Commercial Bank “engaged in deliberate misconduct to
conceal the [b]ank’s “deteriorating financial conditions . ..”” Id. at *12-13.

The district court found the plaintiffs” allegations were insufficient because they
did not establish which senior executives learned of, or engaged in, the alleged misconduct
and because they did not allege when the executives became aware of it. 1d. Accordingly,
the district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss. Id. at *18.

Pleading Scienter Through Allegations of Conscious Misbehavior
or Recklessness

The Second Circuit

In Valentini v. Citigroup, Inc., 837 F. Supp. 2d 304 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), the plaintiffs,
purchasers of structured notes from defendants, Citigroup Financial Services and Citi
Private Bank, brought claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule
10b-5. Id. at 312. These structured notes included equity linked securities that were linked
to the value of the American Depository Receipts or common stock of U.S. or Brazilian
companies traded on the NYSE. 1d. at 311. If the value of the assets to which the note was
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linked fell below a certain percentage of their initial value, the note would then convert to a
certain number of shares of the lowest valued asset linked to the note. Id.

The plaintiffs argued that the defendants intentionally misrepresented the risks
associated with these structured securities. 1d. at 313. The defendants moved to dismiss,
contending that the plaintiffs failed to sufficiently plead scienter. Id. at 315. The plaintiffs
alleged that the defendants exhibited conduct that was highly unreasonable because the
defendants failed “to provide [p]laintiffs with prospectuses or other detailed written
information about the complex debt instruments they were purchasing.” 1d. at 316. The
district court concurred, finding that the defendants’ conduct was an ““extreme departure
from the standards of ordinary care’ provided [to] investors.” 1d. (quoting Brown v. E.F.
Hutton Grp., Inc., 991 F.2d 1020, 1033 (2d Cir. 1993)).

The plaintiffs also claimed that the defendants consciously misbehaved by
intentionally lying when they filled out their Regulation U form, which dictates how much
credit a bank can extend to investors to purchase stock on margin. Id. at 316. The district
court found that these allegations provided “strong evidence” of the defendants’ conscious
misbehavior. Id. In fact, the district court noted that the defendants’ “active efforts to
circumvent federal regulations designed to protect investors against the very high risks
associated with trading on . . . margin suggests, at the very least, that they knew, or should
have known, of the dangers associated with [p]laintiffs’ extremely leveraged investment
strategy, and nonetheless failed to inform them of these dangers. We find this sufficient to
establish a ‘strong inference’ of fraudulent intent . .. .” Id.

In Solow v. Citigroup, Inc., 2011 WL 5869599 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 22, 2011), the
plaintiffs brought a claim under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule
10b-5 against the defendants, Citigroup and its CEO Vikram Pandit, alleging that the
defendants issued intentionally false and misleading statements about the strength of
Citigroup’s liquidity. 1d. at *1. Following the Lehman Brothers bankruptcy, the
defendants made several statements that Citigroup was well-capitalized and very strong.
Id. at *1-2. The plaintiffs claimed that during this time the defendants also “secretly”
borrowed hundreds of billions of dollars from the Primary Dealer Credit Facility
(“PDCF”), a facility that the Federal Reserve created to help banks in distress. Id. at *3.
According to the plaintiffs, the PDCF was “the ‘lender of last resort’ that served as a
‘back-up source of liquidity for institutions that are unable to access short-term funding in
the market.”” Id. at *3. The defendants moved to dismiss for failure to adequately plead
scienter under the PSLRA. 1d. at *4, *7. The district court found that the plaintiffs
adequately pleaded scienter, noting that Citigroup’s borrowing from the PDCF and
receiving $326 billion in additional TARP infusions and guarantees was “relevant to the
question of [d]efendants’ knowledge of the risks to Citigroup’s liquidity and capital
position .. ..” Id. at *8-9. Thus, the plaintiffs alleged sufficient facts to give rise to an
inference of the defendants’ intent to defraud. 1d. at *9.

In City of Monroe Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. Hartford Fin. Servs. Grp., Inc., 2011 WL
4357368 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 19, 2011), the plaintiffs brought claims under Sections 10(b) and
20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against the defendants. The plaintiffs were
investors in The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc. (“Hartford”). Id. at *1. The
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plaintiffs alleged that the defendants, Hartford and three of its directors and officers,
knowingly and intentionally misstated their capital position by inflating the fair value of
certain of Hartford’s assets. Id. at *1, 12.

The defendants issued an investment vehicle called MVA FA, which created a
contract to provide future income in return for an initial investment. Id. at *3. The
defendants heavily invested funds received from the MV A FA assets in asset-backed
securities (“ABS”), and more specifically residential mortgage-backed securities
(“RMBS”) and commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”). Id. at *3. The
defendants then accounted for the “fair value” of the MVVA FA assets as required under
Standard Statutory Accounting Principles (“SAP”). Id. at *4. After the collapse of the
subprime mortgage market the defendants suffered significant losses because of their
heavy exposure to the ABS market. Id. at *4.

The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants artificially inflated the value of the MVA
FA assets and the defendants’ capital by intentionally (1) selling their ABS at prices lower
than their internal valuation and (2) continuing to overvalue the ABS that they held. 1d. at
*4. The district court determined that the plaintiffs failed to demonstrate “strong
circumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or recklessness” as required to plead
scienter. Id. at *12, *18. Indeed, the district court remarked that “it is simply bizarre to
suggest that defendants concocted a fraudulent scheme in which they would sell an asset
for $697,500 yet internally value that asset at $1,500,000, only to reveal this massive
overvaluation to the world a few months later. If defendants were willingly engaged in a
substantial fraud . . . it would be extremely illogical for them to disclose the fraudulent
numbers at the end of the year.” Id. at *17. Accordingly, the district court stated that the
“plaintiffs’ inference of systemic and intentional overvaluation of retained ABS is not at
least as strong as any opposing inference.” 1d. (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted).

In In re Bank of Am. Corp. Sec., Deriv., & ERISA Litig., 2011 WL 3211472
(S.D.N.Y. July 29, 2011), the district court denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss
claims brought pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The
plaintiffs, investors, alleged that the defendants, Bank of America Corporation (“BofA”),
its former CEO Kenneth D. Lewis, and its former CFO Joe L. Price, made material
misstatements and omissions related to BofA’s acquisition of Merrill Lynch & Co.
(“Merrill”). 1d. at *1.

BofA allegedly failed to reveal Merrill’s fourth quarter 2008 losses to shareholders
prior to the acquisition, which amounted to $14 billion, not including an additional $2
billion writedown to Merrill’s goodwill value. Id. at *2, *6. The district court held that the
plaintiffs sufficiently alleged that Price engaged in *““conscious recklessness’” amounting
to ““an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care’” by failing to update BofA’s
attorneys with accurate information about Merrill’s losses prior to the acquisition. Id. at *9
(quoting S. Cherry St., LLC v. Hennessee Grp. LLC, 573 F.3d 98, 109 (2d Cir. 2009));
ECA, Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Trust of Chi. v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187,
202-03 (2d Cir. 2009)). The district court held that Price knew BofA’s general counsel
believed disclosure was likely warranted based upon his knowledge of the initial loss
report, which projected losses of $8.9 billion. 1d. at *6, *8-9. The district court found that,
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as Price learned more information about Merrill’s higher actual losses, he withheld
information about these increasing losses from legal counsel. 1d. at *8-9. Even though
Price claimed he was not expressly told he had to disclose the higher amount of losses, the
court held that it was implausible that Price did not appreciate the correlation between the
size of Merrill’s losses and BofA’s disclosure obligations. 1d. at *8. Further, the district
court held that the fact that Price consulted with counsel did not undermine a finding of
scienter: since Price impeded counsel from making a fully informed analysis, he could not
also claim that he relied on counsel’s advice in good faith. 1d.

In addition, the district court held that Lewis’s inaction and failure to ensure
compliance with BofA’s disclosure obligations raised a strong inference of recklessness.
Id. at *10. Lewis, like Price, was informed as to Merrill’s losses. Id. at *9. Lewis’
“*egregious refusal to see the obvious, or to investigate the doubtful’” thus gave rise to an
inference of recklessness. Id. (quoting Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 308 (2d Cir.
2000)).

In In re Wachovia Equity Sec. Litig., 753 F. Supp. 2d 326 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), the
district court dismissed the plaintiffs’ claims brought pursuant to Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
under the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The case involved four complaints and seven
motions to dismiss arising from the “financial disintegration” experienced by the defendant
Wachovia Corporation (“Wachovia”) between its 2006 purchase of Golden West Financial
Corporation (“Golden West”) and its 2008 merger with Wells Fargo & Company. Id. at
341. The plaintiffs alleged that Wachovia began focusing on selling Golden West’s main
product, the “Pick-A-Payment” mortgage, which allowed borrowers to choose from
multiple payment options each month, including a minimum payment that ultimately
increased the principal of the loan, a phenomenon known as negative amortization. Id. at
342. The plaintiffs alleged that Wachovia made numerous misrepresentations to conceal
its risky practices and the true risk of the Pick-A-Payment loans which, when revealed in
early 2008, led to a drastic decrease in the value of Wachovia’s shares. Id. at 343.

The district court held that the plaintiffs failed to plead that the defendants had
access to contrary facts or breached a duty to monitor that would support an inference of
recklessness. Id. at 366. The plaintiffs also failed to specify that contradictory information
was available to the defendants at the time of their alleged misstatements (including
alleged violations of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”)). Id. at 351,
365. The plaintiffs further failed to allege which reports revealed the supposedly
widespread lending problems, what information those reports contained, and whether the
reports contradicted the public declarations of the defendants. Id. at 352. Similarly, the
district court also held that the magnitude of Wachovia’s increased loan loss reserves,
following earlier statements regarding its adequacy, did not create an inference of scienter.
Id. at 361. “In the absence of particularized allegations that Wachovia was experiencing or
internally predicting losses exceeding their set reserves, the subsequent disclosures provide
no basis to conclude that [d]efendants recklessly misstated previous reserve levels.” Id. at
362.

In In re Bear Stearns Cos. Sec. Deriv. & ERISA Litig., 763 F. Supp. 2d 423
(S.D.N.Y. 2011), plaintiff purchasers of The Bear Stearns Companies Inc. (“Bear”)
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common stock brought an action against Bear, individual directors and officers of Bear,
and Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), Bear’s independent auditor, alleging violations of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. With respect to Bear’s valuation and
risk procedures, the complaint alleged that the SEC Office of Compliance Inspections and
Examinations found Bear’s evaluation of its modeling processes inadequate and that the
company continued to rely on flawed valuation models throughout the 2007-2008 housing
market decline. Id. at 451-53. Significantly, the complaint alleged that Bear’s December
2006 press release discussing year-end results reported diluted earnings using valuation
techniques that ignored severely declining housing prices and rising default rates. 1d. at
454. Furthermore, despite the fact that various indexes focusing on asset backed securities
showed steep declines in the value of various collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”), the
plaintiffs alleged that Bear continued to aggressively expand its subprime business. Id. at
455-56. Finally, with respect to accounting standards violations, the plaintiffs alleged that
Bear systematically violated Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) as a
result of weaknesses in its internal controls. Id. at 467. The district court denied the
defendants’ motion to dismiss.

The district court held that the plaintiffs failed to demonstrate scienter through a
showing of motive and opportunity. Id. at 499-501. However, the court went on to
determine that the plaintiffs had established a proper inference of scienter via conscious
misbehavior or recklessness, highlighting the complaint’s assertion that the defendants
“willfully or recklessly disregarded warnings from the SEC regarding Bear Stearns’ risk
and valuation models which allegedly were designed to give falsely optimistic accounts of
the Company’s risk and finances during the Class Period.” Id. at 501. In response to the
defendants’ contention that the plaintiffs’ allegations of scienter constituted classic fraud
by hindsight, the district court replied that “the incantation” of fraud-by-hindsight “will not
defeat an allegation of misrepresentations and omissions that were misleading and false at
the time they were made.” Id. at 504 (emphasis added). Thus, with respect to the
defendants’ contention that a competing inference existed as a result of the unpredictable
market-wide collapse, the district court held that the alleged misconduct was integral to the
decline of Bear as well as the broader financial markets. Id. at 505 (citing In re Ambac
Fin. Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 693 F. Supp. 2d 241 (S.D.N.Y. 2010)). Therefore, because the
plaintiffs’ allegations concerning asset valuation, false and misleading statements, and
liquidity constituted adequate allegations of scienter when coupled with allegations of
knowledge of recklessness, the district court denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss. Id.
at 584.

In In re Citigroup Sec. Litig., 753 F. Supp. 2d 206 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), putative class
action plaintiffs brought claims against Citigroup, Inc. (“Citigroup”) and fourteen of its
directors and officers, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
The plaintiffs claimed that, at various times from 2006 to 2008, the defendants materially
misled investors about the company’s financial health by knowingly understating the risks
it faced in various financial instruments related to the subprime mortgage industry, and
overstating the value of its assets. These misstatements and omissions allegedly caused
harm to investors when the truth about Citigroup’s assets was revealed. Id. at 212.
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A number of the plaintiffs’ allegations concerned Citigroup’s exposure to
collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”). In particular, the plaintiffs alleged that “the
defendants failed to give a full and truthful account of the extent of Citigroup’s CDO
exposure,” by revealing only the size of Citigroup’s underwriting activities and not the size
of Citigroup’s CDO holdings. 1d. at 217-18. The plaintiffs further claimed that
Citigroup’s SEC filings “failed to convey the subprime-related risks inherent in its CDO
portfolio,” because the filings did not distinguish which Citigroup CDOs were backed by
subprime mortgages and which were not. 1d. at 217, 220. The plaintiffs also contended
that Citigroup violated accounting rules when valuing Citigroup’s CDO holdings in its
SEC filings because it failed to “take[] writedowns . . . in reaction to precipitous drops in
the “TABX,” a widely used index that tracked the price of mezzanine CDOs.” Id. at 217,
223. The defendants moved to dismiss, arguing that the plaintiffs failed to meet the
heightened pleading standards for securities fraud. The district court granted the motion in
part but allowed the plaintiffs to proceed against Citigroup and seven of the individual
defendants on the claim that between February 2007 and August 2008, the defendants
misrepresented the extent of Citigroup’s CDO exposure. 1d.

The district court determined that the plaintiffs adequately alleged scienter under
the recklessness standard as to three classes of misstatements or omissions attributable to
seven defendants (by virtue of their “corporate insider” status) between February 2007 and
October 2007. First, the district court found “a set of statements that gave the impression
that Citigroup had minimal, if any exposure to CDOs when, in fact, it had more than $50
billion in exposure,” actionable because there was a duty to disclose Citigroup’s CDO
holdings in order to prevent the “boilerplate statement that the company may have such
exposure,” from being misleading. 1d. at 235. Second, the court found statements and
omissions that “allegedly gave the impression that Citigroup’s CDO holdings were
insulated from the subprime mortgage market,” were actionable because the complaint
alleged in detail that “the deterioration of the subprime market put Citigroup’s CDO
holdings directly at risk.” Id. Third, the plaintiffs adequately pleaded that between
February 2007 and October 2007, Citigroup overstated the value of its CDO holdings by
consistently valuing its CDOs at par when the ABX and TABX indicated a clear decline in
the value of Citigroup’s CDOs over the same period. Id. at 235-36.

The district court found these statements inconsistent with the actions Citigroup
took between February 2007 and October 2007. The plaintiffs claimed, for instance, that
during this period “Citigroup “to a greater extent than ever before,” hedged away the risks
associated with the super senior CDO tranches,” “set up a special purpose entity . . . to
assume the credit risks” associated with certain tranches, and altered its CDO prospectuses
to reflect increased risk from the deteriorating mortgage market. 1d. at 237. The plaintiffs
also pleaded in detail that “Citigroup, as the underwriter of the CDOs it held . . . was in the
best position to recognize the threats [it] faced as the subprime mortgage market
deteriorated.” Id. Finally, by pointing to a March 2007 report and investor conference, the
plaintiffs adequately alleged that “people within Citigroup were foreseeing an upcoming
CDO meltdown” at the time. Id. The district court found that “[t]his incongruity between
word and deed establishe[d] a strong inference of scienter.” Id. at 238. Viewing the
factual allegations in the complaint as a whole, the district court reasoned that the plaintiffs
had pleaded particularized facts giving rise to “a strong inference that someone whose
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intent is attributable to Citigroup was, at the least, reckless in failing to recognize the risks
associated with Citigroup’s CDO exposure.” Id. at 237.

In In re Fannie Mae 2008 Sec. Litig., 742 F. Supp. 2d 382 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the
plaintiffs brought securities fraud claims against Fannie Mae (“Fannie”), four of Fannie’s
senior officers, and Fannie’s external auditor Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), alleging
violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs
also asserted claims arising under the Securities Act, which the district court previously
dismissed. Id. at 393. The plaintiffs asserted three principal allegations under the
Exchange Act: (1) that the defendants materially misrepresented Fannie’s exposure to the
subprime and Alt-A mortgage markets and its related risks; (2) that the defendants
materially misrepresented the quality of Fannie’s internal risk management and controls;
and (3) that the defendants filed materially inaccurate financial statements and, in
connection with those filings, Deloitte violated Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”) and Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (“GAAS”). Id. at 397. The
defendants moved to dismiss the plaintiffs’ Exchange Act claims. The district court
granted the motion as to the first and third principal allegations, but denied dismissal on
the second principal allegation regarding misrepresentation of Fannie’s internal risk
management and controls. Id. at 417.

The district court found the plaintiffs’ allegations that the defendants had made
material misstatements about the adequacy of Fannie’s internal risk management and
controls sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss, largely because the plaintiffs had
identified internal emails written by Fannie’s chief risk officer (“CRQO”) that “highlight[ed]
the alleged misstatements and show([ed] that Fannie may have been saying one thing while
believing another.” 1d. at 405. The district court identified public statements made by
Fannie between November 2006 and September 2007 wherein Fannie indicated that it had
the capability to manage its subprime market-related risks. Id. at 405. Yet, in July 2007,
Fannie’s CRO, a named defendant, complained via email to Fannie’s chief operating
officer (“COQ”) that Fannie had “one of the weakest control processes” he had ever
witnessed and that Fannie was “not even close to hav[ing] proper control processes for
credit, market and operational risk.” 1d. at 405-06.

The district court found, based on the content of the CRO’s emails, that the
plaintiffs’ had adequately pleaded recklessness. The emails, the district court found,
“suggest that Fannie was conscious of its internal inability to manage the risks associated
with subprime loans.” 1d. at 406. “Proceeding headlong into an unfamiliar market and
telling investors that risk controls are in place while working . . . without the internal
ability to analyze the risks,” the court held, “is certainly enough of ‘an extreme departure
from the standards of ordinary care’ to show an inference of scienter.” 1d. (citing Chill v.
Gen. Elec. Co., 101 F.3d 263, 269 (2d Cir. 1996)). This inference of recklessness was
more compelling than the defendants’ suggestion that the emails evidenced reactions to
budget cuts and theoretical fears. Id. Hence, the district court denied the motion to
dismiss on this issue.

In In re Ambac Fin. Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 693 F. Supp. 2d 241 (S.D.N.Y. 2010),
investor plaintiffs filed an action against defendant Ambac Financial Group, Inc.
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(“Ambac”), an insurer of financial products, along with associated individuals, the
underwriters of Ambac’s securities offerings, and Ambac’s auditor. With respect to its
increasing involvement in the insurance of CDOs backed by residential mortgage-backed
securities (“RMBS”), Ambac executives frequently issued statements concerning the high
degree of due diligence conducted before deciding to insure a financial product. Id. at 254-
55. When Ambac announced a multi-billion dollar loss to its CDO portfolio, the plaintiffs
filed an action alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5,
contending that Ambac misled investors by continuing to represent its underwriting
procedures as conservative. The district court denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss.
Id. at 261-62.

Despite its determination that the motive and opportunity prong of a scienter
analysis had not been adequately demonstrated, the district court highlighted that Section
10(b) claims tend to satisfy the recklessness requirement when they allege knowledge of or
access to information that contradicts their public statements. 1d. at 267 (citing Novak v.
Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 308 (2d Cir. 2000)). The district court found that the Ambac
plaintiffs had made detailed allegations that the company lowered its underwriting
standards and that these changes were known to company insiders. 1d. at 267-68. Thus,
the district court held that the plaintiffs’ allegations of scienter complied with Tellabs, and
since materiality and loss causation were sufficiently established, defendants’ motion to
dismiss with respect to all Section 10(b) claims was denied.

The Third Circuit

In Steamfitters Local 449 Pension Fund v. Alter, 2011 WL 4528385 (E.D. Pa. Sept.
30, 2011), the lead plaintiff brought a class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and
20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 on behalf of all persons and entities that
purchased publicly-traded securities of Advanta Corp. (“Advanta”), an issuer of credit
cards to small businesses. The plaintiff alleged that it purchased shares after the
defendants artificially inflated Advanta’s stock price by making material misstatements
about the credit quality of Advanta’s customers, its delinquency and charge-off rates, and a
re-pricing strategy allegedly designed to raise interest rates and minimum payments. Id. at
*1-3. The defendants included Advanta’s officers (the “Management Defendants™) and
directors (the “Outside Director Defendants”), John F. Moore, the president of an Advanta
subsidiary, and Christopher J. Carroll, who initiated the internal audits of Advanta’s
delinquency practices and reported the company to the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation. 1d. at *1. The district court granted the motions to dismiss claims against the
Outside Director Defendants and defendants Moore and Carroll, but denied in relevant part
the Management Defendants’ motion to dismiss. 1d.

The district court held that the Management Defendants made misstatements about
customer credit quality and delinquency rates, and omitted statements about their re-
pricing strategy, “with knowledge that the information was materially misleading and of
the likely effect the information would have on the market.” Id. at *9. The district court
held that the plaintiff adequately pleaded scienter because allegations that the Management
Defendants directly approved the fraudulent practices, and that they allowed the practices
to continue so as to meet “short-term Wall Street expectations, knowing the long-term
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risks,” demonstrated “an extreme and reckless or conscious departure from the standards of
ordinary care.” 1d. at *8-9.

In In re Radian Sec. Litig., 2010 WL 1767195 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 30, 2010), plaintiff
shareholders brought suit under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5,
alleging that the defendants, Radian Group, Inc. (“Radian”) and its officers, made
materially false and misleading statements regarding Radian’s investment in Credit Based
Asset Servicing and Securitization L.L.C. (“C-BASS”). C-BASS was a mortgage
investment and servicing company that specialized in securitizing subprime residential
mortgages. The defendants moved to dismiss the complaint, and the district court granted
the motion.

The district court found that the plaintiff’s allegations detailing the subprime
market and C-BASS’s general business model did not support a finding of scienter. Id. at
*8. The district court further held that this only “serve[d] to establish that the market at
large knew of the subprime industry’s downward trend.” Id. (citing First Nationwide Bank
v. Gelt Funding Corp., 27 F.3d 763, 772 (2d Cir. 1994)). The district court also noted that
Radian acknowledged this market trend as early as January 2007 in conference calls, press
releases, and public filings. Id. at *9.

The Seventh Circuit

In Puskala v. Koss Corp., 799 F. Supp. 2d 941 (E.D. Wis. 2011), Koss Corp.’s vice
president of finance and principal accounting officer Sujata Sachdeva pleaded guilty to
embezzling $30 million dollars from the corporation for personal luxury items. 1d. at 944.
The scheme was hidden through false accounting entries, which allegedly made all public
disclosures and SEC filings materially false. 1d. at 944-45. Investors brought a class
action for violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 against Sachdeva, Koss Corp., CEO
Michael K. Koss, and the accounting firm Grant Thornton. 1d. at 945. All defendants
except for Sachdeva moved to dismiss. 1d.

The plaintiffs alleged that Koss acted recklessly in signing the SEC disclosure
forms. Id. at 948. The Seventh Circuit has held that recklessness “satisfies the scienter
element in action under Rule 10b-5" when the defendant “is actually aware of a danger of
misleading but consciously disregards it” or “if it can be shown that the danger was so
obvious that a reasonable person would have known about it.” 1d. at 949. The plaintiffs
failed to sufficiently plead recklessness because their assertions of deficient internal
controls at the company relied on the fact that Sachdeva was able to embezzle tens of
millions of dollars. Id. at 950-52. The district court likened this to “a distorted form of res
ipsa loquitor,” rejecting the argument that a fraud itself can be the main allegation of
recklessness. Id. at 950. Finding that the innocent explanations were “more compelling”
than the plaintiffs’ allegations, the district court dismissed the claims against Koss. 1d. at
951.

The Tenth Circuit

In Dronsejko v. Thornton, 632 F.3d 658, 661-64 (10th Cir. 2011), the plaintiffs
appealed the district court’s dismissal of their complaint for failure to properly plead
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scienter, arguing that the district court erroneously held them to an intentional fraud
standard.

The plaintiffs were shareholders in iMergent, an e-services company that sold
software licenses to small businesses. 1d. at 662. Although iMergent recognized 100% of
the revenue from its license sales, it typically was only able to collect 53% of the total
purchase price. 1d. Under GAAP rules, this type of revenue recognition was allowed if, in
addition to the satisfaction of other factors, a company could demonstrate that
collectability of the revenue is “probable.” 1d. Following the SEC’s determination that
53% was not sufficiently likely to be classified as “probable,” iMergent was forced to alter
its method of recording revenue in previous financial statements, leading to a decline in
reported earnings and the company’s stock price. Id. at 662-63.

The plaintiffs alleged that the company’s auditor, Grant Thornton, violated Rule
10b-5 by recklessly certifying that iMergent’s financial statements complied with GAAP.
Id. at 663-64. Recklessness is defined in the Tenth Circuit as “‘conduct that is an extreme
departure from the standards of ordinary care, and which presents a danger of misleading
buyers or sellers that is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the actor must
have been aware of it.”” 1d. at 665 (quoting City of Phila. v. Fleming Cos., 264 F.3d 1245,
1257-58 (10th Cir. 2001)). Examining the available accounting literature, the Tenth
Circuit noted that discussions on the definition of “probable” under GAAP were
ambiguous and generalized. Id. The Tenth Circuit recognized that scienter may be shown
through either intentional or reckless acts, but held that the plaintiffs” allegations did not
demonstrate the requisite recklessness because there was a more “plausible nonculpable
inference” that Grant Thornton had simply acted negligently in misinterpreting “probable,”
which the Tenth Circuit found insufficient to establish liability under 10b-5. 1d. at 668-70.

The Eleventh Circuit

In In re BankAtlantic Bancorp, Inc. Sec. Litig., 2010 WL 6397500 (S.D. Fla. Aug.
18, 2010), the district court granted in part and denied in part the defendants’ motion for
summary judgment, and granted the plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment. The
plaintiffs, a class of investors in BankAtlantic Bancorp, Inc. (“BankAtlantic”), the publicly
traded parent company of a federally-chartered bank, alleged that BankAtlantic and its
insiders and directors violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-
5. 1d. at *1. The defendants allegedly misrepresented and concealed the true value of the
company’s “land loans” made for the acquisition and residential development of land. 1d.
at *1-3. The plaintiffs alleged that the truth about BankAtlantic’s lending practices—i.e.,
that it made misleading statements about the credit quality of certain land loans and failed
to follow conservative lending practices, that it failed to timely disclose that the credit
quality of the land loan portfolio had deteriorated, and that it misrepresented that its
reserves for loan losses were adequate—was revealed in April and October of 2007 and
caused the stock price to decline. 1d. at *1-2.

The district court denied the defendants summary judgment motion on the issue of
scienter. Id. at *24. The district court held that a genuine issue of material fact existed
regarding whether the defendants misrepresented the nature of their underwriting practices
and the consequent level of risk to the land loan portfolio. 1d. at *23-24. The court also
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pointed to evidence that the defendants’ statements regarding their allegedly conservative
lending practices concealed violations of BankAtlantic’s internal underwriting policies,
and that these statements were severely reckless because the defendants knew or should
have known their statements “presented a danger of misleading investors” about the true
credit quality of the land loan portfolio. Id. at *24.

The district court also found a genuine issue of material fact existed regarding
whether the defendants misrepresented and failed to disclose the accelerating deterioration
of credit quality throughout the land loan portfolio as it became apparent. Id. The
defendants made statements about the worsening credit and repayment problems regarding
only a portion of the loans in the land loan portfolio. Id. The court found a genuine factual
issue remained as to whether defendants knew or should have known that loans in all
segments of the land loan portfolio were requesting extended maturity dates and had been
downgraded, such that their statements omitting information about the problems in the
remainder of the portfolio “presented an obvious danger of misleading investors.” 1d. at
*T7.

Pleading Recklessness Through Sarbanes-Oxley Certifications

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“SOX”) states that a company’s periodic
financial reports filed with the SEC must include signed certifications by the company’s
CEO and CFO affirming that:

(1) the signing officers have reviewed the report;

(2) to their knowledge, the report does not contain any materially untrue
statement or omit a material fact necessary to make a statement not
misleading under the circumstances made;

(3) to their knowledge, the financial information included in the report fairly
represents the company’s financial condition and results of operations;

(4) the signing officers—
(A) are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls;

(B) have designed those internal controls to ensure material information
regarding the company and its consolidated subsidiaries is promptly
reported to them;

(C) have evaluated the company’s internal controls within 90 days of
issuing the report;

(D) have presented the conclusions of their evaluation in the report;

(5) the signing officers have disclosed all significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the company’s internal controls to the company’s audit
committee and outside auditors; and

(6) the report identifies any changes subsequent to the signing officers’
evaluation that could have a significant impact on the company’s internal
controls.
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See 15 U.S.C. 8 7241; see also 17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14.

Plaintiffs have argued that a corporate officer’s certification of a financial report
that is later revealed to be materially misleading establishes a strong inference of scienter
as to that officer (i.e., that the officer knew or was reckless in not knowing the misleading
nature of the report when it was issued). However, as discussed below, the few courts
addressing this argument suggest that SOX certifications are not themselves sufficient to
establish scienter, and have required additional specific factual allegations showing actual
knowledge or recklessness.

The Eleventh Circuit

In City of Pontiac Gen. Emps. Ret. Sys. v. Schweitzer-Mauduit Int’l, Inc., 806 F.
Supp. 2d 1267 (N.D. Ga. 2011), the district court dismissed a putative class action alleging
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The plaintiffs were
shareholders in Schweitzer-Maduit International, Inc. (“Schweitzer”), a supplier of tobacco
products. 1d. at 1270. The plaintiffs alleged that the company and two of its directors and
officers engaged in a fraudulent scheme to artificially inflate the company’s stock price by
misleading the market about: (1) Schweitzer’s relationship with one of its largest
customers; (2) the strength of Schweitzer’s intellectual property protections; and (3)
pressures Schweitzer faced from European competitors. 1d.

The plaintiffs alleged that the individual defendants” SOX certifications supported
a strong inference of scienter. 1d. at 1295. The district court disagreed, explaining that “‘a
Sarbanes-Oxley certification is only probative of scienter if the person signing the
certification was severely reckless in certifying the accuracy of the financial statements.””
1d. (quoting Mizzaro v. Home Depot, Inc., 544 F.3d 1230, 1252 (11th Cir. 2008)). The
court noted that severe recklessness exists only where the certifier “*had reason to know, or
should have suspected, due to the presence of glaring accounting irregularities or other red
flags, that the financial statements contained material misstatements or omissions.”” 1d.
(quoting Mizzaro, 544 F.3d at 1252). Significantly, the district court identified financial
restatements as the kind of specific factual allegations that could adequately support the
claim that original statements were false when made. Id. at 1296. Because Schweitzer did
not issue any financial restatements, and because the plaintiffs failed to plead any other
specific facts showing severe recklessness, the district court found that the certifications
were not probative on the question of scienter. Id.

Recklessness by Virtue of High-Ranking Position
and/or Knowledge of Market Conditions

The Second Circuit

In In re Sec. Capital Assurance, Ltd. Sec. Litig., 729 F. Supp. 2d 569 (S.D.N.Y.
2010), a class of investors brought an action against insurers of collateralized debt
obligations (“CDOs”) backed by residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”) under
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act alleging that defendants understated their exposures,
took inadequate reserves, misrepresented their independent ability to assess subprime risks,
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and provided false information regarding the discipline of their underwriting processes.
The district court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss.

Since plaintiffs failed to establish motive and opportunity or deliberate behavior
under Novak, the district court analyzed whether an inference of scienter could be
established via a showing of recklessness. 1d. at 593-94 (citing Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d
300, 311 (2d Cir. 2000)). With respect to plaintiffs’ allegations against individual
defendants that, because of their positions as insiders, they had access to and recklessly
disregarded non-public information about finances, products, markets, and business
prospects, the district court determined that “broad allegations that [d]efendants received
and were aware of information contradicting their public statements because they held
management roles is not enough to allege scienter.” Id. at 595. With respect to plaintiffs’
allegations of recklessness as a result of defendants’ general knowledge of the housing
market crisis, the district court highlighted that “[K]nowledge of a general economic trend
does not equate to harboring a mental state to deceive, manipulate or defraud.” 1d. at 596
(quoting Plumbers & Steamfitters Local 773 Pension Fund v. Canadian Imperial, 694 F.
Supp. 2d 287, 300 (S.D.N.Y. 2010)). In any event, since defendants only became aware of
the true risk of their investments’ exposure to the market on July 24, 2007, the district
court held that allegations of misrepresentation made on or before this date must fail for
lack of scienter.

In Sgalambo v. McKenzie, 739 F. Supp. 2d 453 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the lead plaintiff
in a putative class action brought securities fraud claims against five former officers of
Canadian Superior Energy, Inc. (“Canadian Superior”), a company engaged in the
acquisition and production of petroleum and natural gas. In February 2009, Canadian
Superior’s common stock, which traded on the AMEX, fell after the company announced
that its interest in a joint venture drilling project was appointed to an interim receiver and
that repayment had been demanded on its forty-five million dollar credit facility. On
March 6, 2009, Canadian Superior filed for bankruptcy protection under Canada’s
bankruptcy laws. 1d. at 467. The plaintiff alleged that between January 14, 2008 and
February 17, 2009 the defendants issued over twenty materially false and misleading
statements, reporting positive test results of drilling projects when in fact the natural gas
wells discovered were “sub-economic,” and failing to disclose that Canadian Superior was
in violation of its joint venture agreement and would be unable to meet its joint venture
obligations. 1d. at 467-69.

The district court dismissed the Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claims against two
defendant-officers to whom the plaintiff did not attribute any false or misleading
statements but whom the plaintiff contended were liable for the misstatements of others
based on their status as senior executive officers and/or directors. 1d. at 475-76. Relying
on the Second Circuit’s analysis in Pac. Inv. Mgmt. Co. v. Mayer Brown LLP, 603 F.3d
144 (2d Cir. 2010), cert. denied, 131 S. Ct. 3021 (2011), the court concluded that the
plaintiff failed to plausibly allege liability of two officer defendants for statements made by
Canadian Superior and the other defendants because the plaintiff “provide[d] no facts to
show that [the two defendant-officers] had a discernible role in issuing Canadian
Superior’s public statements, let alone facts to show that he or any other investor relied on
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[the two defendant-officers’] role in issuing those public statements.” Sgalambo, 739 F.
Supp. 2d at 475.

In Defer LP v. Raymond James Fin., Inc., 2010 WL 3452387 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 2,
2010), the plaintiffs, investors in auction rate securities (“ARS”), sued a financial services
firm and its two wholly owned subsidiaries, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants “engaged
in a scheme to defraud ARS purchasers by knowingly misrepresenting the securities as
highly liquid investments.” 1d. at *1.

More specifically, one named plaintiff (“Rubin”) alleged that, some time prior to
April 2003, she had been encouraged to invest in ARS as “‘safe, short-term investments’”
by her financial advisor at Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. (“RJFS”). The other
named plaintiff (“Gold”) similarly alleged that a financial advisor from Raymond James &
Associates (“RJA”) recommended ARS to him in January 2008 as “a safe and liquid
investment.” Id. at *3. The plaintiffs contended that the financial advisors made these
representations “when, in fact, the ARSs’ liquidity was a facade and wholly dependent on
auction dealer intervention in the market.” Id. at *2. The defendants moved to dismiss the
complaint for failure to state a claim. The district court dismissed certain claims but
allowed the claims against RJA for misrepresentations made between November 2007 and
February 2008 to proceed. See id. at *13.

The plaintiffs alleged that, prior to November 2007, RJA knew or was reckless in
not knowing that the ARS market appeared to be liquid only because of auction broker
intervention. Id. at *6. The plaintiffs contended that RJA’s knowledge of this market
condition could be inferred from a variety of facts, including that the SEC issued a cease
and desist order to other auction dealers in May 2006 to end “*undisclosed manipulative
practices’” regarding ARS and that RJA was an underwriter and broker-dealer and
therefore obligated to know about ARS market functionality. See id. The district court,
however, rejected both propositions as too vague and general to support the plaintiffs’
claim. With regard to the plaintiffs’ argument that scienter could be inferred from the May
2006 SEC order, the district court faulted the plaintiffs for failing to allege *(1) the nature
of the allegedly manipulative practices that were the subjects of the SEC complaint, (2) the
extent to which those prevailed in the ARS market, and (3) whether those practices
affected any of the ARS[s] underwritten or sold by RJA.” 1d. Additionally, the plaintiffs
had failed to allege whether RJA even became aware of the SEC order. Thus, the district
court reasoned, “[t]he SAC fails to allege any specific facts that RJIA would have
discovered had it made a more searching inquiry or any information to which it had access
that would have indicated any sort of systematic, market-wide wrongdoing, let alone that
the market would have become illiquid in its absence.” Id. at *7. The district court
therefore dismissed the plaintiffs’ claims against RJA related to the period preceding
November 2007.

The Third Circuit

In In re Merck & Co. Sec., Deriv. & “ERISA” Litig., 2011 WL 3444199 (D.N.J.
Aug. 8, 2011), the district court granted in part the defendants’ motions to dismiss the
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plaintiffs’ putative securities fraud class action. The plaintiff investors alleged that the
defendants, Merck & Co. (“Merck’) and several of its officers, made materially misleading
statements and omissions regarding the commercial viability of a prescription arthritis
medication, Vioxx, both leading up to and following its withdrawal from the market. Id. at
*1. The defendants allegedly downplayed the possible link between Vioxx and an
increased risk of heart attack or other cardiovascular (“CV”) events, which inflated
Merck’s stock price and harmed the plaintiffs when the truth about the risks of Vioxx
emerged. 1d.

The district court held that the plaintiffs failed to sufficiently allege scienter for
seven of the individual officer defendants because the plaintiffs failed to plead specific
facts against the defendants under the PSLRA. 1d. at *27-29. The plaintiffs relied on the
defendants’ positions and access to information, asserting that they “must have known” or
“should have known” about the data indicating that Vioxx caused heart attacks, which
allegations the court found lacked the specificity to plead scienter. Id. at *26-27.
Allegations regarding motive and opportunity to commit fraud that are generally possessed
by most corporate directors and officers, such as the link between Merck’s sales and the
defendants’ compensation, were likewise held insufficient to plead scienter. Id. at *26. In
addition, the district court held that allegations that the defendants made misleading
statements because they signed various annual and quarterly SEC filings, despite their
access to information that contradicted Merck’s public statements, failed to satisfy the
heightened pleading requirement for scienter under the PSLRA. Id. at *28.

The Eleventh Circuit

In Durgin v. Mon, 415 F. App’x 161 (11th Cir. 2011), the Eleventh Circuit
affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the plaintiffs’ putative class action claims under
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 for failure to adequately plead scienter under the PSLRA.
The lead plaintiff, a pension fund, purchased common stock in a company that built and
marketed homes. Id. at 162. The defendants, executive officers of the company, allegedly
misrepresented the terms of a loan taken by the company in SEC filings, press releases,
and analysts’ conference calls by, among other things, characterizing the loan as “non-
recourse.” 1d. at 163.

Following Tellabs, the Eleventh Circuit held that to adequately plead scienter under
the PSLRA, the plaintiffs’ allegations must give rise to a strong inference that the
defendants acted with either: (1) an intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud; or (2) severe
recklessness. Id. at 165. The Eleventh Circuit held that even if the defendants improperly
characterized the loan as non-recourse, the plaintiffs failed to allege that the defendants
knew the loan was non-recourse. Id. at 165-66. Instead, the plaintiffs made only
conclusory allegations that the defendants, based upon their management level roles in the
company and the significance of the loan, “*must have known about’” the misleading
nature of their statements. Id. at 165. Further, because of the terms and conditions of the
loan, it was not “*highly unreasonable’” or an “‘extreme departure from the standards of
ordinary care’” to describe the loan as non-recourse. 1d. at 166 (quoting Mizzaro v. Home
Depot, Inc., 544 F.3d 1230, 1238 (11th Cir. 2008)). Accordingly, the inference that the
defendants acted with severe recklessness by failing to recognize that their statements
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about the loan could be perceived as false or misleading was “not as compelling as an
inference that, at worst, defendants acted with inexcusable negligence.” Id. at 167.

In Waterford Twp. Gen. Emps. Ret. Sys. v. BankUnited Fin. Corp., 2010 WL
1332574 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 30, 2010), the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The lead plaintiffs, purchasers of common stock of
BankUnited Financial Corporation (“BankUnited”), alleged that the defendants, three
senior executive officers of BankUnited, and its primary subsidiary, BankUnited FSB,
made numerous false and misleading representations to conceal BankUnited’s unsound
lending practices. Id. at *1-2. Specifically, the plaintiffs alleged that BankUnited relied on
limited or no documentation loans, made an aggressive push to increase the volume of
risky option adjustable rate mortgage loans, failed to adequately reserve for probable loan
losses, and asserted pressure to approve overstated appraisals. 1d. at *1. The bank was
eventually closed by the Office of Thrift Supervision and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation was appointed as receiver. Id. at *5.

The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants’ extensive experience in the banking
industry and attendance at weekly executive management meetings created an inference
that they knew or should have known about the alleged fraud relating to BankUnited’s loan
underwriting practices, real estate appraisals, and loan loss reserves. Id. at *13-14. The
district court held that the plaintiffs failed to allege any specific facts regarding the
defendants’ knowledge base and attendance at meetings, which improperly required the
court to “fill in the factual gaps with conjecture and speculation.” Id. at *14. Thus, such
generalized allegations did “not support an inference of scienter, let alone a strong one” as
required by the PSLRA. 1d.

Corporate Scienter

In a typical 10b-5 private action, the plaintiff must prove scienter for each
defendant. If the defendant is a corporation, however, courts face the challenge of
imputing scienter to a legal entity. Circuit courts have embraced a variety of approaches in
imputing scienter to a corporate defendant. On one end of the spectrum is the collective
scienter approach, which imputes to the corporation the aggregate knowledge of all of its
directors and officers. See Teamsters Local 445 Freight Div. Pension Fund v. Dynex
Capital Inc., 531 F.3d 190, 195 (2d Cir. 2008). On the other end, the traditional agency
approach rejects collective scienter and imputes to the corporation only the knowledge of
named individual defendants who both make a misstatement and do so with the requisite
scienter. See Southland Sec. Corp. v. INSpire Ins. Solutions, Inc., 365 F.3d 353, 366 (5th
Cir. 2004). As is often the case, many circuits have neither expressly adopted nor rejected
the theory of collective scienter, suggesting that they would consider it in certain
circumstances in the future. See, e.g., Glazer Capital Mgmt., LP v. Magistri, 549 F.3d 736
(9th Cir. 2008); Teamsters Local 445 Freight Div. Pension Fund v. Dynex Capital Inc., 531
F.3d 190 (2d Cir. 2008).

Recent district court decisions in the Second Circuit generally continue to embrace
a traditional agency approach. E.g., In re Wachovia Equity Sec. Litig., 753 F. Supp. 2d
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326 (S.D.N.Y. 2011); Vining v. Oppenheimer Holdings Inc., 2010 WL 3825722 (S.D.N.Y.
Sept. 29, 2010). However, one noteworthy decision appears to move more in the direction
of collective scienter. See In re Vivendi Universal, S.A. Sec. Litig., 765 F. Supp. 2d 512
(S.D.N.Y. 2011). Courts in the Third Circuit have similarly declined to follow the
collective scienter approach, at least on the facts before them. See City of Roseville
Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. Horizon Lines, Inc., 442 F. App’x 672 (3d Cir. 2011); See also Zavolta
v. Lord, Abbett & Co., 2010 WL 686546 (D.N.J. Feb. 24, 2010).

The Second Circuit

In In re Wachovia Equity Sec. Litig., 753 F. Supp. 2d 326 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), the
district court dismissed claims brought pursuant to Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The case involved four complaints and seven motions to
dismiss that arose from the “financial disintegration” experienced by the defendant
Wachovia Corporation (“Wachovia”) between its 2006 purchase of Golden West Financial
Corporation (“Golden West”) and its 2008 merger with Wells Fargo & Company. Id. at
341. The plaintiffs alleged that Wachovia began focusing on selling Golden West’s main
product, the “Pick-A-Payment” mortgage, which allowed borrowers to choose from
multiple payment options each month, including a minimum payment that ultimately
increased the principal of the loan. Id. at 342. The plaintiffs alleged that Wachovia made
numerous misrepresentations to conceal its risky practices and the true risk of the Pick-A-
Payment loans which, when revealed in early 2008, led to a drastic decrease in the value of
Wachovia’s shares. 1d. at 343.

The district court considered whether the doctrine of corporate scienter created an
inference of scienter based upon the alleged concealment of Wachovia’s exposure to
subprime collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”) and the alleged overstated value of the
CDO holdings. Id. at 364. The plaintiffs needed to allege facts showing that the
misstatements were so “‘dramatic’” that it could be inferred that they would have been
approved by “*corporate officials sufficiently knowledgeable about the company to know
that the [statements were] false.”” Id. at 365 (quoting Teamsters Local 445 Freight Div.
Pension Fund v. Dynex Capital Inc., 531 F.3d 190, 195 (2d Cir. 2008)). The district court
held that the plaintiffs did not allege sufficient facts regarding the actual value of the CDOs
held by Wachovia at the time of the alleged misrepresentations to show that the
misstatements were sufficiently dramatic. Id. at 365. Thus, the plaintiffs failed to raise an
inference of corporate scienter. Id.

In In re Vivendi Universal, S.A. Sec. Litig., 765 F. Supp. 2d 512 (S.D.N.Y. 2011),
foreign and domestic shareholders filed a class action asserting derivative claims based
partially on Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against a foreign global
media corporation and various affiliated individuals. The action was initially brought in
2002, alleging that ordinary shares traded primarily on the Paris Bourse exchange and
American Depository Receipts (ADRs) listed and traded on the NYSE were purchased at
artificially inflated prices as a result of material misrepresentations and omissions. Id. at
521. In January 2010, a jury determined that no liability existed with respect to Vivendi’s
CEO and CFO, but that Vivendi itself had committed securities fraud under Section 10(b).
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Id. at 524. As such, Vivendi moved for judgment as a matter of law or, in the alternative, a
new trial, while plaintiffs moved for the entry of judgment and for approval of their
proposed class notice and claims administration procedures. Id. at 525.

The Vivendi court observed that when a defendant is a corporate entity, the law
traditionally imputes the state of mind of agents or employees who made the statements in
question to the corporation. 1d. at 543. Indeed, according to the prevailing Second Circuit
standard, “‘[t]o prove liability against a corporation . . . a plaintiff must prove that an agent
of the corporation committed a culpable act with the requisite scienter, and that the act (and
accompanying mental state) are attributable to the corporation.”” Id. (quoting Teamsters
Local 445 Freight Div. Pension Fund v. Dynex Capital Inc., 531 F.3d 190, 195 (2d Cir.
2008)). The Vivendi jury found that the company itself violated Section 10(b), but that the
individual defendants to whom most of the allegedly false statements were attributed did
not violate the securities laws. 1d. at 524. Vivendi’s argument, which was based on this
inconsistency, was rejected in part because “an inconsistency challenge to a verdict will
succeed only if the Court is unable to determine any reasonable way to reconcile the jury’s
findings.” Id. at 552 (citing Turley v. Police Dep’t of the City of N.Y., 167 F.3d 757, 760
(2d Cir. 1999)). Since the district court was able to identify a reasonable basis for
reconciliation, it was determined that the jury’s verdict was not inconsistent. Id. at 554.
As such, the district court held that a jury may hold a corporation liable for Section 10(b)
violations based on the scienter of its former officers even when such liability was not
imposed against those former officers. Id.

In Vining v. Oppenheimer Holdings Inc., 2010 WL 3825722 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 29,
2010), two purchasers of auction rate securities (“ARS”) brought a purported class action
against Oppenheimer Holdings Inc. and its subsidiary Oppenheimer & Co. (collectively,
“Oppenheimer), alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5. 1d. at *1. The plaintiffs alleged, inter alia, that between March 19, 2003 and
February 13, 2008, “Oppenheimer directed its financial advisors to represent ARS[s] as
cash-equivalent, highly liquid, short-term investment vehicles when, in fact, ARS[s] have
long-term maturity dates and there is no guarantee that investors will be able to liquidate
their holdings if auction dealers decide not to place support bids to prevent auction
failures.” 1d. at *3. The plaintiffs further claimed that Oppenheimer failed to disclose that
the ARS market was under “increasing stress” in 2007 “and that withdrawal of support for
the auctions by any single auction dealer would cause the ARS market to collapse.” Id. at
*4. The district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss the complaint, holding
that the plaintiffs failed to allege a strong inference of scienter. 1d. at *15.

The plaintiffs attempted to plead “corporate scienter” by arguing that the intent or
recklessness of Greg White, a Managing Director of Oppenheimer’s Auction Rate
Department who purportedly gave presentations on ARS to Oppenheimer financial
advisors, could be imputed to the corporate entity. The plaintiffs also asserted generally
that corporate scienter could be found in Oppenheimer’s company-wide scheme to tout
ARS to investors as cash-equivalent, safe, liquid investments. Id. at *12-13. The district
court articulated the standard for corporate scienter: “Generally, a plaintiff can raise an
inference of corporate scienter by establishing scienter on behalf of an employee who acted
within the scope of his employment.” 1d. at *12 (citations omitted). In the first instance,
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the district court found that the plaintiffs had not satisfied this standard because the
plaintiffs failed to raise specific allegations—e.g., that “White directed financial advisors
to market ARS as cash-equivalent, safe, or highly liquid investments”—that would support
an inference that White exhibited conscious misbehavior or recklessness when giving
presentations to Oppenheimer’s financial advisors. Id. Nor had the plaintiffs successfully
pleaded that White had a motive to defraud, since allegations regarding White’s ARS sales
during the class period were insufficiently specific. 1d. Additionally, the plaintiffs’
company-wide scheme theory failed to specify who issued management directives and
sales materials to Oppenheimer financial advisors regarding ARS, when they were issued,
or where they were issued from. Id. at *13.

The district court noted that “it is possible . . . to draw a strong inference of
corporate scienter without being able to name the individuals who concocted and
disseminated the fraud.” 1d. at *6, *13 (citing Teamsters Local 445 Freight Div. Pension
Fund v. Dynex Capital Inc., 531 F.3d 190, 195 (2d Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks
and citations omitted)). Such an inference, however, was not appropriate in this case
because there was no corporate statement at issue that was “so important and dramatic that
it “‘would have been approved by corporate officials sufficiently knowledgeable about the
company to know that the announcement was false.”” Id. at *13 (quoting Dynex, 531 F.3d
at 196).

The Third Circuit

In City of Roseville Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. Horizon Lines, Inc., 442 F. App’x 672 (3d
Cir. 2011), the plaintiffs alleged securities fraud arising out of a price fixing scheme in
Horizon’s shipping business from the United States to Puerto Rico. Id. at 673. Under the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5, the plaintiffs claimed that the defendants made false
statements about the company’s apparent success in Puerto Rico, which was allegedly due
to price fixing and not the reasons the defendants stated. Id. The defendants in this action
included both senior executives and Horizon itself.

As to the senior executives, the Third Circuit, applying the Tellabs standard, held
that “plaintiff did not plead sufficient facts, when viewed in their totality, to raise a strong
inference of scienter as to the senior executives.” Id. at 676. The Third Circuit also noted
that “allegations akin to corporate mismanagement are not sufficient.” Id. at 675 (quoting
Inst’l Investors Grp. v. Avaya, Inc., 564 F.3d 242, 267 (3d Cir. 2009)). Accordingly, the
Third Circuit further held that Horizon’s scienter could not be based on that of any
individual.

The Third Circuit then questioned whether a plaintiff may plead scienter with
respect to a company “without successfully pleading a claim against any individual,” and
whether that had occurred in this case. Id. at 676. The Third Circuit reviewed City of
Monroe Emps. Ret. Sys. v. Bridgestone Corp., in which the Sixth Circuit dismissed claims
against individual defendants but nevertheless found that the facts supported scienter for
corporate defendants where corporations engaged in a large-scale “secret settlement” to
hide problems from safety regulators. 399 F.3d 651, 656-59 (6th Cir. 2005). The Third
Circuit determined that the facts of Bridgestone were inapplicable to the case before it, and
that, even if “it were possible to plead scienter against a corporation without pleading
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scienter against an individual, the facts alleged here would not survive a motion to
dismiss.” 1d. at 676-77.

In Zavolta v. Lord, Abbett & Co., 2010 WL 686546 (D.N.J. Feb. 24, 2010), the
plaintiff’s employer established a retirement plan that invested in and was managed by the
defendants. The plaintiff brought a 10b-5 action for fraud against the defendants alleging
that they “knew or recklessly disregarded the fact that the contents of . . . prospectuses,
registration statements, semiannual reports, and annual reports omitted material
information.” Id. at *1. The district court found that the complaint failed to state a claim
for relief and dismissed the action with leave to amend. 1d. at *3.

The district court found that the plaintiffs failed to adequately plead scienter.
Noting that there were no individual defendants in this case (only a corporate defendant),
the district court stated that in order to plead scienter “the complaint must allege with
particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that ‘someone whose intent could be
imputed to the corporation acted with the requisite scienter.”” Id. at *7 (internal citations
omitted). “Persons whose intent could be fairly imputed to the corporation include
corporate directors, officers, and perhaps, certain employees or other agents, such as those
charged by the corporation with disseminating the allegedly untrue statements of material
fact.” 1d. Since there were no individuals named in the Zavolta complaint who could be
judged with respect to scienter, the district court then considered the “collective scienter”
approach approved by other Circuits, id. (citing Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs,
513 F.3d 702, 710 (7th Cir. 2008)). The district court recognized that “[c]ollective scienter
permits finding that a corporation had the requisite scienter if some unnamed corporate
officer acted with the requisite scienter.” Id. However, in dicta, the district court
suggested that collective scienter “does not survive the Third Circuit’s bar against group
pleading in securities cases.” Id. “[I]f one cannot impute corporate statements to corporate
officers with control, i.e., group pleading,” the court surmised, “then it seems odd to allow
corporate statements to be imputed to unnamed corporate officers . ...” 1d. The district
court reserved judgment on this issue, but nevertheless held that the plaintiff’s allegations
failed to create a strong inference of scienter for any corporate officer whose intent could
be imputed to the corporation. Id. at *8. As such, the case was dismissed.

The Seventh Circuit

In Pugh v. Tribune Co., 521 F.3d 686 (7th Cir. 2008), purchasers of common stock
brought a 10b-5 action against Tribune Company (“Tribune”), its executive officers, and
employees of two of its newspapers, alleging that the subsidiary newspapers “falsely
boosted” circulation numbers, leading to inflated revenues for Tribune. Id. at 690. The
district court dismissed the complaint with prejudice, and the plaintiffs appealed. Id. at
692. The plaintiffs attempted to establish primary liability for Tribune itself. 1d. at 697.
The Seventh Circuit held that the focus of a corporate scienter inquiry must be on “‘the
state of mind of the individual corporate official or officials who make or issue the
statement (or order or approve it or its making or issuance, or who furnish information or
language for inclusion therein, or the like) rather than generally to the collective
knowledge of all the corporation’s officers and employees acquired in the course of their
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employment.”” Id. (quoting Makor, 513 F.3d at 708). Since the Seventh Circuit already
determined that the plaintiffs’ complaint failed to allege facts sufficient to support a strong
inference of scienter on the part of any of the individual defendants, the company’s
scienter could not be based on their states of mind. 1d. The plaintiffs attempted to make
additional liability arguments based on respondeat superior, but these allegations also
failed because the defendant employee was not an executive officer of the parent company,
but of a subsidiary. 1d. at 698. Thus, the Seventh Circuit held the plaintiffs’ claims for
primary liability against the corporation was properly dismissed by the district court. Id.

In Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs Inc., 513 F.3d 702 (7th Cir. 2008), on
remand from the Supreme Court, the Seventh Circuit considered whether a reasonable
person would deem the plaintiffs’ scienter allegations as to defendants Tellabs Inc.
(“Tellabs™) and its CEO “*cogent and at least as compelling as any opposing inference one
could draw from the facts alleged.”” 1d. at 705 (quoting Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324). The
Seventh Circuit reaffirmed its prior conclusion that the plaintiffs had succeeded in pleading
scienter as required under the PSLRA, and adhered to its decision reversing the district
court’s dismissal. 1d. at 712.

In December 2000, Tellabs, a manufacturer of equipment used in fiber optic cable
networks, announced that it had begun selling a successor to its principal product, TITAN
5500, and that Sprint had signed a multi-year contract to purchase the successor, TITAN
6500. The company also announced that sales of the 5500 would continue to grow. Id. at
706. Over the next several months, Tellabs continued to tout the success of both the 5500
and the 6500. However, the plaintiffs alleged that “Tellabs had been flooding its
customers with tens of millions of dollars” worth of 5500s that the customers had not
requested, in order to create an illusion of demand.” 1d. at 706. In June 2001, Tellabs later
announced a drop in revenue, at which time the company’s stock price fell. Id. at 707.

The Seventh Circuit held that establishing corporate liability for a violation of Rule
10b-5 requires “*look[ing] to the state of mind of the individual corporate official or
officials who make or issue the statement . . . rather than generally to the collective
knowledge of all the corporation’s officers and employees acquired in the course of their
employment.”” Id. at 708 (quoting Southland Sec. Corp. v. INSpire Ins. Solutions, Inc.,
365 F.3d 353, 366 (5th Cir. 2004)). To this point, the Seventh Circuit noted that a
corporation “is liable for statements by employees who have apparent authority to make
them.” 1d. The Seventh Circuit found that the key question in this regard was whether the
allegedly false statements “were the result of merely careless mistakes at the management
level based on false information fed it from below, rather than of an intent to deceive or a
reckless indifference to whether the statements were misleading.” 1d. at 709. The Seventh
Circuit found the non-culpable inference highly unlikely, noting that the 5500 and the 6500
were Tellabs’s most important products:

That no member of the company’s senior management who was involved in
authorizing or making public statements about the demand for the 5500 and
6500 knew that they were false is very hard to credit, and no plausible story
has yet been told by the defendants that might dispel our incredulity.
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Id. Notably, despite rejecting the “collective knowledge” approach to evaluating
allegations of corporate scienter, the Seventh Circuit stated that

it is possible to draw a strong inference of corporate scienter without being
able to name the individuals who concocted and disseminated the fraud.
Suppose General Motors announced that it had sold one million SUVs in
2006, and the actual number was zero. There would be a strong inference of
corporate scienter, since so dramatic an announcement would have been
approved by corporate officials sufficiently knowledgeable about the
company to know that the announcement was false.

Id. at 710.

The D.C. Circuit

In Plumbers Local No. 200 Pension Fund v. Washington Post Co., 2011 WL
6445252, at *11-12 (D.D.C. Dec. 23, 2011), the district court granted the defendants’
motion to dismiss because the plaintiff failed to establish a strong inference of scienter.
Plumbers Local No. 200 Pension Fund was the lead plaintiff in a putative class action
alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. Id. at
*1. The defendants were the Washington Post (“WPQ”), the parent company of Kaplan,
Inc. (“Kaplan”), which in turn was the parent of Kaplan Higher Education Corp. (“KHE”),
a private, for-profit college, and two high-level executives of WPO. Id. The plaintiff
alleged that the defendants “fail[ed] to disclose that WPQO’s business was driven by illegal
predatory enrollment practices and provided false statements behind WPQ’s financial
performance and future business prospects,” which led to an artificially high value in WPO
stock. Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

The plaintiff contended that it had established a strong inference of scienter by
alleging that: (1) confidential witness statements regarding company-wide policies
demonstrative of predatory enrollment practices; (2) one of the defendant-executives
attended compensation committee meetings in relation to Kaplan and KHE; and (3) the
defendants had a closely-monitored data system that demonstrated Kaplan’s predatory
business practices. Id. at *3. However, citing the plaintiff’s failure to allege specific facts
or conduct demonstrating the individually-named defendants’ personal knowledge, the
district court found that the plaintiff failed to establish scienter under the heightened
pleading standard of the PSLRA. 1d. at *4. Significantly, the court repeatedly rejected
plaintiff’s arguments that knowledge could be imputed to a high-level executive based on
what the executives and employees of a subsidiary and a second-level subsidiary were
alleged to have known. See, e.g., id. at *5 (“[T]o the extent that [p]laintiff seeks to
establish scienter through an assumption that [d]efendants knew what their employees
knew, this is inadequate.”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); id. at *7
(“[C]orporate management’s general awareness of the day-to-day workings of the
company’s business does not establish scienter.”). Even assuming that executives of the
subsidiaries did know of misconduct, the district court continued, the allegations could
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only give rise to an inference of negligence on the part of the parent executives, which is
insufficient to show scienter. Id. at *7.

Group Pleading

The group pleading doctrine allows plaintiffs to rely, for pleading purposes only,
on a presumption that group-published documents are the collective work of those
individuals with direct involvement in the company’s everyday business. Examples of
such documents include press releases, registration statements and prospectuses, annual
reports, and periodic filings with the SEC. See, e.qg., In re Constellation Energy Grp., Inc.
Sec. Litig., 738 F. Supp. 2d 614 (D. Md. 2010). The effect of this doctrine is to allow
plaintiffs the ability, to a limited extent, to circumvent the general pleading requirement
that fraudulent statements must be linked directly to the accused party. However, its
application is limited in that it requires a plaintiff to allege facts indicating that the
defendant served as a corporate insider. See, e.q., Footbridge Ltd. v. Countrywide Home
Loans, Inc., 2010 WL 3790810 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 28, 2010). Following the passage of the
PSLRA, certain circuits—most notably the Third, Fifth, and Seventh—have concluded that
the group pleading doctrine is no longer viable. See, e.g., Winer Family Trust v. Queen,
503 F.3d 319, 337 (3d Cir. 2007). On the other hand, the First and Second Circuits have
continued to allow the application of the group pleading doctrine despite the PSLRA’s
heightened pleading standards. See, e.g., Miss. Pub. Empls. Ret. Sys. v. Bos. Sci. Corp,
523 F.3d 75 (1st Cir. 2008); Camofi Master LDC v. Riptide Worldwide, Inc., 2011 WL
1197659 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 25, 2011). Note, however, that the applicability of the doctrine in
the secondary liability context remains in flux after the Supreme Court’s decision in Janus.
See Rolin v. Spartan Mullen ET Cie, S.A., 2011 WL 5920931, at *5-6 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 23,
2011) (citing Janus, 131 S. Ct. 2296 (2011)).

The Second Circuit

In Camofi Master LDC v. Riptide Worldwide, Inc., 2011 WL 1197659 (S.D.N.Y.
Mar. 25, 2011), investor plaintiffs filed an action against defendant corporation (“Riptide”)
and various individual directors and officers under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5. According to the terms of a securities purchase agreement (“SPA”), plaintiffs
loaned funds to Riptide, receiving in exchange secured notes and warrants to purchase
common stock. Id. at *1. In their complaint, plaintiffs alleged that defendants made
material misrepresentations with respect to the due diligence conducted, the transaction
documents, and the various SEC filings. Id. The district court denied the individual
defendants’ motion to dismiss.

Although the group pleading doctrine is narrow in scope and is limited to group-
published documents, the district court found that plaintiffs could use it to rely on a
presumption that SEC filings and the SPA were the collective work of various high-level
executives that “played a daily role in the activities of Riptide.” Id. at *6-8 (citing In re_
Oxford Health Plans, 187 F.R.D. 133, 142 (S.D.N.Y. 1999); 380544 Canada, Inc. v. Aspen
Tech., Inc., 544 F. Supp. 2d 199, 218 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)). The court noted, however, that
the group pleading doctrine is inapplicable to oral statements, making it impossible for the
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plaintiffs to rely on it for statements made during negotiations regarding the SPA or during
due diligence. 1d. at *9. However, “by virtue of their executive positions within the
company,” the district court held that the individual defendants were “linked to the
allegedly fraudulent statements . . . in the Transaction Documents and the SEC filings.”
Id. As aresult, the individual defendants’ motion to dismiss with respect to alleged
misstatements made in the SPA and the SEC filings was denied. Id. at *10.

In Rolin v. Spartan Mullen ET Cie, S.A., 2011 WL 5920931 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 23,
2011), the plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) alleging violations of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act against the moving defendants, executives at Chimay
Capital Management (“CCM”). Id. at *1. According to the SAC, Guy Albert de Chimay
(“Chimay”), owner, partner, and investment manager of CCM, presented the plaintiffs with
the opportunity to invest in a Bridge Loan Facility (“BLF”), making warranties about the
BLF and representing it as a safe investment that was “guaranteed by CCM.” 1d. at *2.
Once plaintiffs had made an initial investment, a meeting occurred between Chimay,
moving defendants, and plaintiffs during which the moving defendants provided the
plaintiffs with materials about the firm and told them that “CCM was a respectable and
honest company.” Id. As a result of this meeting, the plaintiffs invested additional funds
into the BLF. Id. at *3. According to the SAC, the plaintiffs’ invested capital was diverted
into various other investment vehicles for the benefit of Chimay and the moving
defendants. Id.

The district court sought to determine whether the moving defendants could be held
accountable for statements made by Chimay to investors regarding the safety of
investments made in the BLF. 1d. at *5. The plaintiffs invoked the group pleading
doctrine. Id. at *5-6. However, considering the logic of Janus, where the Supreme Court
determined that a mutual fund advisor could not be held liable in a private 10b-5 action for
false statements included in a client’s mutual fund prospectus since the advisor did not
actually “make” the statements in question, id., the district court determined that it
remained unclear whether Janus abrogated the “group pleading” doctrine in this context.
However, because the plaintiffs” allegations with respect to these theories were conclusory
and without merit, defendants’ motion to dismiss with respect to plaintiffs’ 10b-5 claims
was granted. Id.

In In re Citigroup Sec. Litig., 753 F. Supp. 2d 206 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the putative
class action plaintiffs brought claims against Citigroup, Inc. (“Citigroup”) and fourteen of
its directors and officers, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange
Act. The plaintiffs claimed that, at various times from 2006 to 2008, the defendants
materially misled investors about the company’s financial health by knowingly
understating the risks it faced in various financial instruments related to the subprime
mortgage industry and overstating the value of its assets, causing investors to suffer
damages when the truth about Citigroup’s assets was revealed. Id. at 212.

A number of the plaintiffs’ allegations concerned Citigroup’s exposure to
collateralized debt obligations (“CDOQOs”). In particular, the plaintiffs alleged that “the
defendants failed to give a full and truthful account of the extent of Citigroup’s CDO
exposure” by revealing only the size of Citigroup’s underwriting activities and not the size
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of Citigroup’s CDO holdings. 1d. at 217-18. The plaintiffs further claimed that
Citigroup’s SEC filings “failed to convey the subprime-related risks inherent in its CDO
portfolio” because they did not distinguish which Citigroup CDOs were backed by
subprime mortgages and which were backed by other assets. 1d. at 217, 220. The
plaintiffs also contended that Citigroup’s SEC filings violated accounting rules with
respect to valuing its CDO holdings because Citigroup failed to “take[] writedowns on its
CDO holdings in reaction to precipitous drops in the ‘TABX,” a widely used index that
tracked the price of mezzanine CDOs.” Id. at 217, 223. The defendants moved to dismiss
the plaintiffs’ claims, arguing that the plaintiffs failed to meet the heightened pleading
standards for securities fraud. The district court granted the defendants’ motion in part but
allowed the plaintiffs to proceed against Citigroup and seven of the individual defendants
on claims that, between February 2007 and August 2008, the defendants misrepresented
the extent of Citigroup’s CDO exposure. 1d.

The district court permitted the plaintiffs to employ the group pleading doctrine to
show that the seven “corporate insider” defendants were responsible for Citigroup’s
misleading statements and omissions. To invoke the doctrine, the court explained, “the
complaint must allege facts indicating that the defendant was a corporate insider, with
direct involvement in day-to-day affairs, at the entity issuing the statement.” Id. at 239
(quoting Anwar v. Fairfield Greenwich Ltd., 728 F. Supp. 2d 372, 405-06 (S.D.N.Y.
2010)) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Because the complaint alleged
that seven of the defendants were corporate insiders either (1) involved in the collectively-
authored SEC filings containing the alleged misrepresentations or (2) “otherwise deeply
involved in Citigroup’s day-to-day activities,” the district court allowed plaintiffs’ claims
against those seven defendants to continue under the group pleading doctrine. Id.

In SEC v. Espuelas, 699 F. Supp. 2d 655 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the SEC brought an
enforcement action against former executives of the Internet media company StarMedia
Network, Inc. (*“StarMedia”) for accounting fraud, alleging violations of the Securities Act
and the Exchange Act. The district court allowed certain claims against the defendant
Betsy Scolnik to survive the defendants” motion to dismiss. Thereafter, Scolnik moved for
summary judgment on those claims. Id. at 656.

The district court found that Scolnik was entitled to summary judgment on the
SEC’s Section 17(a), Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claims because the SEC had not
alleged that Scolnik actually made a false or misleading statement. While the SEC could
survive a motion to dismiss by invoking the group pleading doctrine and pleading facts
sufficient to allege that Scolnik was a corporate insider, the SEC could not rely on the
group pleading doctrine at the summary judgment stage. See id. at 660. “There is good
reason . . . to think that group pleading is and has always been just a pleading device,
designed to aid plaintiffs at the pleading stage and prior to discovery but not to free them
of their ultimate burden to link the defendant to the making of a misstatement.” 1d. The
district court stated that it “[was] aware of no authority in [the Second] Circuit for
converting the pleading doctrine into a substantive ground for fraud liability.” Id. at 662.
Because Scolnik had presented evidence to “rebut[] any presumption that . . . she must
have had a hand in creating the StarMedia disclosures that contained misstatements,” and
because the SEC conceded that it could not establish Scolnik’s personal responsibility for
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any misstatements, the district court found Scolnik entitled to summary judgment as to
those claims which required a misstatement to be attributed to her. 1d. at 662-63.

The Sixth Circuit

In Local 295/Local 851 IBT Emp’r Grp. Pension Trust & Welfare Fund v. Fifth
Third Bancorp., 731 F. Supp. 2d 689 (S.D. Ohio 2010), the plaintiffs claimed violations of
Sections 10(b), Section 20(a), and Rule 10b-5, alleging that the defendants made material
misrepresentations and omissions by stating that the company followed conservative
lending policies and had adequate capital reserves when in reality the defendants
aggressively began originating risky sub-prime loans and did not set aside adequate loan
loss reserves. Id. After the defendants announced that it would have to raise capital
through new securities offerings, cut its dividends, and sell off non-core business assets,
the price of the defendants’ stock declined. 1d. at 710.

The defendants moved to dismiss for failure to raise a sufficient inference of
scienter under the PSLRA. 1d. at 716. The defendants argued that the plaintiffs failed to
demonstrate scienter because they failed to allege facts giving rise to a sufficient inference
of scienter as to each individual defendant. Id. at 719. Rather, according to the
defendants, the plaintiffs relied upon the group pleading doctrine, which was abolished by
the PSLRA. Id. The district court acknowledged that “[t]he Sixth Circuit has not decided
whether group pleading survives the enactment of the PSLRA.” Id. at 719. However, the
district court adopted the reasoning of the Sixth Circuit that the “group pleading [doctrine]
is ‘antithetical’ to the PSLRA’s requirement that the complaint state with particularity facts
giving rise to a strong inference of scienter.” Id. at 719. As such, the district court found
that the plaintiffs could not rely on group pleading to establish the individual defendants’
scienter. 1d. at 720.

The Seventh Circuit

In Pugh v. Tribune Co., 521 F.3d 686 (7th Cir. 2008), purchasers of common stock
brought a 10b-5 action against Tribune Company (“Tribune”), its executive officers, and
employees of two of its newspapers alleging that the subsidiary newspapers “falsely
boosted” circulation numbers, leading to inflated revenues for Tribune. Id. at 690. The
district court dismissed the complaint with prejudice, and the plaintiffs appealed. Id. at
692. The Seventh Circuit held that, following Tellabs, courts must “weigh the strength of
the plaintiffs” inferences in comparison to plausible nonculpable explanations.” Id. at 693.
Further, the Seventh Circuit rejected the group pleading doctrine—*a judicial presumption
that statements in group-published documents are attributable to officers who have daily
involvement in company operations.” Id. Therefore, “the plaintiffs must create a strong
inference of scienter with respect to each individual defendant.” 1d. With regard to
scienter, the plaintiffs alleged that the defendants were recklessly indifferent to the quality
of their SEC filings, that they intentionally or recklessly had weak internal controls, and
that the defendants’ stock sales showed motive. Id. at 694-95. The Seventh Circuit found
these allegations failed to create a strong inference of scienter with regard to the individual
defendants and affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the complaint. Id. at 695, 701.
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The Tenth Circuit

In In re SemGroup Energy Partners, L.P. Sec. Litig., 729 F. Supp. 2d 1276, 1282-
83 (N.D. Okla. 2010), the defendants moved to dismiss for failure to state a claim under
the Exchange Act.

Investors in SemGroup Energy Partners, L.P. (“SGLP”) brought a putative class
action against SGLP, its parent company SemGroup L.P. (“Parent”), SGLP’s general
partner in the limited partnership, SemGroup Energy Partners G.P. (“General Partner”),
and individual officers of all three entities. Id. at 1283-85. The directors and officers of
the General Partner “control[ed] SGLP and manage[d] its operations and activities.” Id. at
1283. Following the collapse of the Parent, allegedly caused by speculative and
unauthorized trading in commodities, the lead plaintiff brought suit, alleging material
misrepresentations in SGLP’s initial public offering and secondary offering documents as
well as SGLP’s financial reports. 1d. at 1285.

The district court rejected the defendants’ claim that the group pleading doctrine
had been abolished by the PSLRA. Id. at 1294 (citing Schwartz v. Celestial Seasonings,
Inc., 124 F.3d 1246, 1254 (10th Cir. 1997)). Three of the General Partner directors further
argued that statements in group-published documents could only be attributed to the SEC
filings they had signed. Id. at 1294-95. The district court disagreed and found that group-
published documents they had not signed could be attributed to them because all three had
actual control or the power to exercise control over the day-to-day operations of SGLP. 1d.
at 1294-95. The district court declined to distinguish between inside and outside directors,
citing case law stating that outside directors are also susceptible to the group pleading
doctrine when “by virtue of their status or a special relationship with the corporation, they
have access to information more akin to a corporate insider.” Id. at 1295 (citing Schnall v.
Annuity & Life Re (Holdings) Ltd., 2004 WL 231439, at *4 (D. Conn. Feb. 4, 2004)).

The district court, however, did grant the motion to dismiss with respect to the
treasurer of the Parent because, although the plaintiffs alleged the treasurer had knowledge
of the activities leading up to the Parent’s collapse, they did not allege that he had actively
participated in the dissemination of false information associated with SGLP. 1d. at 1295-
96. Specifically, the claim against the treasurer failed because the complaint did not allege
that he “signed the allegedly fraudulent filings, had any control over the content of the
filings or was involved in the day-to-day management of either SGLP or the General
Partner.” Id. at 1296.

In In re Thornburg Mortg., Inc. Sec. Litig., 695 F. Supp. 2d 1165 (D.N.M. 2010),
the plaintiffs were investors that brought a putative class action suit for violations of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against Thornburg Mortgage, Inc.
(“TMI”) and its officers. Id. at 1173. The plaintiffs alleged, inter alia, that Larry
Goldstone, TMI’s COO (and after December 18, 2007, its CEO), had made false and
materially misleading statements regarding the types of loans TMI had originated and that
the other officers of the company were implicated through the group pleading doctrine. Id.
at 1176-78. The defendants moved to dismiss, arguing that the plaintiffs did not satisfy the
requirements of the PSLRA because they failed to plead facts supporting an inference of
scienter for each defendant. Id. at 1196.
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The district court noted that while the Tenth Circuit had not addressed the group
pleading doctrine since the passage of the PSLRA, a number of other circuits found that
the PSLRA eliminated it. Id. at 1197 (citing Winer Family Trust v. Queen, 503 F.3d 319,
336-37 (3d Cir. 2007); Fin. Acquisition Partners LP v. Blackwell, 440 F.3d 278, 287 (5th
Cir. 2006); Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs Inc., 437 F.3d 588, 602-03 (7th Cir.
2006), rev’d on other grounds, 551 U.S. 308 (2007); Phillips v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.,
374 F.3d 1015, 1018 (11th Cir. 2004)); but see Glazer Capital Mgmt., LP v. Magistri, 549
F.3d 736 (9th Cir. 2008) (stating that the group pleading doctrine is applicable in certain
circumstances). The district court, unwilling to find that the PSLRA prohibits all instances
of group pleading, drew a distinction between use of the doctrine to describe conduct and
use to allege the mental state of a defendant. Id. at 1199-1200. The district court
explained that the circuit courts that found that the PSLRA abolished group pleading relied
on the statute’s language requiring plaintiffs to “state with particularity facts giving rise to
a strong inference that the defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 1d. at 1199.
The district court continued by explaining that it did not deem it “necessary or prudent to
find that the PSLRA eliminates group-pleading when a plaintiff is trying to describe
conduct . . . [but that it will] only consider scienter allegations that are specific as to an
actor or allegations as to which the [c]ourt can readily discern the actor.” Id. at 1200.
Accordingly, the district court dismissed the 10b-5 claims against all of TMI’s officers
other than Goldstone. 1d. at 1212-13. The district court found the plaintiffs had
sufficiently pleaded scienter as to Goldstone because he alone made public statements that
were materially misleading with respect to TMI’s mortgage portfolio. Id. at 1210-11.

The Core Operations Doctrine

Under the core operations doctrine, a strong inference of scienter may be imputed
to an officer or director of a company when alleged misstatements relate to the core
operations of that company, such that high-ranking individuals should have known that the
statements were false. See In re Wachovia Equity Sec. Litig., 753 F. Supp. 2d 326, 352-53
(S.D.N.Y. 2011). Although courts continue to disagree on whether the core operations
doctrine survived the passage of the PSLRA, a growing consensus seems to be forming
that the statute’s requirement that facts supporting scienter be pleaded with particularity
eliminates the doctrine’s applicability. See id. at 353 (“the Court ventures to suggest that
the future of the [core operations] doctrine may be tenuous.”); Plumbers Local No. 200
Pension Fund v. Wash. Post Co., 2011 WL 6445252, at *11-12 (D.D.C. Dec. 23, 2011)
(collecting cases for the proposition that “since the enactment of the PSLRA, several
Courts of Appeals have held that the doctrine has been significantly narrowed.”).

The Second Circuit

In In re Wachovia Equity Sec. Litig., 753 F. Supp. 2d 326 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), the
district court dismissed the plaintiffs’ claims brought pursuant to Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
under the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The case involved four complaints and seven
motions to dismiss that arose from the “financial disintegration” experienced by the
defendant Wachovia Corporation (“Wachovia”) between its 2006 purchase of Golden West
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Financial Corporation (“Golden West”) and its 2008 merger with Wells Fargo &
Company. Id. at 341. The plaintiffs alleged that Wachovia began focusing on selling
Golden West’s main product, the “Pick-A-Payment” mortgage, which allowed borrowers
to choose from multiple payment options each month, including a minimum payment that
ultimately increased the principal of the loan, a phenomenon known as negative
amortization. Id. at 342. The plaintiffs alleged that Wachovia made numerous
misrepresentations to conceal its risky practices and the true risk of the Pick-A-Payment
loans, which when revealed in early 2008 led to a drastic decrease in the value of
Wachovia’s shares. Id. at 343.

In support of their claims, plaintiffs relied on the ““core operations’ doctrine”
identified in In re Atlas Air Worldwide Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litig., 324 F. Supp. 2d 474,
489 (S.D.N.Y. 2004), which imputes scienter to key corporate officers on the assumption
that they should have known about matters relating to the core operations of the company.
1d. at 352-53. The district court held that the seminal Second Circuit case on the issue,
Cosmas v. Hassett, 886 F.2d 8 (2d Cir. 1989), occurred prior to the passage of the PSLRA
in 1995, and the Second Circuit has yet to pass on the current viability and scope of the
doctrine. Wachovia, 753 F. Supp. 2d at 353. The district court noted the disagreement
among district courts in the Second Circuit as to whether the PSLRA (which requires facts
supporting the scienter analysis to be “‘state[d] with particularity,””) limits the force of
general allegations about core company operations. 1d. (quoting 15 U.S.C. 8§ 78u-4(b)(1)).
The district court stated that “[b]ased on the trajectory of ‘core operations’ law in this and
other circuits, the Court ventures to suggest that the future of the doctrine may be tenuous,”
and determined to consider core operations allegations as supplementary but not
independently sufficient to plead scienter. Id. at 353. The district court ultimately rejected
the plaintiffs’ core operations allegations as they related to lending policies and practices
because the plaintiffs failed to allege the significance of those policies to core Wachovia
businesses and failed to articulate a cognizable limit to the core operations definition. Id.
at 358, 360-61.

The Fourth Circuit

In In re Constellation Grp., Inc. Sec. Litig., 738 F. Supp. 2d 614 (D. Md. 2010),
investors brought a class action against the company and its directors and officers alleging
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act as well as Sections 11, 12(a),
and 15 of the Securities Act. Id. at 619. Constellation Energy Group, Inc.
(“Constellation”) was involved in energy trading that required the company to post large
amounts of collateral. Id. at 620. Due to an error in a computer program, Constellation
incorrectly stated the amount of collateral it would need in the event of a credit downgrade,
and that error was incorporated into the company’s Form 10-Q. Id. at 621. When Lehman
Brothers filed for bankruptcy one month later, Constellation revealed that Lehman was a
counter-party to some of its transactions. 1d. at 622. These two events provided the basis
for most of the plaintiffs’ claims.

For the element of scienter, the plaintiffs argued that the liquidity and capital
obligations were so important to Constellation that the defendants were extremely reckless
in not understanding the collateral downgrade requirements and other details of relevant
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agreements with Lehman. 1d. at 635. The district court found that although “in some
circumstances it may be reasonable to assume that officers of a company know of facts
critical to the company’s core operations,” pleading the importance of liquidity to the
overall business was not sufficient to meet the heightened PSLRA standard for

scienter. Id. To survive a motion to dismiss, the district court advised, the plaintiffs would
need to plead that the defendants knew about the error in the computer system. 1d. at

636. Further, the district court determined the agreements with Lehman Brothers were not
important enough to the overall business to create an inference of scienter. 1d. at 637. The
district court also found insufficient the plaintiffs’ allegations that Constellation placed
Lehman Brothers on its internal credit watch list before September 2008, explaining that
general concerns did not translate into an intentional or reckless masking of Lehman
Brothers’ financial condition. 1d. Thus, the district court granted defendant’s motion to
dismiss plaintiff’s 10b-5 claims. 1d.

The Eighth Circuit

In In re St. Jude Med., Inc. Sec. Litig., 2011 WL 6755008 (D. Minn. Dec. 23,
2011), the district court denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss in relevant part, holding
that plaintiffs had sufficiently pleaded scienter and loss causation.

The plaintiffs, a pension trust fund and a retirement system, brought claims under
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against St. Jude Medical, Inc. (“St.
Jude™) and four of its officers. Id. at *1. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants engaged
in “channel stuffing” for its cardiac rhythm management devices (“CRMs”), i.e.,
pressuring customers to purchase large quantities of the company’s products at the end of a
quarter in order to artificially inflate earnings. 1d. at *2. The defendants claimed such
“quarter-end quantity purchases” (“QPs”) are a common and normal occurrence in their
field. Id. at *9.

The plaintiffs argued that scienter could be imputed to the executives under the
core business theory because QPs of CRMs were extremely important to the company’s
revenue. Id. at *21. The defendants argued that CRMs were not as relevant as the
plaintiffs contended, stating that the CRM division was only one of four divisions in the
company. Id. The district court was unconvinced by the defendants’ arguments and noted
that they accounted for approximately 60% of St. Jude’s sales and appeared to be the main
focus of the company. 1d. Moreover, the district court observed, the plaintiffs did not rely
exclusively on the core business theory, but also alleged that other supervisory personnel at
St. Jude’s had actual knowledge that the data given to the public was inaccurate. 1d.
Acknowledging that the Eighth Circuit had not yet decided whether the core business
theory was sufficient by itself to plead scienter, the district court stated that it was
appropriate to employ the theory where plaintiffs allege that the critical facts were known
within the company—even if no claim is made that the named defendants had such
knowledge. Id.
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The D.C. Circuit

In Plumbers Local No. 200 Pension Fund v. Washington Post Co., 2011 WL
6445252 (D.D.C. Dec. 23, 2011), the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss, holding that the plaintiff failed to establish a strong inference of scienter.

Plumbers Local No. 200 Pension Fund was the lead plaintiff in a putative class
action alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.
Id. at *1. The defendants were the Washington Post (“WPQO”), the parent company of
Kaplan, Inc. (“Kaplan®), which in turn was the parent of Kaplan Higher Education Corp.
(“KHE”), a private, for-profit college, and two high-level executives of WPO. 1d. The
plaintiff alleged that the defendants “fail[ed] to disclose that WPO’s business was driven
by illegal predatory enrollment practices and provided false statements behind WPO’s
financial performance and future business prospects,” which led to an artificially high
value in WPO stock. Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The plaintiff
contended that it had established a strong inference of scienter by alleging, inter alia, that
Kaplan was the core business of WPO. Id. at *3.

The district court rejected plaintiff’s “core business” argument that the named
defendants’ knowledge of the alleged fraud should be inferred because Kaplan and KHE
accounted for a significant share (between 57.3% and 62.2%) of WPQ’s total revenues
throughout the class period. 1d. at *9. The district court limited the core business theory,
noting that it is rarely used, not recognized by the D.C. Circuit, has been significantly
narrowed following the passage of the PSLRA, and that even if it were applicable, requires
that “the operation in question constitute nearly all of a company’s business before finding
scienter based on this doctrine.” Id. at *10 (internal quotation marks and citations
omitted).

Pleading Accounting Fraud
The First Circuit

In Hoff v. Popular, Inc., 727 F. Supp. 2d 77 (D.P.R. 2010), the plaintiffs brought a
class action under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against a bank
holding company, Popular, Inc. (“Popular”), and its executive directors. The defendant
offered a variety of financial and banking services, and the plaintiffs alleged that the
defendants made false or misleading statements in press releases and SEC filings. 1d. at
85. The plaintiffs claimed that the defendants committed securities fraud by making false
or misleading statements about Popular’s finances in order to artificially inflate the
company’s earnings and liquidity. 1d. at 86. The defendants moved to dismiss the Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5 actions.

The district court first addressed whether the defendants had made materially false
statements. Id. at 88. The district court noted that the First Circuit has held that “[w]hile a
company need not reveal every piece of information that affects anything said before, it
must disclose facts, “if any, that are needed so that what was revealed [before] would not
be so incomplete as to mislead.”” 1d. at 89 (quoting Miss. Pub. Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. Bos.
Scientific Corp., 523 F.3d 75, 87 (1st Cir. 2008)). Here, the district court noted that GAAP
violations can properly give rise to Section 10(b) liability, and the plaintiffs’ theory of
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“material falsity is premised on the allegation that, under GAAP, Popular should have
recorded a full valuation allowance several months before it did.” Id. The district court
held that the plaintiffs had adequately alleged a violation of GAAP, and therefore met the
material misstatement prong of Rule 10b-5, because the defendants should have taken a
valuation allowance. The district court found that the defendants “did not have a strong
enough earnings history, nor would it have been reasonable for Popular to interpret that the
historical losses in its U.S. operations were . . . anything but a continuing condition.” Id. at
90. Because of these continued losses, the district court concluded that GAAP required the
defendants to record a valuation allowance, which they failed to do.

Furthermore, the district court held that the plaintiffs adequately pleaded scienter.
Examining the plaintiffs’ allegations that: (1) defendants repeatedly violated GAAP by not
taking the required valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets; (2) defendants were
motivated to achieve a well-capitalized status; (3) defendants concealed the accounting
ramifications of their actions; (4) these concealments led to overstated balance sheets and
SEC filings; and (5) defendants made a public offering while doing this; the district court
held the allegations raised a strong inference of scienter. 1d. at 92. Because the company
continuously violated GAAP and was motivated to do so in order to achieve “a well-
capitalized status,” the district court found that the plaintiffs raised a strong inference of
scienter with respect to the company. Id.

The district court also held that the plaintiffs had adequately pleaded scienter with
respect to the individual officers. The court found that because the officers knew all the
company’s negative financial information, or were at least reckless in not knowing, and
given the large valuation allowance that had to be taken when GAAP protocols were
finally complied with ($100 million greater than the previous allowance), the plaintiffs had
established the requisite scienter. 1d. at 93.

The Second Circuit

In In re Lehman Bros. Sec. & ERISA Litig., 799 F. Supp. 2d 258 (S.D.N.Y. 2011),
the district court granted in part and denied in part the defendants’ motion to dismiss. The
plaintiffs, investors, brought a putative class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and
20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against the defendants, the former officers and
the external auditor of Lehman Brothers (“Lehman”). Id. at 264. The plaintiffs alleged
that the defendants made false and misleading statements and omissions in Lehman’s
offering materials and during conference calls relating to the company’s liquidity, credit
risks, and the value of its commercial real estate holdings. Id. The plaintiffs alleged that
the defendants engaged in quarterly balance sheet manipulations to falsely present the
company as being in a stronger financial position than it was through “Repo 105”
transactions, which temporarily decreased the company’s net leverage ratio at the end of
each quarter before being re-adjusted shortly after each quarter closed. Id. at 268-69.

The district court held that the defendants made materially misleading statements
regarding the Repo 105 transactions because the artificially lowered net leverage violated
the overriding requirement of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) to
present the financial condition of the company accurately, and because the defendants
made false and misleading statements regarding their treatment of the transactions for
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accounting purposes. 1d. at 279, 281-82. The district court held that the allegations raised
“red flags” that created an inference of scienter:

The allegations that these transaction were used at the end of each reporting period,
in amounts that increased as the economic crisis intensified, to affect a financial
metric that allegedly was material to investors, credit rating agencies, and analysts
support a strong inference that the [i]nsider [d]efendants knew, or were reckless in
not knowing, that the use of the Repo 105 transactions and the manner in which
they were accounted for painted a misleading picture of the company’s finances.

Id. at 296.

The district court held that the defendants made material misrepresentations about
their compliance with internal risk management practices and failed to disclose that they
routinely altered risk limit policies. Id. at 284. Furthermore, the defendants were involved
in setting Lehman’s risk policies and knew about or knowingly tolerated their routine
alteration, and the defendants knew their statements concerning enforcing the risk
management policies were false. See id. at 297. The defendants also violated the
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”), which requires an entity to
disclose all significant concentrations of credit risk arising from all financial instruments.
Id. at 298. The district court found the plaintiffs adequately alleged that the defendants
were aware of and failed to disclose Lehman’s significant concentration of credit risk,
pointing to a presentation made to Lehman’s Executive Committee warning of the risks
inherent in the over-concentration of its global commercial real estate portfolio. Id. at 291-
92. The district court held that scienter could be inferred for those defendants who were
members of the committee at the time the presentation was given. Id. at 298.

The Seventh Circuit

In Fulton Cnty. Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. MGIC Inv. Co., 2010 WL 5095294 (E.D. Wis.
Dec. 8, 2010), aff’d, 675 F.3d 1047 (7th Cir. 2012), plaintiffs brought suit under Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act alleging that defendants made misleading statements
regarding company financials. 1d. at *5. The plaintiffs’ case involved two affiliated
companies that suffered losses as a result of the subprime financial crisis. 1d. at *1.
Defendant MGIC owned a 46% stake in C-BASS, a company that purchased subprime
single-family residential mortgages and packaged them into mortgage-backed securities.
Id. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendant made false statements about the value of C-
BASS’s portfolio of mortgage-backed securities and about C-BASS’s liquidity. 1d. at *3.
Specifically, the plaintiffs alleged that the defendants knowingly failed to write down C-
BASS’s assets after the value of those assets declined, which the district court noted
required the plaintiffs to plead facts “showing that the assets were not valued properly for
financial accounting purposes.” 1d. at *5.

The district court added that, because accounting is not a science and there is
usually a range of reasonable accounting treatments, in order to satisfactorily plead a
securities fraud claim, plaintiffs must identify the accounting principles that govern and
plead facts giving rise to a reasonable belief that the company did not properly apply those
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principles. 1d. The plaintiffs must plead “enough background about these concepts to
enable the reader to conclude” that the defendants misapplied them. Id. at *6. Then, the
plaintiffs must run the facts pleaded in the complaint through the accounting system to
show “that one could not reasonably come up with the values that the defendants
reported.” Id. The plaintiffs identified three “red flags” about the defendant’s valuation
techniques: (1) the performance of the ABX index, which tracked a basket of subprime
mortgage-backed securities, declined significantly during the time period; (2) the
defendants received hundreds of millions of dollars of margin calls; and (3) statements
from confidential witnesses indicated that “things were not particularly good at C-BASS
during the first half of 2007.” 1d. at *7. The district court found that none of these alleged
facts or red flags gave rise to a reasonable belief that the defendants made false statements
about the value of the assets. 1d. at *9.

The Ninth Circuit

In In re Medicis Pharm. Corp. Sec. Litig., 2010 WL 3154863 (D. Ariz. Aug. 9,
2010), investors brought an action against defendant corporation (*“Medicis™) and
associated individuals alleging violations of Section 10(b) under the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5. Medicis, a pharmaceutical company selling products to wholesale
distributors, allowed distributors to exchange expiring pharmaceuticals for fresher
products. Though Medicis established a reserve, it did not do so according to the full sales
price for estimated exchanges. Id. at *1. Once this error was identified, Medicis issued a
restatement reflecting a GAAP violation, which resulted in a dramatic drop in the
company’s share price and prompted the plaintiffs’ lawsuit. 1d. at *2. The district court
denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss.

The district court noted that allegations of GAAP violations are normally
insufficient to demonstrate scienter unless they are accompanied by other details showing
that a defendant acted with the requisite state of mind. 1d. at *4 (citing In re Ramp
Networks, Inc. Sec. Litig., 201 F. Supp. 2d 1051, 1074 (N.D. Cal. 2002)). Plaintiffs first
contended that the obviousness of the defendants’ accounting mistake gave rise to an
inference of scienter, prompting the district court to note that both the magnitude of the
error and the complexity of the accounting standard must be weighed. 1d. at *5 (citing
Edward J. Goodman Life Income Trust v. Jabil Circuit, Inc., 594 F.3d 783, 792 (11th Cir.
2010)). Thus, although the alleged violation was not very severe, the district court
determined that the relevant regulation was relatively straightforward, allowing this
allegation to give rise to at least some inference of deliberate misconduct. 1d. at *7.
Plaintiffs also contended that the defendants’ alleged failure to disclose its interpretation of
accounting treatment gave rise to an inference of scienter. 1d. The district court
recognized that, generally, “when a Defendant knowingly adopts a questionable or tenuous
accounting methodology and fails to disclose material facts regarding that methodology to
investors, an inference of scienter may arise.” Id. As such, the district court held that the
omission of facts relating to the accounting methodology in question gave rise to an
inference of purposeful conduct, holding that the plaintiffs’ allegations pleaded a cogent
inference of scienter sufficient to deny defendants” motion to dismiss. 1d. at *11.
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The Eleventh Circuit

In Edward J. Goodman Life Income Trust v. Jabil Circuit, Inc., 594 F.3d 783 (11th
Cir. 2010), the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the plaintiffs’
putative securities fraud class action. The plaintiffs, shareholders of a publicly traded
electronics and technology company, alleged that the defendant company and its directors
and officers violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. Id. at
787. The defendants allegedly issued back-dated stock options and failed to properly
record them as compensation expenses, thereby violating GAAP and overstating earnings.
Id. at 788.

The Eleventh Circuit held that the plaintiffs failed to raise a sufficient inference of
scienter. Id. at 793. The plaintiffs conceded that no individual allegation satisfied the
Tellabs standard, but they contended that their allegations, when aggregated, sufficed. 1d.
at 791 (citing Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324). The Eleventh Circuit held that the plaintiffs did
not plead sufficient facts, even when aggregated, to indicate that any individual defendant
knew about either the company’s accounting irregularity that resulted in the overstatement
of earnings or the company’s violation of a GAAP accounting standard. 1d. at 791-92.

The Eleventh Circuit rejected the plaintiffs’ argument that the restated amounts, which the
plaintiffs detailed as a percentage of net income, were so large (up to 50% in one year) that
they implied fraudulent intent. Id. at 791. However, “[b]ecause net income can vary so
widely period to period,” the Eleventh Circuit found that “using it as a baseline for
comparison provides . . . no real standard on which to judge the significance of the
accounting error.” 1d. at 792. Instead, the Eleventh Circuit stated that the plaintiffs needed
to place the restated amounts in the context of the total corporate business in order to
determine whether any insider should have noticed the accounting error. Id. The Eleventh
Circuit held that the plaintiffs’ allegations did not create an inference of scienter that was at
least as probable as the non-fraudulent explanation that none of the defendants knew of the
accounting errors until the SEC began an investigation. 1d. at 793.

In Meyer v. St. Joe Co., 2011 WL 3750324 (N.D. Fla. Aug. 24, 2011), the district
court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action for
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs,
investors, alleged that the defendants, a timber and paper company and five of its officers,
intentionally deceived investors about the value of the company’s residential real estate
projects following the national real estate market downturn. 1d. at *1. The plaintiffs
alleged that, despite knowledge of a downturn in value of these properties, the defendants
failed to take the appropriate “impairment charges” under GAAP and SEC regulations to
properly reflect the decreased value of the properties and correspondingly reduced
earnings. Id.

The plaintiffs contended that by reporting only minimal impairments, the
defendants violated GAAP and misrepresented that the company’s financial statements
conformed to GAAP. Id. at *7. While recognizing that violations of GAAP may
constitute false or misleading statements of material fact, the district court also stated that
plaintiffs must “detail how the results of an impairment test were reported fraudulently in
the company’s financial disclosures, or how impairment testing should have been
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conducted and how that testing would have necessarily required a recognition of
impairment.” 1d. at *8. The district court concluded that the defendants had not
misrepresented any information that they relied upon in conducting their impairment
analysis. Id. at *10. Rather than concealing or misrepresenting any adverse facts, the
district court explained, the plaintiffs essentially contended that the defendants’ “opinions
based on those facts were wrong.” Id. The district court held these allegations did not
adequately plead that the defendants made false statements of fact. 1d.

In Waterford Twp. Gen. Emps. Ret. Sys. v. BankUnited Fin. Corp., 2010 WL
1332574 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 30, 2010), the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The lead plaintiffs, purchasers of common stock of
BankUnited Financial Corporation (“BankUnited”), alleged that the defendants, three
senior executive officers of BankUnited, and its primary subsidiary, BankUnited FSB,
made numerous false and misleading representations to conceal BankUnited’s unsound
lending practices. Id. at *1-2. Specifically, the plaintiffs alleged that BankUnited relied on
limited or no documentation loans, made an aggressive push to increase the volume of
risky option adjustable rate mortgage loans, failed to adequately reserve for probable loan
losses, and asserted pressure to approve overstated appraisals. Id. at *1. The bank was
eventually closed by the Office of Thrift Supervision and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation was appointed as receiver. Id. at *5.

The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants fraudulently concealed the risks inherent
in BankUnited’s loan portfolio and inadequately provided for probable loan losses in their
accounting practices, which practices violated GAAP. Id. at *17. The district court held
that the plaintiffs failed to adequately plead GAAP violations because they did not plead
the existence of any glaring accounting irregularities, or “red flags,” that suggested the risk
and loan losses were evident to the defendants. Id. at *17-18. Further, the plaintiffs failed
to allege how the defendants were reckless in their SOX certifications because the alleged
misjudgment of risk with respect to the loan portfolio was not “obvious” enough for the
asserted accounting irregularities to support an inference of scienter. 1d. at *18.

Pleading Allegations Based on
Confidential Sources of Information
The Second Circuit

In Glaser v. The9, Ltd., 772 F. Supp. 2d 573 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), shareholders of the
defendant company (“The9”), an entity that operated online video games in China, filed a
class action against The9 and certain associated individuals under Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, alleging that the defendants misrepresented facts relating to the likelihood
of renewal of the company’s most profitable exclusive license. The complaint referred to
gaming company Blizard’s refusal to renew a 2004 contract with The9 that made The9 the
exclusive operator of a popular game in China. Id. at 577. The district court granted the
defendants’ motion to dismiss.
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After finding plaintiffs’ allegations unable to support a strong inference of scienter
based on motive, the district court assessed whether allegations concerning circumstantial
evidence were sufficient. 1d. at 591. In considering plaintiffs’ contentions concerning
confidential witnesses (“CWSs”), the district court determined that these allegations did not
give rise to a strong enough inference of scienter. Id. at 595. The district court found that
statements attributed to three of the four CWs did not reach the requisite level of
specificity, while allegations attributed to former “senior executive” CW4 failed because
neither the scope of CW4’s duties at The9 nor the extent to which CW4 had access to the
individual defendant were adequately pleaded. Id. Thus, the district court granted the
defendants’ motion to dismiss largely because the allegations pleaded in the complaint
with respect to the CWs did not comply with Tellabs. 1d. at 595-99.

In Local No. 38 Int’l Bhd. Of Elec. Workers Pension Fund v. Am. Express Co., 724
F. Supp. 2d 447 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), aff’d, 430 F. App’x 63 (2d Cir. 2011), the lead plaintiff,
a pension fund, brought a putative class action against American Express Company
(“AMEX") and two of its officers alleging that the defendants misled investors about
AMEX’s underwriting guidelines and exposure to delinquent credit cardholder payments
in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Specifically, the plaintiff
alleged that in 2007, when the economy was deteriorating and AMEX was facing losses,
the two officer defendants made a series of oral misrepresentations about AMEX’s
underwriting guidelines, the credit quality of the company’s portfolio, and the company’s
level of loss reserves. 1d. at 453-55. The district court held that the plaintiff failed to plead
facts establishing scienter and dismissed the plaintiff’s claims. 1d. at 464. The Second
Circuit affirmed.

The plaintiff’s fraud allegations stemmed from information supplied by twelve
confidential witnesses, many of whom were low-level, rank-and-file employees or outside
contractors who “had no access to aggregated data regarding [AMEX’s] credit risk.” Id. at
460. The district court noted that those confidential witnesses who were privy to AMEX’s
credit or lending data failed to aver “that such data had been presented to management
around the time of Defendants’ allegedly misleading statements.” Id. at 461. Only one of
the plaintiff’s confidential witnesses “identif[ied] a report demonstrating that the
[(]ndividual [d]efendants were aware of a less restrictive lending policy or specific adverse
credit data contradicting their public statements.” Id. at 460. That confidential witness
prepared reports for AMEX’s senior executives and “asserted that the head of AMEX’s
U.S. Card division reported data compiled by Risk Management to AMEX’s Chief
Financial Officer, and that higher delinquency rates due to small business loans ‘would
have been reported to the Company’s CFO’ in monthly meetings.” Id. at 461. Although
these allegations contained the “most specific information on scienter pled” in the
complaint, the Second Circuit determined that “even these averments fail[ed] to raise a
strong inference that the [i]Jndividual [d]efendants had specific information contradicting
their public statements.” Id.
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The Third Circuit

In Local 731 1.B. Of T. Excavators & Pavers Pension Trust Fund v. Swanson, 2011
WL 2444675 (D. Del. June 14, 2011), the district court denied the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action brought pursuant to Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of
the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiff investors alleged that the defendants, a
leading publisher of print yellow pages directories and provider of online local commercial
search tools, and some of its officers, deliberately misrepresented the financial
performance and continued viability of the company, which artificially inflated the stock
price. 1d. at *1. The lead plaintiff contended that they were harmed when the market
learned the truth about the company, which later entered into bankruptcy protection. Id.

The district court held that the lead plaintiff alleged “‘the who, what, when, where
and how’” supporting the confidential witnesses’” knowledge of the alleged securities
fraud. Id. at *6-7 (quoting Inst’l Investors Grp. v. Avaya, Inc., 564 F.3d 242, 253 (3d Cir.
2009)). The lead plaintiff included information regarding the confidential witnesses’
positions, duties, and time and place of employment. 1d. at *7. Thus, the district court was
able to decipher whether the allegations regarding the defendants’ knowledge about the
true condition of the company’s yellow pages business were based upon ““firsthand
knowledge’” or mere “‘rumor.”” 1d. at *8 (quoting Cal. Pub. Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. Chubb
Corp., 394 F.3d 126, 148 (3d Cir. 2004)).

The Fourth Circuit

In In re Conventry Healthcare, Inc. Sec. Litig., 2011 WL 3880431 (D. Md. Aug.
30, 2011), the defendants moved for reconsideration of a previous holding that two of sixty
alleged misstatements were adequately pled. 1d. at *3. Using information from numerous
confidential witnesses, the plaintiffs brought suit under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act. Id. at *2. The defendants argued that Fourth Circuit precedent in Teachers’
Ret. Sys. of La. v. Hunter, 477 F.3d 162 (4th Cir. 2007), required individualized
assessment of the reliability of confidential witnesses. Id. at *4. The district court
disagreed “that Teachers’ Retirement requires such an individualized assessment of the
reliability of the confidential witnesses, as Teachers’ Retirement allows the Court to assess
the ‘complaint as a whole.”” Id. at *4 (quoting Teachers’ Ret. Sys. of La., 477 F.3d at
174). Evaluating the allegations in concert, the district court found the facts alleged by the
confidential witnesses and their positions within the company sufficient to survive a
motion to dismiss. Id. at *5.

The Seventh Circuit

In Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd. v. Tellabs Inc., 513 F.3d 702 (7th Cir. 2008), on
remand from the Supreme Court, the Seventh Circuit considered whether the plaintiffs’
allegations of fraud under Section 10(b) created a “strong inference” of scienter. The
plaintiffs alleged that Tellabs and its former CEO had made false and misleading
statements regarding its two principal products, the TITAN 5500 and its successor, the
TITAN 6500. The plaintiffs supported their assertions with the statements of twenty-six
“confidential sources.” The defendant asserted that the plaintiffs’ dependence on the
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confidential sources to support the plaintiffs allegations of falsity and scienter was
improper. 1d. at 711.

The Seventh Circuit rejected the contention that a strong inference of scienter had
not been pleaded because key facts came from confidential sources. Significantly, the
Seventh Circuit did not apply the “steep discounts” standard it had applied in
Higginbotham v. Baxter Int’l, Inc., 495 F.3d 753 (7th Cir. 2007). In Baxter, the Seventh
Circuit found that the failure to name sources cited in the complaint “conceals information
that is essential to the sort of comparative evaluation required by Tellabs” because courts
are unable to fully evaluate the reliability of those witnesses. Id. at 757. As a result, the
Baxter court held that allegations from confidential witnesses must be “discounted” in
determining whether a plaintiff has pleaded a strong inference of scienter and that discount
will usually be “steep.” 1d. In this case, the Seventh Circuit concluded that the steep
discount should not be applied because, in contrast to the anonymous allegations in Baxter,
the statements by confidential witnesses in this case were “numerous” and made by
“persons who from the descriptions of their jobs were in a position to know at first hand
the facts to which they are prepared to testify.” Tellabs, 513 F.3d at 712.

In City of Livonia Emps.” Ret. Sys. v. The Boeing Co., 2010 WL 2169491 (N.D.
I1l. May 26, 2010), plaintiffs brought a class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and
20(a) of the Exchange Act on behalf of purchasers of Boeing Company (“Boeing”)
common stock. Id. at *1. The plaintiffs alleged misrepresentations and omissions
regarding negative Federal Aviation Administration test results concerning Boeing’s
Dreamliner Airplane. Id. at *1-4. Boeing moved to dismiss. Id. at *1. Using information
from confidential sources, the plaintiffs pleaded that the defendants knew the negative
results would lead to delays in the Dreamliner’s first flight and delivery to customers. 1d.
at *5. Following the Seventh Circuit’s guidance in Higginbotham v. Baxter Int’l, Inc., 495
F.3d 753 (7th Cir. 2007), the district court found that allegations from confidential sources
must be “discounted (usually steeply),” and that such allegations will only be given weight
if plaintiffs plead “with particularity facts showing how the source was in a position to
know the information and why the source should be credited.” City of Livonia, 2010 WL
2169491 at *5. The district court rejected the plaintiffs’ offer to provide information to the
court in camera out of concern that it would inappropriately create an informers’ privilege
for confidential witnesses. 1d. The district court stated that the defendants had a right to
“learn the information in discovery,” meaning that they had a right to the information used
to state the claims against them. Id. Finding that the plaintiffs pleaded no such
information for the confidential source, the district court granted the defendant’s motion to
dismiss. Id. at *6.

The Ninth Circuit

In In re NVIDIA Corp. Sec. Litig., 2011 WL 4831192 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 12, 2011),
investors brought a class action for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange
Act alleging misstatements about product defects in the company’s semiconductor
microchip packaging. 1d. at *1. The district court previously dismissed the plaintiffs’
complaint with leave to amend, and upon the plaintiffs’ filing of a second amended
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complaint, the defendants moved to dismiss. 1d. The amended complaint included
allegations from seventeen different confidential witnesses. 1d. at *6. The district court
observed that the Ninth Circuit had set out a two part test to determine whether allegations
from confidential witnesses (“CWs”) meet the pleading requirements of the PSLRA:
“First, a CW must be described with sufficient particularity to establish his or her
reliability and personal knowledge. Second, the statements supplied by CWs ‘with
sufficient reliability and personal knowledge must themselves be indicative of scienter.’”
1d. (quoting Zucco Partners, LLC v. Digimarc Corp., 552 F.3d 981, 992 (9th Cir. 2009)).
The district court found all but one of the CWs to be deficient because those witnesses had
not worked on the allegedly defective chip and the plaintiffs failed to allege any contact
between those witnesses and senior management. Id. One CW was allegedly involved in
the testing of the relevant product components, but the district court deemed even those
allegations insufficient as they “merely reiterate[d] that NVIDIA knew of a problem by
early 2007 and did not “provide details about specific communications or statements
made by NVIDIA.” Id. at *7. Without specific statements, the witness could not have
known what conclusions the company made about the reported problems. Id. Finding that
the plaintiffs failed to adequately plead scienter through statements by CWs or in any other
way, the district court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss without leave to amend.
Id. at *11.

In Szymborski v. Ormat Techs., Inc., 776 F. Supp. 2d 1191 (D. Nev. 2011),
plaintiffs brought a claim for violations of Rule 10b-5 based on two incidents when the
defendants allegedly misled stockholders: first in connection with a February 24, 2010
disclosure regarding a restatement of 2008 financial statements and second regarding a
delay in completion and capacity of a power plant. In connection with its claims regarding
the power plant, the plaintiffs relied on the testimony of a confidential witness to plead
scienter. Id. at 1196.

The district court first cited the heightened standard that confidential witness
testimony must meet to satisfy the requirements of the PSLRA: (1) the confidential
witness “*must be described with sufficient particularity to establish [his] reliability and
personal knowledge’”; (2) the statements must be indicative of scienter. Id. at 1200
(quoting Zucco Partners, 552 F.3d at 995). The district court noted the following facts in
eventually dismissing the power plant claims for failure to sufficiently allege scienter: (1)
the confidential witness was employed not by the company, but by a contractor; (2) the
confidential witness left the company while the power plant project was still being
completed; (3) the confidential witness was not personally familiar with drilling or testing
wells central to the plaintiff’s power plant claim, but rather only knew about them as a
contractor performing unrelated electrical work; and (4) the confidential witness did not
have any direct contact with Defendant’s management or any individual defendant. Id. at
1200-01. As no evidence was provided to show that the defendants intentionally lied about
the construction of the power plant, the district court held that the confidential witness
failed to meet either prong of reliability under Zucco Partners and dismissed the power
plant claims. Id. at 1202.
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The Tenth Circuit

In Mishkin v. Zynex Inc., 2011 WL 1158715 (D. Colo. Mar. 30, 2011), the
plaintiffs, investors in Zynex, Inc. (“Zynex”), brought a class action complaint against
Zynex, a manufacturer of medical devices, alleging that it participated in a scheme to over-
bill insurance companies for its products. Id. at *2. According to the plaintiffs, Zynex
reported its revenue based on the amount it billed rather than the amount collected, thereby
artificially inflating its revenue. 1d. When it announced a restatement to reflect a decrease
in revenue, the price of its shares declined by over 50 percent. 1d. The defendants moved
to dismiss, arguing that the plaintiffs’ reliance on confidential witnesses (“CWs”)
undermined its allegation of facts in support of a strong inference of scienter because (1)
none of the CWs were involved in Zynex’s accounting and therefore had no personal
knowledge of facts relating to the defendants’ purported scienter; and (2) “allegations
based on statements by confidential witnesses are subject to a steep discount when
evaluating the sufficiency of a complaint.” 1d. at *6.

The district court stated that the “pitch of the discount accorded to confidential
witnesses varies with the specificity and consistency of the allegations in the complaint.”
1d. (citing Adams v. Kinder Morgan, Inc., 340 F.3d 1083, 1102 (10th Cir. 2003)).
Concluding that the CWs’ statements—which showed personal knowledge of facts relating
to the alleged fraud during the relevant period—were sufficiently specific to support an
inference of scienter and entitled to significant weight, the district court denied the motion
to dismiss. Id. at *6-7.

The Eleventh Circuit

In City of Pontiac Gen. Emp. Ret. Sys. v. Schweitzer-Mauduit Int’l, Inc., 806 F.
Supp. 2d 1267 (N.D. Ga. 2011), the district court granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action, which alleged violations under Sections 10(b)
and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs were shareholders in
Schweitzer-Maduit International, Inc. (“Schweitzer”), which supplied tobacco products to
tobacco companies internationally. Id. at 1270. The plaintiffs alleged that the company
and two of its directors and officers engaged in a fraudulent scheme to artificially inflate
the company’s stock price by misleading the market about: (1) Schweitzer’s relationship
with one of its largest customers; (2) the strength of Schweitzer’s intellectual property
protections; and (3) pressures Schweitzer faced from European competitors. 1d.

The district court held that an inference of scienter was not warranted where a
confidential witness, a former lab tester employed by Schweitzer, alleged in relevant part
that “there was talk” among employees that the company’s contract with a major client was
coming to an end before it was publicly revealed by the company. Id. at 1296. The district
court noted that reliance on a confidential witness is permissible only if the plaintiffs
unambiguously provided in a “‘cognizable and detailed way the basis of the
whistleblower’s knowledge.”” Id. at 1296-97 (quoting Mizzaro v. Home Depot, Inc., 544
F.3d 1230, 1239 (11th Cir. 2008)). Since the plaintiffs provided no basis for the lab
tester’s specialized knowledge of the company’s contract, the district court concluded that
the statements were mere “speculation or hearsay” and did not support an inference of
scienter. 1d. at 1297.
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In In re HomeBanc Corp. Sec. Litig., 706 F. Supp. 2d 1336 (N.D. Ga. 2010), the
district court granted the defendants” motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ putative class action
for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The
plaintiffs, investors in HomeBanc Corporation (“HomeBanc”), a real estate investment
trust in the business of investing in and originating residential mortgage loans, alleged that
the defendant officers of HomeBanc omitted facts and made numerous false and
misleading statements regarding HomeBanc’s lending practices that artificially inflated its
stock value and damaged the plaintiffs when HomeBanc ultimately filed for bankruptcy.
Id. at 1341-42.

The plaintiffs pleaded scienter by reference to twelve confidential witnesses who
were former employees of HomeBanc. Id. at 1349. The district court held that the
plaintiffs provided an adequate foundation for the court to consider the confidential
witness statements because the complaint identified the positions held by each witness, the
time periods in which they were employed, and the basis for their knowledge. Id.
However, the district court found these statements “severely diluted” in relation to scienter
because the plaintiffs did not plead facts establishing that the defendants supported or
endorsed the confidential witnesses’ assessments of HomeBanc. 1d. at 1350. Thus, the
district court held that the statements were no more than the “opinions and accusations” of
former employees who disagreed with management’s decisions. Id.
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3 Materiality,
— Safe Harbor,
and Loss
Causation

Pleading Materiality

To state a viable claim under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, a plaintiff must
plead a material misstatement or omission. See Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano,
131 S. Ct. 1309 (2011). The materiality requirement is satisfied when there is “a
substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the [truth] would have been viewed by the
reasonable investor as having significantly altered the “total mix’ of information made
available.” Id. at 1318 (quoting TSC Indus., Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449
(1976)). This standard, evaluated by reference to the theoretical “reasonable investor,” is
objective in nature. TSC Indus., 426 U.S. at 445.

Although litigants often contest materiality by emphasizing the magnitude of the
market’s reaction to alleged corrective disclosures, courts have repeatedly rejected such an
approach in favor of a multi-faceted, “fact-specific” inquiry incorporating both qualitative
and guantitative factors. See, e.g., Matrixx, 131 S. Ct. at 1321; Litwin v. Blackstone Grp.,
L.P., 634 F.3d 706, 717 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 132 S. Ct. 242 (2011). Considerations of
continuing relevance to the materiality analysis include: (1) the tone and specificity of the
challenged statements, e.g., FindWhat Investor Grp. v. FindWhat.com, 658 F.3d 1282,
1306 (11th Cir. 2011); City of Monroe Emps. Ret. Sys. v. Bridgestone Corp., 399 F.3d
651, 671 (6th Cir. 2005); (2) the relative importance to the defendant’s business of the
activity underlying the challenged statements, e.g., Blackstone, 634 F.3d at 722; (3) other
publicly-available sources of information on the topic at issue, e.g., Plumbers & Pipefitters

Local Union No. 630 Pension-Annuity Trust Fund v. Arbitron Inc., 741 F. Supp. 2d 474,
485 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); In re Merck & Co. Sec., Deriv. & “ERISA” Litig., 2011 WL
3444199, at *17 (D.N.J. Aug. 8, 2011); (4) the scope of any prior public statements on the
topic at issue, e.g., In re Sanofi-Aventis Sec. Litig., 774 F. Supp. 2d 549, 568-69 (S.D.N.Y.
2011); and (5) in omissions cases, whether the defendant had a duty to disclose the omitted
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information in the first place, e.g., Hill v. Gozani, 651 F.3d 151, 152 (1st Cir. 2011); In re
Cutera Sec. Litig., 610 F.3d 1103, 1109 (9th Cir. 2010).

The Supreme Court

In Matrixx, the Supreme Court affirmed the Ninth Circuit’s affirmance of the
district court’s denial of the defendants” motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ securities fraud
class action brought pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. 131 S.
Ct. at 1314. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants, a pharmaceutical company and
three of its executives, made material omissions by commenting on revenues and product
safety while failing to disclose reports of adverse events that the company’s product,
Zicam, possibly caused loss of smell. Id. at 1313-14. The defendants moved to dismiss
for failure to adequately plead materiality and scienter. Id. at 1313.

The Supreme Court disagreed with the district court’s holding that the alleged
omissions were not material because they did not relate to a statistically significant number
of adverse events. Id. at 1317. Instead, the Supreme Court held that materiality “cannot be
reduced to a bright-line rule.” 1d. at 1314. Following Basic, the Court held that “assessing
the materiality of adverse event reports is a “fact specific’ inquiry,” and the “question
remains whether a reasonable investor would have viewed the nondisclosed information
‘as having significantly altered the total mix of information made available.”” 1d. at 1321
(quoting Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 232, 236 (1988)) (emphasis added). The
Supreme Court explained that medical professionals and the Federal Drug Administration
concluded that Zicam products may pose a serious risk to consumers “on the basis of
evidence of causation that is not statistically significant,” and thus, “it stands to reason that
in certain cases reasonable investors would as well.” 1d. at 1320-21. Affirming the
holding in Basic, the Supreme Court held that under the “total mix” standard, the plaintiffs
adequately pleaded materiality despite their failure to cite a statistically significant number
of adverse events requiring disclosure. 1d. at 1322.

The First Circuit

In Hill v. Gozani, 651 F.3d 151 (1st Cir. 2011), plaintiff shareholders petitioned the
First Circuit for rehearing en banc after it dismissed the plaintiffs’ putative class action.
The plaintiffs brought suit against a medical device manufacturer and three of its officers
alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.

The plaintiffs claimed that the First Circuit’s decision in their case was inconsistent
with Matrixx. In Matrixx, the Supreme Court held that the materiality inquiry is a fact-
specific one and rejected the defendant’s proposed bright-line rule that, in the
pharmaceutical context, only statistically significant adverse events were material. 131 S.
Ct. at 1322. Notably, the Supreme Court stated in Matrixx that Rule 10b-5 does not create
a duty to disclose all material information and “[e]ven with respect to information that a
reasonable investor might consider material, companies can control what they have to
disclose under these provisions by controlling what they say to the market.” Id. at 1321-
22. The First Circuit held that the dismissal of the plaintiffs’ claims was not inconsistent
with the Supreme Court’s decision in Matrixx because: (1) Matrixx focused on the
question of when undisclosed facts were material; (2) the actual statements made by the
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companies in each case differed in ways that affected the duty to disclose; and (3) there
was no similarity between the facts omitted by the companies. Hill, 651 F.3d at 152-53.
The First Circuit ruled that when the company revealed potential risks with respect to
reimbursement, it was not required to disclose internal disagreement regarding practices.
The First Circuit denied the petition for rehearing. 1d. at 153.

The Second Circuit

In Litwin v. Blackstone Grp., L.P., 634 F.3d 706 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 132 S. Ct.
242 (2011), the Second Circuit vacated and remanded the district court’s dismissal of
claims brought pursuant to Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act.”® The
plaintiffs alleged that the defendants, Blackstone Group, L.P. (“Blackstone”) and its
executives, omitted material information and made misstatements in Blackstone’s initial
public offering registration statement and prospectus. Id. at 708. According to the
plaintiffs, Item 303 of SEC Regulation S-K required Blackstone to disclose the ““trends or
uncertainties’” in the real estate market of which it was aware that would materially affect
the revenues of two of its portfolio companies, FGIC Corporation (“FGIC”) and Freescale
Semiconductor, Inc. (“Freescale™), as well as its Real Estate investment segment, which
were experiencing problems that would materially affect future revenues. Id. at 710, 716.

The Second Circuit held that following SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99, both
qualitative and quantitative factors must be considered in assessing an item’s materiality.
Id. at 717; see also 64 Fed. Reg. 45, 151 (Aug. 19, 1999). Blackstone allegedly failed to
disclose that (1) FGIC, a monoline financial guarantor in which Blackstone had a 23%
equity interest, was exposed to billions of dollars in non-prime mortgages, and (2)
Freescale, a company in which Blackstone’s Corporate Private Equity segment made its
single largest investment, lost an exclusive manufacturing agreement with its largest
customer. Blackstone, 634 F.3d at 710-11. Although Blackstone’s investments in FGIC
and Freescale fell below the presumptive 5% threshold of materiality, the Second Circuit
held that Blackstone’s failure to disclose these facts was nonetheless qualitatively material
because “a reasonable investor would almost certainly want to know” information related
to a “particularly important segment” that Blackstone reasonably expected to have a
material adverse effect on its future revenues. Id. at 720. Because these events suggested
a change in earnings or other trends, the Second Circuit held that Blackstone could not
mask these negative events in its segments by aggregating “negative and positive effects”
on its performance fees, or by focusing solely on its firm-wide financial results. Id. at 719-
20.

Regarding Blackstone’s Real Estate segment, which constituted 22.6% of its total
assets, Blackstone allegedly failed to disclose the details of its real estate investments and
that the deteriorating residential real estate markets could result in the claw back of its
performance fees, while misrepresenting the problems in the housing market. Id. at 712.
The Second Circuit held that the alleged misstatements and omissions were qualitatively
material because they masked the potential change in earnings or trends in violation of

" Although the Blackstone plaintiffs did not assert 10b-5 claims, Blackstone’s discussion of materiality
could nonetheless impact future 10b-5 cases in the Second Circuit.
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Item 303. Id. at 722. The Second Circuit explained that Blackstone’s residential real
estate holdings might constitute as much as 15% of its Real Estate segment, and that a
collapse in the residential real estate market would plausibly also impact Blackstone’s
more substantial commercial real estate investments. Id. at 721. The Second Circuit
reasoned that “[a] reasonable Blackstone investor may well have wanted to know of any
potentially adverse trends concerning a segment that constituted nearly a quarter of
Blackstone’s total assets under management.” Id. at 722. Thus, the Second Circuit
vacated the district court’s dismissal for failure to plead materiality and remanded. 1d. at
723.

In In re Sanofi-Aventis Sec. Litig., 774 F. Supp. 2d 549 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), the
district court granted in part and denied in part the defendants’ motion to dismiss the
plaintiffs’ claims for violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule
10b-5. The plaintiff investors alleged that the defendants, Sanofi-Aventis SA (“Sanofi”), a
pharmaceutical company, and seven of its executives, made materially misleading
statements regarding the commercial viability of rimonabant, an obesity drug. Id. at 556.
The United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) directed the defendants to
assess the link between rimonabant and suicidality, and the information obtained
eventually led to the FDA Advisory Committee’s recommendation that the FDA deny
Sanofi’s New Drug Application, which Sanofi withdrew before it was denied. Id. at 558-
59.

The district court held that the plaintiffs adequately alleged two materially
misleading statements. During a conference call with investors, an individual defendant
made statements concerning an FDA letter that directed Sanofi to obtain a formal,
independent assessment of the link between rimonabant and suicidality. 1d. at 558, 564.
The defendant stated that the letter requested “no additional trial in obesity.” Id. at 564.
The district court held that this statement was materially misleading because it could have
led an investor to believe that the FDA had made no requests with respect to rimonabant as
an obesity drug and that “the FDA approval process was on track without any major
concerns.” 1d. at 564-65.

In addition, after the defendants complied with the request in the FDA’s letter and
obtained an independent suicidality assessment, one of the defendants made statements
during a conference call with investors that the FDA’s letter “did not ask for new
additional clinical trials” and that Sanofi did not submit new data. 1d. at 568. However,
the plaintiffs alleged facts showing that the defendants had submitted additional new data
at the FDA’s request—the results of the independent suicidality assessment—and that the
assessment showed a statistically significant link between rimonabant and suicidality. 1d.
The district court held that after choosing to comment on Sanofi’s additional data
submissions, the defendants could not provide a truthful and complete response without
conveying to the public that additional material data had been requested and submitted. Id.
at 568-69.

In Plumbers & Pipefitters Local Union No. 630 Pension-Annuity Trust Fund v.
Arbitron Inc., 741 F. Supp. 2d 474 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), the lead plaintiff asserted securities
fraud allegations against Arbitron, Inc. (“Arbitron”), a firm engaged in audience
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measurement services for radio stations, as well as Arbitron’s CEO and CFO (collectively,
the “defendants™). The complaint alleged that between July 19, 2007 and November 26,
2007, the defendants made false and materially misleading statements or omissions about
Arbitron’s planned rollout of its Portable People Meter (“PPM?”), an electronic device that
identifies the radio broadcasts one is listening to, in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. 1d. at 477. The defendants moved to dismiss the
complaint for failure to state a securities fraud claim. Id. at 492.

The district court held, inter alia, that the plaintiffs had adequately pleaded
materiality for purposes of Section 10(b). 1d. at 484. The plaintiffs argued, among other
things, that the defendants made false and misleading statements during the class period
about Arbitron’s ability to gather information during its PPM testing phase from minority
demographics. Id. at 483. The plaintiffs pleaded that “the PPM allegedly had trouble
measuring minority audiences due to small sample sizes,” and that this sampling problem
led “to substantial criticism in mid-2007” by the leading accrediting agency for audience
measurement research, the New York City Council and the National Association of Black
Owned Broadcasters (“NABOB”). 1d. at 484. The district court noted that Arbitron
reported publicly during this period that it was satisfied with the minority data provided by
the PPM, sometimes “explicitly stating that the PPM was performing well in the area of
minority measurement.” Id. Such positive statements, the district court noted, “flew in the
face of the alleged inadequacies of the PPM in measuring minority audiences . . ..” Id.

The district court concluded that “[a] reasonable investor could reasonably take
Arbitron’s statements to be assurances that there was nothing to NABOB’s public criticism
of the PPM, and that Arbitron found that there were no significant problems with the
PPM’s performance among minority demographics.” Id. at 484-85. Applying the Second
Circuit’s standard for materiality, the district court ruled defendants’ misstatements
actionable because “*there [wa]s a substantial likelihood that a reasonable person would
consider [the assurances] important in deciding whether to buy or sell shares of stock.’”
1d. at 485 (citing Operating Local 649 Annuity Trust Fund v. Smith Barney Fund Mgmt.
LLC, 595 F.3d 86, 92-93 (2d Cir. 2010)). The district court rejected the defendants’
argument that “the total mix of information available to the reasonable investor included
NABOB'’s [public] criticisms.” Id. The district court found “[t]his type of ‘truth-on-the-
market’ defense” to be “intensely fact-specific” and “rarely an appropriate basis for
dismissing a Section10(b) complaint for failure to plead materiality.” 1d. at 485-86 (citing
Ganino v. Citizens Utils. Co., 228 F.3d 154, 167 (2d Cir. 2000)).

In Defer LP v. Raymond James Fin., Inc., 2010 WL 3452387 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 2,
2010), the plaintiffs, investors in auction rate securities (“ARS”), sued a financial services
firm and its two wholly owned subsidiaries, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants “engaged
in a scheme to defraud ARS purchasers by knowingly misrepresenting the securities as
highly liquid investments.” 1d. at *1.

More specifically, one named plaintiff (“Rubin”) alleged that, some time prior to
April 2003, she had been encouraged to invest in ARS as “‘safe, short-term investments
by her financial advisor at Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. (“RJFS”). The other
named plaintiff (“Gold”) similarly alleged that a financial advisor from Raymond James &
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Associates (“RJA”) recommended ARS to him in January 2008 as “a safe and liquid
investment.” Id. at *3. The plaintiffs contended that the financial advisors made these
representations “when, in fact, the ARSs’ liquidity was a facade and wholly dependent on
auction dealer intervention in the market.” Id. at *2. The defendants moved to dismiss the
complaint for failure to state a claim. The district court dismissed certain claims but
allowed the claims against RJA for misrepresentations made between November 2007 and
February 2008 to proceed. See id. at *13.

After determining that scienter had been adequately pleaded only as to RJA from
November 2007 to February 2008, the district court considered whether RJA’s allegedly
false and misleading statements to Gold in January 2008 were actionable. The district
court determined that RJA had a duty to disclose “that the ARS—supposedly liquid
investments—were liquid only because auction brokers routinely intervened in the
auctions to ensure their success,” because “it would have been important to a reasonable
investor, in deciding whether to buy or sell ARS.” 1d. at *10. The district court further
found that a disclosure on RJA’s website informing investors that ARS were subject to
failed auction risk could not be considered “adequate cautionary language” rendering
alleged misrepresentations immaterial because the website did not disclose the specific risk
at the core of the plaintiffs complaint, i.e., that the ARS were only liquid because of
extensive broker intervention. Id. at *11 (quoting Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 164, 173
(2d Cir. 2004)).

The Third Circuit

In In re Merck & Co. Sec. Litig., 432 F.3d 261 (3d Cir. 2005), the plaintiffs brought
claims against Merck & Co. (“Merck”) for statements made surrounding the revenue
accounting practices of Merck’s wholly owned subsidiary Medco Health Solutions, Inc.
(“Medco”) in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Section 11 of the
Securities Act. The district court granted Merck’s motion to dismiss on materiality
grounds.

The Third Circuit affirmed and dismissed the plaintiffs’ claims for failure to
sufficiently plead materiality. Noting that it had “one of the ‘clearest commitments’ to the
efficient market hypothesis,” the Third Circuit stated that, in determining whether a
misstatement is material, it looks to the movement in the price of the company’s stock “in
the period immediately following disclosure.” 1d. at 268-69 (emphasis added). The Third
Circuit noted that when Merck initially disclosed that Medco was improperly accounting
for revenue there was no drop in Merck’s stock price. Merck’s alleged misrepresentations
were thus immaterial as a matter of law. Id. at 269. Plaintiffs responded, however, that
Merck’s initial disclosure, which failed to quantify the impact of improper accounting on
company revenue, was not the appropriate time to measure materiality. 1d. According to
the plaintiffs, the appropriate time to measure materiality was two months later when an
article in The Wall Street Journal quantified the amount of revenue misstated. Id. at 269-
70. The Third Circuit disagreed, holding that, even though the initial disclosure did not
quantify the amount, Merck provided all of the necessary data to determine the actual
amount; and the mathematical proficiency required to calculate the revenue figure was
minimal. Id. at 270-71. Further, the Third Circuit found that the market was not “in the
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dark” on the actual figures, even if Merck did not disclose the actual figure, especially
considering the numerous financial analysts covering Merck. 1d. at 271. Thus, the Third
Circuit dismissed the plaintiffs’ Section 10(b) claim, holding that the plaintiffs failed to
show that the alleged misstatements were material because they failed to demonstrate a
decrease in Merck’s stock price after the initial disclosure of improper accounting
recognition. 1d. at 276.

In Steamfitters Local 449 Pension Fund v. Alter, 2011 WL 4528385 (E.D. Pa. Sept.
30, 2011), the lead plaintiff brought a securities fraud class action for violations of
Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 on behalf of all persons and
entities that purchased publicly traded securities of Advanta Corp. (“Advanta”), an issuer
of credit cards to small businesses. The plaintiff alleged that it purchased shares after the
defendants artificially inflated Advanta’s stock price by making material misstatements
about the credit quality of Advanta’s customers, its delinquency and charge-off rates, and a
re-pricing scheme to raise interest rates and minimum payments. Id. at *1-3. The
defendants included Advanta’s officers (“management defendants”) and d